# **Distribution Agreement**

In presenting this thesis or dissertation as a partial fulfillment of the requirements for an advanced degree from Emory University, I hereby grant to Emory University and its agents the non-exclusive license to archive, make accessible, and display my thesis or dissertation in whole or in part in all forms of media, now or hereafter known, including display on the world wide web. I understand that I may select some access restrictions as part of the online submission of this thesis or dissertation. I retain all ownership rights to the copyright of the thesis or dissertation. I also retain the right to use in future works (such as articles or books) all or part of this thesis or dissertation.

Signature:

Tuoqi Wu

Date

# Regulation of T cell responses by microRNAs

By

Tuoqi Wu

Doctor of Philosophy

Graduate Division of Biological and Biomedical Sciences

Biochemistry, Cell, and Developmental Biology

Rafi Ahmed

Advisor

Jeremy Boss

Committee Member

Xiaodong Cheng

Committee Member

Haian Fu

Committee Member

Carlos Moreno

Committee Member

Accepted:

Lisa A. Tedesco, Ph.D.

Dean of the James T. Laney School of Graduate Studies

Date

# **Regulation of T cell responses by microRNAs**

By

Tuoqi Wu

B.S., Peking University, 2007

Advisor: Rafi Ahmed, Ph.D.

An abstract of

a dissertation submitted to the Faculty of the

James T. Laney School of Graduate Studies of Emory University

in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Graduate Division of Biological and Biomedical Sciences

Biochemistry, Cell, and Developmental Biology

2013

#### Abstract

#### **Regulation of T cell responses by microRNAs**

By

Tuoqi Wu

Understanding the mechanisms underlying the generation of effector functions and immune memory by T cells is essential to the development of more effective vaccination strategies. Various molecular pathways involved in effector and memory T cell development have been elucidated over the last few decades. However, how translational regulation mechanisms are involved in this process is less clear. MicroRNAs play a major role in translational regulation. My dissertation research focuses on how microRNAs govern the differentiation of T cells during the immune response to viral infection. In the first study, I demonstrate that the miR-17-92 cluster is highly expressed in proliferating effector CD8 T cells. miR-17-92 enhances mTOR signaling and promotes CD8 T cell clonal expansion through enhancing proliferation. However, excessive levels of miR-17-92 drive effector CD8 T cells into terminal differentiation and result in compromised memory CD8 T cell development. In my second study, I investigate how miR-17-92 regulates the antiviral immune response mediated by CD4 T cells. Similar to what is seen in CD8 T cells, miR-17-92 is necessary for the clonal expansion of CD4 T cells after viral infection. The generation of IFN-y-producing CD4 T cells is especially sensitive to the level of miR-17-92 expression. In addition, miR-17-92 over-expression preferentially expands the Th1 response, which indicates that different subsets of effector CD4 T cells are differentially regulated by miR-17-92. Interestingly, virus-specific CD4 T cells that over-express miR-17-92 are not terminally differentiated and can generate a normal memory compartment. Thus, these studies provide insight into how microRNAs are involved in the differentiation of virus-specific T cells and highlight the importance of translational regulation in the immune response to viral infection.

# Regulation of T cell responses by microRNAs

By

Tuoqi Wu

B.S., Peking University, 2007

Advisor: Rafi Ahmed, Ph.D.

A dissertation submitted to the Faculty of the James T. Laney School of Graduate Studies of Emory University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy Graduate Division of Biological and Biomedical Sciences Biochemistry, Cell, and Developmental Biology

2013

## Acknowledgments

I owe my sincere gratitude to my family, professors, and colleagues, without whom this work would not be possible.

First, I would like to express my deepest gratitude to my advisor, Dr. Rafi Ahmed, for his extraordinary mentorship. It has been a truly exciting experience to work in his lab. As a young scientist, I benefit enormously from his guidance and enjoy the freedom provided by him to pursue my true passion.

I would like to thank my committee members (Dr. Jeremy Boss, Dr. Xiaodong Cheng, Dr. Carlos Moreno, and Dr. Haian Fu) for their insightful input to my dissertation research.

I am greatly indebt to all my colleagues both inside and outside the lab, especially Dr. Lilin Ye, Dr. Koichi Araki, Dr. Daniel Choo, Dr. Andreas Wieland, and Dr. Scott Hale for the scientific discussions and their generous help, which are vital to my projects.

I am very fortunate to have my parents' constant support for my study abroad.

# **Table of Contents**

Chapter 1: Introduction
Part I: Immunity and the immune system1
Part II: CD8 T cell responses during viral infection1
Part III: Follicular helper T cells
Part IV: microRNA
Part V: Significance
Chapter 2: Temporal expression of microRNA cluster miR-17-92 regulates effector and
memory CD8 <sup>+</sup> T-cell differentiation
Abstract
Introduction
Results
Discussion
Materials and Methods54
Acknowledgements
Supporting Information54
Chapter 3: miR-17-92 regulates CD4 T cell differentiation during antiviral immune
responses79
Abstract
Introduction
Materials and methods
Results
Discussion
Chapter 4: Conclusion and Future Directions
BIBLIOGRAPHY

# List of Figures

Figure 1- 1. CD8 T cell differentiation during viral infection	.7
Figure 1-2. CD4 T cell differentiation during viral infection2	25
Figure 1- 3. The miR-17-92 pathway	36
Figure 2- 1. miRNAs in the miR-17-92 cluster and its paralogs are up-regulated in the proliferating effector CD8 <sup>+</sup> T cells	59
Figure 2- 2. miR-17-92 deficiency reduces effector CD8 <sup>+</sup> T-cell response by inhibiting proliferation	50
Figure 2- 3. Overexpression of miR-17-92 promotes cell-cycle progression of effector CD8 <sup>+</sup> T cells	51
Figure 2- 4. Overexpressing miR-17-92 compromises the differentiation of memory precursor effector CD8 <sup>+</sup> T cells	53
Figure 2- 5. miR-17-92 enhances mTOR signaling by suppressing multiple negative regulators up-stream of mTOR	55
Figure 2- 6. Overexpression of miR-17-92 impairs the development of LCMV-specific memory CD8 <sup>+</sup> T cells	56
Figure 2-S 1. Dicer deficiency impairs effector CD8 <sup>+</sup> T-cell response	57
Figure 2-S 2. miRNAs up-regulated in day 5 effectors relative to naïve P14 CD8 <sup>+</sup> T cells	3. 59
Figure 2-S 3. Characterization of the LCMV-specific CD8 <sup>+</sup> T-cell response in <i>miR-17-</i> 92 <sup>-/-</sup> mice	12
Figure 2-S 4. Overexpression of miR-17-92 increases the accumulation of effector CD8 <sup>+</sup> T cells	⊦ 13
Figure 2-S 5. Changes in phenotypic markers on day 8 p.i. induced by miR-17-92 overexpression	15
Figure 2-S 6. Changes in phenotypic markers on day 66 p.i. induced by miR-17-92 overexpression	77
Figure 3- 1. miR-17-92 deficiency compromises CD4 T cell immune response	97
Figure 3- 2. Defective B cell response in miR-17-92-/- mice	)8

Figure 3-3. Effector CD4 T cell differentiation is altered by miR-17-92 deficiency 99
Figure 3- 4. Less memory CD4 T cells are generated in <i>miR-17-92-/-</i> mice after infection.
Figure 3- 5. Differentiation of memory CD4 T cell subsets in miR-17-92-/- mice 102
Figure 3- 6. miR-17-92 over-expression enhances CD4 T cell response to viral infection.
Figure 3-7. miR-17-92 favors the generation of Th1 effector cells 104
Figure 3- 8. miR-17-92 over-expression does not compromise memory CD4 T cell formation
Figure 3-9. miR-17-92 influences memory CD4 T cell differentiation 107
Figure 3- 10. miR-17-92 enhances mTOR signaling 108

# **Chapter 1: Introduction**

# Part I: Immunity and the immune system

Immunity is the capacity of an organism to defend against diseases caused by infection, or other harmful biological invasions. There are two types of immunity: innate immunity and adaptive immunity. Innate immunity is present in most organisms. It acts as a first line of defense and immediately responds to infection. This type of immunity is acquired during development and can protect the host against a broad range of pathogens in a nonspecific manner. However, an innate immune response does not result in long-lasting protection to the host. Adaptive immunity, which is unique to vertebrates, is acquired during the lifetime of an organism. The adaptive immune response is specific to a particular pathogen and often results in the protective immunity against re-encounters with the same pathogen, which is known as immune memory. Lymphocytes make up the backbone of the adaptive immune system. B lymphocytes (B cells) and T lymphocytes (T cells) are two main sub-populations of lymphocytes, each with unique functions. Although they have evolved differently, the innate and adaptive immune systems have extensive crosstalk during the immune response.

# Part II: CD8 T cell responses during viral infection

Lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus (LCMV) infection as a model system to study the T cell antiviral immune response

LCMV is a rodent borne virus and a member of the Arenaviridae family and was first isolated by Charles Armstrong in 1933. The genome of LCMV is composed of two single-stranded RNAs. The L strand is an ambisense RNA encoding the polymerase and the zinc binding protein (1). The S strand is also an ambisense RNA encoding the nucleocapsid protein (NP) and the glycoprotein GP-C (2, 3). GP-C is cleaved to produce GP-1 and GP-2, which form spikes that mediate the interaction between the virion and its cellular receptor  $\alpha$ -dystroglycan (3, 4). The house mice, *Mus musculus*, are natural hosts of LCMV. Infected mice can transmit virus through urine, nasal secretion, milk, or bites (5). Infected females can vertically transmit the virus to their offspring, which will become carriers of the virus (6). The immune response to LCMV varies depending on the LCMV strain and the route of infection. Peritoneal inoculation of adult mice with the LCMV Armstrong strain induces a vigorous CD8 T cell response, which results in the clearance of the virus within one week. In contrast, intravenous inoculation of the LCMV clone 13 strain induces a suppressed CD8 T cell response and leads to protracted viremia (7, 8). The LCMV clone 13 differs from LCMV Armstrong by three amino-acid mutations: K1076Q in the polymerase, and F260L and N176D in GP-1 (9). None of the mutations cause a change in T cell epitopes (10). However, F260L enhances the binding affinity of the virion to  $\alpha$ -dystroglycan, which is preferentially expressed by dendritic cells (DCs), and thus leads to viral persistence by altering DC function (9). The different immune responses induced by the two strains of LCMV allow for the study of memory T cell development during acute infections and T cell exhaustion during chronic infections.

#### CD8 T cells are essential to immunity against viral infection

Viruses and intracellular bacteria can replicate inside host cells. Although antibodies can effectively eliminate pathogens outside the cells and/or block their entry, they are no longer effective after these pathogens gain access to the host cells. An alternative way to control these pathogens is to destroy infected cells and stop the intracellular pathogens from propagating. This task is carried out by cytotoxic lymphocytes, the majority of which are CD8 T cells, also referred to as cytotoxic T lymphocytes (CTLs). CD8 T cells express the co-receptor glycoprotein CD8 and T cell receptors (TCRs) that recognize their cognate peptide epitopes bound to major histocompatibility complex class I molecules (MHC-I). CD8 T cell responses to acute viral infections can be divided into four phases. In the initial phase, naïve CD8 T cells are primed by antigen-presenting cells (APCs), which present their cognate antigens in peripheral lymphoid organs. Activated CD8 T cells acquire effector functions and start to proliferate extensively, a process known as clonal expansion. During clonal expansion, effector CD8 T cells undergo more than 15 consecutive cell divisions and expand from several thousand antigen-specific naïve T cells into millions of effector cells (11, 12). Effector CD8 T cells migrate to infected tissues and control the infection by directly killing infected cells and secreting cytokines. After the infection is cleared, the contraction phase begins. The majority of effector CD8 T cells undergo apoptosis during this phase, which lasts several weeks (13). During this period, a subset of effectors destined to survive the contraction phase starts to differentiate into memory CD8 T cells. Memory CD8 T cells can survive for years after infection during memory maintenance phase, when they slowly and continuously divide

to renew the memory pool. Upon re-infection by the same virus, memory CD8 T cells mount a recall response that is faster and stronger than the primary response.

## Priming of CD8 T cells

Naïve T cells are primed in secondary lymphoid organs, such as lymph nodes. Migration of naïve T cells to secondary lymphoid organs takes multiple steps. Naïve T cells enter lymph nodes through high endothelial venules (HEVs). Naïve T cells express L-selectin (CD62L), which recognizes peripheral node addressin (PNAD) expressed on the surface of HEVs (14). Upon binding of PNAD, naïve T cells start rolling. HEV cells present CCL21 and CCL19 to rolling T cells, which express CCR7, the receptor for these chemokines (14). Signaling through CCR7, a G-protein coupled receptor, activates Gαi signaling and leads to the interaction between leukocyte function-associated antigen 1 (LFA1) on the T cell and intercellular adhesion molecule 1 (ICAM1) on the endothelial cell. This interaction arrests the rolling lymphocytes onto endothelial cells. T cells then transverse the HEV and enter the T cell zone.

DCs are necessary for the priming of CD8 T cells (15). In infected tissues, DCs that are exposed to inflammatory stimuli undergo maturation, down-regulate receptors for inflammatory chemokines, and up-regulate chemokine receptors for the migration to secondary lymphoid organs (16). Naïve T cells migrate quickly in random directions to screen T cell zones for APCs presenting their cognate antigens (17). A DC can make contact with ~500 T cells in an hour and more than 10 T cells simultaneously (18). The

interaction between T cells and DCs can be divided to three phases: 1) During the first 8 hrs, T cells make short contacts with DCs, slow down their motion, and up-regulate activation markers; 2) During the next 12 hrs, T cells form stable interactions with DCs and produce cytokines such as interleukin-2 (IL-2) and interferon- $\gamma$  (IFN- $\gamma$ ); 3) After 24 hrs, T cells return to quick movement, form transient contacts with DCs, and start to proliferate (19).

### Effector CD8 T cell differentiation and clonal expansion

Effector CD8 T cells are equipped with cytotoxic granules, which are derived from lysosomes. Cytotoxic granules store perforin, granzymes, and granulysin. Perforin can form pores on the plasma membrane of target cells, so that granzymes can get access into the cytoplasm and trigger apoptosis via activating the caspase cascade and mitochondrial apoptotic pathways (20). When effector CD8 T cells recognize their cognate epitope presented by MHC-I on infected cells, signals through the TCR trigger the calcium-dependent release of cytotoxic granules. Effector cells orient their Golgi complexes and microtubule-organizing centers, and form cytotoxic immunological synapses with their target cells (21). The contents of cytotoxic granules are only released via the secretory domain of the immunological synapse into the space between the CTL and its target cell, so that bystander killing is minimized and the efficiency of killing the target cell is enhanced. Effector CD8 T cells also secrete cytokines such as IFN- $\gamma$ , TNF- $\alpha$ , and IL-2. IFN- $\gamma$  directly inhibits viral replication and enhances antigen presentation by MHC-I. TNF- $\alpha$  induces inflammation, activates macrophages, and triggers apoptosis of infected

cells and tumor cells. IL-2 is a growth factor for T cells and was recently shown to promote the expression of perforin and granzymes by CTLs (22).

Clonal expansion of effector CD8 T cells can last for one week or longer. During this period, these cells can complete one cell cycle within 6 hrs (23). An interesting question is whether the maintenance of effector differentiation and cell division requires the drive of continuous antigen signaling through the TCR. It has been shown that CD8 T cells can start proliferating after 2 hrs of antigen stimulation (24). However, longer priming is necessary for subsequent antigen-independent expansion and the development of effector functions (25). After this initial programming, CD8 T cells can undergo at least seven cell divisions without further antigen stimulation and can develop into memory cells (26). The initial dose of pathogens only affects the number of naïve CD8 T cells recruited to the immune response but not the extent of cell division nor effector/memory programming (26). More recently, experiments in which antigen presentation was halted by curtailing infection by antibiotics or depleting DCs confirmed that antigen is no longer required for clonal expansion or effector/memory differentiation after the initial window of programming (27, 28). Another question is how the affinity of the TCR for its cognate antigen affects effector differentiation and clonal expansion. Using mouse T cells that express a transgenic TCR specific for a peptide from ovalbumin (OVA) and a collection of WT and mutated OVA peptides with different affinities to the transgenic TCR, a group showed that weak TCR-antigen interactions can still trigger effector and memory cell differentiation but lead to reduced clonal expansion (29). Weak TCR affinity also leads to the early egress of CD8 T cells from lymphoid organs (29).

Early during the immune response, T cells are temporarily trapped in lymphoid organs to achieve maximal activation. This is mediated by inhibiting T cell egress, a process dependent on sphingosine 1-phosphate receptor 1 (S1P1) signaling (30, 31). Further studies have demonstrated that CD69 acts downstream of type I interferons and inhibits the S1P1 signal, leading to the temporary lymphopenia seen in the first few days of infection (32, 33). After effector differentiation, CD8 T cells begin to down-regulate the expression of secondary lymphoid organ homing molecules such as CD62L and CCR7, as a result of the activation of the PI3K-mTOR axis (34). During vaccinia virus infection, effector CD8 T cells up-regulate tissue-homing molecules and exit lymphoid organs at  $\sim$ 60 hrs post-infection (35). The inflammatory chemokine receptor CXCR3 is also expressed on effector CD8 T cells, allowing for their migration into infection sites (36, 37). During migration and inside infected tissues, effector CD8 T cells continue to proliferate, driven by cognate antigen presented by MHC-I on infected cells (38). Moreover, antigen presentation by DCs also occurs in infected tissues, which can further modify the effector differentiation programming. Such presentation is likely to be mediated by monocyte-derived DCs recruited to the site of infection (39).

After their differentiation from naïve cells into effectors, CD8 T cells undergo rapid proliferation, produce a large amount of cytotoxic proteins and cytokines and migrate to inflamed tissues. It is crucial to understand how the physiology of these cells changes to accommodate such a dramatic shift in cellular function and tissue environment. Upon differentiation into effector cells, CD8 T cells increase their uptake of glucose and amino acids by up-regulating the expression of the corresponding transporters (40-42). Naïve and memory T cells depend on mitochondrial dependent pathways, such as glucose oxidation and fatty acid oxidation, to provide energy (41, 43, 44). However, effector T cells switch to aerobic glycolysis and glutaminolysis in order to meet the increased metabolic demands associate with the assembly of macromolecules (45). The PI3K-AktmTOR cascade, downstream of the co-stimulatory receptor CD28, and the ERK signaling cascade, downstream of TCR, are essential for the shift to glycolysis and for enhanced glucose and amino acid uptake (40, 46, 47). mTOR serves as a hub linking growth factor signaling, metabolism, and cell growth, and is a critical regulator of effector and memory CD8 T cell differentiation (44, 48, 49).

## Effector CD8 T cell heterogeneity and memory CD8 T cell differentiation

Several models of memory CD8 T cell development have been proposed: 1) All effector cells have the same potential to develop into memory cells; 2) The potential of effectors to form memory cells decreases as the signals driving terminal differentiation, such as TCR stimulation, increases/prolongs; 3) The commitments to effector and memory lineages are mutually exclusive and predetermined; 4) All effector cells possess effector functions but can be divided into populations with different potentials of forming memory cells (50). Adoptive transfers of single antigen-specific CD8 T cell or molecular barcode-labeled CD8 T cells have shown that an antigen-specific naïve CD8 T cell can contribute to both effector and memory pools (51, 52). Experiments using transgenic mouse strains that irreversibly mark effector T cells through the expression of reporter

genes also have demonstrated that memory T cells are derived from effector cells (53-55). Therefore, the precursors of memory T cells have effector functions before they differentiate into memory cells. After antigen clearance, the surface markers and transcriptomes of effector cells gradually change and eventually become indistinguishable from those of memory cells (50). Moreover, central memory cells also gradually dominate over time, as indicated by the conversion of the CD62L<sup>low</sup>CCR7<sup>low</sup>IL-2<sup>-</sup> population into the CD62L<sup>high</sup>CCR7<sup>high</sup>IL-2<sup>+</sup> population (56). However, this does not exclude the possibility that memory precursor cells have different characteristics compared to other effectors that are eliminated during the contraction phase. Indeed, evidence supporting the heterogeneity of effector CD8 T cells is accumulating. Two subsets of effector CD8 T cells were observed in various infection models: CD127(IL- $7R\alpha$ )<sup>high</sup>killer cell lectin-like receptor g1 (KLRG1)<sup>low</sup> memory precursor effector cells (MPECs) and CD127<sup>low</sup>KLRG1<sup>high</sup> short-lived effector cells (SLECs), or terminally differentiated effector cells (57-61) (Figure 1-1). Both MPECs and SLECs express cytotoxic proteins and IFN-y. However, MPECs demonstrate a much higher potential to survive the contraction phase and differentiate into self-renewing memory T cells (50). MPECs also express higher levels of CD62L and the co-stimulatory receptor CD27 than SLECs (50, 59, 62). Besides these differences in surface markers, the gene expression profile of MPECs is also different from that of SLECs (57, 59). Moreover, the lineage commitments of MPECs and SLECs are stable, and there is little conversion between the two populations (57). Great effort has been spent to determine when the fate of an effector cell is determined. One study revealed that a biphasic expression of CD25 occurs by day 3.5 p.i. and that the CD25<sup>low</sup> cells have higher potential to form memory cells than

their CD25<sup>high</sup> counterparts (63). Another study claimed that the cell fate determination occurs as early as the first division of activated CD8 T cells (64).

It is important to understand the extracellular signals that govern the lineage commitment of different effector subsets and memory cell development. Blunting infection or increasing clonal competition can induce effector CD8 T cells to up-regulate CD127 and CD62L and leads to an accelerated transition to memory T cells (57, 65, 66). While the amount of antigenic stimulation through the TCR does not seem to affect the balance between MPECs and SLECs, the duration of antigenic stimulation appears to be inversely correlated with the potential to form memory cells. This is consistent with the observation that effector CD8 T cells gradually lose their ability to form memory cells during chronic infection (56, 57, 59). Co-stimulatory signals are also important regulators of memory T cell development. Co-stimulatory receptors including CD27, CD28, OX-40, and 4-1BB have been shown to regulate memory cell differentiation and survival (67-70). Not surprisingly, IL-7 is necessary for the survival of CD8 T cells during the transition to memory cells (71). IL-2, which belongs to the same cytokine family as IL-7, is a growth factor produced predominately by activated CD4 T cells, and to a lesser extent by activated CD8 T cells. Strong or prolonged IL-2 signaling leads to increased terminal differentiation of effector cells and decreased memory cell formation (22, 63, 72). T cells lacking CD25 (high affinity IL-2 receptor α chain) form fewer KLRG1<sup>high</sup>CD127<sup>low</sup> effector cells. Inflammatory cytokines, such as IL-12 and IFN-y, promote terminal differentiation of effector CD8 T cells and compromise their longevity (57, 73). Moreover, cytokines may specifically act on one subset of effector cells. For example,

10

TGF- $\beta$  induces apoptosis of SLECs, while IL-15 promotes their survival during the contraction phase (74).

It is also important to understand the intracellular signaling pathways that control memory differentiation. As discussed above, during the transition from naïve to effector cells, CD8 T cells switch from oxidative phosphorylation to aerobic glycolysis. After viral clearance, in order to return to the quiescent state and deal with the withdrawal of nutrients and growth factors, CD8 T cells need to return to the oxidation of glucose and fatty acids during the transition from effector to memory cells (62). Therefore, suppression of mTOR signals by drugs, such as rapamycin or metformin, or protein inhibitors, such as AMPK, promotes memory T cell development (44, 49). The PI3K-AKT axis is a key pathway downstream of IL-2. Strong PI3K or AKT signaling promotes terminal differentiation of effector CD8 T cells and impairs their homing to secondary lymphoid organs by down-regulating corresponding homing molecules (34, 75, 76). IL-2 signaling also induces expression of the transcriptional repressor Blimp-1 (77). SLECs express higher levels of Blimp-1 than MPECs, and knocking out Blimp-1 promotes MPEC and central memory CD8 T cell differentiation (78, 79). Blimp-1 and another transcriptional repressor, Bcl6, antagonize each other (80). Bcl6 has been shown by several studies to promote the generation of memory CD8 T cells (81, 82). IL-12 also enhances the terminal differentiation of effector cells by stimulating mTOR activity as well as by increasing the expression of T-bet and suppressing Eomes expression (48, 57). T-bet and Eomes both belong to the T-box family of transcription factors. T-bet enhances terminal differentiation of effectors, while Eomes promotes memory cell development

(48, 57, 83). The Wnt signaling pathway is critical for various developmental processes and is conserved from invertebrates to vertebrates (84). One study showed that the Wntβ-catenin signaling pathway suppresses effector T cell differentiation and promotes the generation of memory CD8 T cells (85). Another transcription factor downstream of the Wnt pathway, Tcf7, has also been shown to promote memory differentiation and persistence (86). The E-box transcription factor E2A and its antagonists, Id2 and Id3, play critical roles in B/T lymphocyte fate commitment and various steps of lymphocyte development (87, 88). Id2 deficient cells undergo normal clonal expansion but fail to persist due to up-regulation of pro-apoptotic factors (89). Knocking out Id2 appears to compromise the generation of short-lived effector cells while promoting the differentiation of CD62L<sup>high</sup> memory cells (89, 90). Id3, a target of the transcriptional repressor Blimp-1, is highly expressed in memory precursor cell (90, 91). Id3 overexpression and E2A deficiency favor memory CD8 T cell development (91).

# Memory CD8 T cells

Memory CD8 T cells are antigen-experienced cells generated after infection, vaccination, or tumor challenge. Memory CD8 T cells have two cardinal features: 1) They have the capacity to self-renew, so that they can maintain a stable memory pool that conveys long-term immune protection; 2) They can mount a rapid recall response upon re-encountering their cognate antigens.

Memory CD8 T cells can survive for decades in humans and for a lifetime in mice. The memory CD8 T cell pool is maintained by matching the rate of homeostatic proliferation to the rate of cell death. Cell transfer experiments and statistical analyses determined that the length of the intermitotic interval of LCMV-specific memory T cells is ~50 days, and is roughly the same across all epitopes (92). Such proliferation occurs stochastically in a small fraction of memory cells (92). The homeostatic proliferation of memory CD8 T cells does not depend on cognate antigen but instead on IL-15 (93). DCs and macrophages produce and present IL-15 to memory CD8 T cells (94). Interestingly, IL-15 is not secreted by their producers but trans-presented together with the IL-15 receptor  $\alpha$  chain to memory CD8 T cells (94). Central memory CD8 T cells are thought to reside largely in their niches in the bone marrow (95).

During a second exposure to antigen, memory CD8 T cells mount a rapid and strong recall response. This is partially a result of the increased numbers of antigen-specific T cells generated by the previous immune response. The number of memory CD8 T cells can be several thousand times higher than that of naïve cells specific for the same antigen (96). A second factor that enhances the recall response is the change in mRNA profile and chromatin structure that occurs when a naïve T cells differentiates into a memory cell (97). These changes not only increase the baseline expression levels of critical genes, such as IFN-γ and granzyme B, but also poise the cells to rapidly re-express genes important to effector functions and reactivate critical signaling pathways upon antigen recognition (96, 98). Thirdly, the TCRs of memory cells are believed to have a lower activation threshold than those of naïve cells, due to functional avidity maturation (99).

Fourthly, memory cells acquire features of innate immunity, and can respond to cytokines such as IL-12 and IL-18 by producing IFN-γ independent of TCR signaling during infection (100). Moreover, unlike naïve cells, some subsets of memory cells can enter and reside in non-lymphoid tissues and previously infected sites, so that they can mount an immediate response upon re-infection (101). A recent study reported that, because of their expression of CXCR3, memory CD8 T cells enter the outermost regions of lymph nodes, where pathogens are enriched, more efficiently than naïve CD8 T cells (102).

#### Memory CD8 T cell heterogeneity

Like effector cells, memory CD8 T cells are also heterogeneous. There are two major memory CD8 T cell populations: central memory T cells ( $T_{CM}$  cells) and effector memory T cells ( $T_{EM}$  cells).  $T_{CM}$  cells express CCR7 and CD62L and home to secondary lymphoid organs, while  $T_{EM}$  cells do not express CCR7 or CD62L and preferentially home to peripheral tissues (103, 104).  $T_{CM}$  cells are mostly found in lymph nodes, spleen, and blood, and are much less frequent in non-lymphoid tissues (50, 104). While seldom present in lymph nodes,  $T_{EM}$  cells can be found in various tissues as well as spleen and blood (50, 104).  $T_{EM}$  cells retain considerable cytotoxicity and reside at portals of pathogen invasion, so that they can respond immediately upon re-infection.  $T_{CM}$  cells produce IL-2 and have higher proliferation potential than  $T_{EM}$  cells. The relative contribution to immune protection by the two populations is difficult to determine and also depends on the infection model (105-108). The lineage relationship between  $T_{CM}$ cells and  $T_{EM}$  cells and whether the two populations are inter-convertible are under continuous debate. While some studies suggest that the two lineages are not interconvertible, others argue that  $T_{EM}$  cells are in a transitional state between effector T cells and  $T_{CM}$  cells after antigen clearance (56, 66, 109-113). There are also studies showing that  $T_{CM}$  cells can up-regulate effector molecules and turn into  $T_{EM}$  cells after entering peripheral tissues (114, 115). It is possible that the lineage relationship between  $T_{CM}$  cells and  $T_{EM}$  cells depends on the type of antigen inoculated. It is also worth pointing out that these two populations may not be homogenous themselves, especially considering that  $T_{CM}$  cells and  $T_{EM}$  cells are distinguished by only a few surface markers in most of the studies described above. Moreover, the expression of CCR7 or CD62L may not fully reflect the migratory behavior of memory T cells.

Recently, another memory CD8 T cell population, tissue-resident memory T cells ( $T_{RM}$  cells), was described (105).  $T_{RM}$  cells do not leave their resident tissues and can maintain a stable pool with less homeostatic proliferation (105). Moreover, most  $T_{RM}$  cells are not derived from their circulating counterparts (116-118).  $T_{RM}$  cells can be found in the nervous system, gut, and epidermis of the skin (116-121).  $T_{RM}$  cells often express CD103 and CD69 (122-124). CD103 can bind to E-cadherin expressed by epithelial cells, which may help to retain  $T_{RM}$  cells in their resident tissues (105). CD69 inhibits S1P1 function and may inhibit the egress of  $T_{RM}$  cells (33). A recent study of brain-resident memory CD8 T cells showed that  $T_{RM}$  cells have a distinct gene expression signature compared to circulating memory T cells (125). Skin  $T_{RM}$  cells have been shown to offer better immune protection than their circulating counterparts in several immunization models (122, 126,



## Figure 1-1. CD8 T cell differentiation during viral infection.

After infection, naïve CD8 T cells are programmed into effector CD8 T cells and undergo clonal expansion. Strong inflammatory signals from cytokines, such as IFN-γ, IL-2, and IL-12, miR-17-92 over-expression (this study), and strong mTOR signaling promote the generation of terminal effectors. In addition, transcription factors, such as Id2, Blimp-1, and T-bet, program terminal differentiation. On the other hand, Bcl-6, Tcf7, STAT3, Id3, SOCS3, and AMPK drive memory precursor differentiation. Most memory precursor cells survive the contraction phase and gradually transition from effector memory to central memory cells. Terminal effectors undergo a stronger contraction and only generate effector memory cells.

# **Part III: Follicular helper T cells**

## **B** cell immune response

Subcapsular sinus macrophages in lymph nodes can capture soluble antigens and present them to follicular B cells (128). B cells can take up non-cognate antigens presented by macrophages in a non-antigen-specific manner through complement receptors and pass them to follicular dendritic cells (FDCs) (128). FDCs can prime B cells that recognize the antigens presented by them (128). Effective recognition of cognate antigens triggers the formation of immunological synapses and calcium signaling downstream of B cell receptors (BCRs) (129). In a T-cell-dependent B cell response, activated B cells upregulate CCR7 and MHC-II and enhance their responsiveness to CD40 signaling (130). Activated B cells express CCR7 and EBI2, which guide activated B cells to the T:B cell zone border, where they meet cognate helper T cells (131-133).

Antibody class switching is a process that changes the isotype of an antibody, e.g. IgM to IgG. During class switching, germline transcription occurs in two selected switch regions, which recruits activation-induced cytidine deaminase (AID) that deaminates cytosines in switch regions (134). Deaminated loci recruit the DNA repair machinery that breaks the DNA in the switch regions and joins the two free ends through non-homologous end joining recombination. This irreversible process deletes the DNA sequence between the two switch regions and brings the exon encoding the constant region of the desired isotype to the end of exons encoding the variable region. AID is only expressed in

activated B cells. The initiation of class switching is believed to occur after the initial contact between activated B cells and their cognate helper T cells (135). Helper T cells not only signal through CD40L-CD40 interaction, but also secrete cytokines that determine the isotype that their cognate B cells switch to (129).

After the initial interaction between activated B cells and helper T cells, some B cells differentiate into plasma cells (129). The plasma cell fate is stabilized by the transcriptional repressor Blimp-1 (80). Other activated B cells maintain CXCR5 expression, down regulate EBI2, and migrate to follicle centers to start the germinal center (GC) reactions (136). Germinal center B cell (GC B cell) fate is stabilized by the transcriptional repressor Bcl-6 (80). The GC is compartmentalized into the light zone and the dark zone (137). The light zone is organized by a network formed by FDCs, and is positioned towards the antigen-rich region of secondary lymphoid organs: the marginal zone in spleen, or the subcapsular sinus in lymph nodes (138). GC B cells that undergo clonal expansion and somatic hypermutation in GC are called centroblasts, which form the dark zone of GCs (129). Somatic hypermutation is initiated by cytosine deamination in the hotspots of the variable region by AID (139). Cytosine deamination is followed by error-prone mismatch repair and base excision repair, which introduces point mutations in the variable region (139). The mutations introduced in the variable region may change the affinity or specificity of antibodies/BCRs. Therefore, somatic hypermuation is crucial for the affinity maturation of antibodies. Centroblasts exit the cell cycle, migrate to the light zone, and re-express surface BCRs, which turn them into centrocytes. Centrocytes in the light zone compete for antigens captured by FDCs. Only the centrocytes that

express high affinity BCRs can capture antigen, present it to cognate CD4 T cells, and receive T cell help. These centrocytes may then either migrate back to the dark zone to initiate a new round of proliferation or exit the GCs to become memory B cells or long-lived plasma cells. Centrocytes with ineffective or auto-reactive BCRs are deleted. These mechanisms allow GCs to continuously select high-affinity clones and export them as memory B cells and long-lived plasma cells (129). The migration of GC B cells between the dark zone and the light zone is governed by chemokines. The dark zone contains a higher amount of the CXCR4 ligand, CXCL12 (SDF-1), while the CXCR5 ligand, CXCL13, is more highly expressed in the light zone (140). Correspondingly, centroblasts express higher CXCR4, which positions them in the dark zone.

## Follicular helper T cells

Follicular helper T cells ( $T_{FH}$  cells) are a subset of effector CD4 T cells that are found in B cell follicles.  $T_{FH}$  cells are indispensible for the GC reaction (141).  $T_{FH}$  cells were first identified in human tonsils as a subset of effector CD4 T cells that express CXCR5, ICOS, and CD40L and support antibody production by B cells (142-144) (Figure 1-2). CXCR5 is required to guide  $T_{FH}$  cells to B cell follicles, and CXCR5 deficiency in CD4 T cells impairs the GC response (143, 145, 146). Signals from  $T_{FH}$  cells are required for the initiation of GCs, and they promote the proliferation, survival, and affinity maturation of GC B cells. During the initiation of a GC reaction,  $T_{FH}$  cells stimulate Bcl-6 expression by B cells, and thus induce the commitment of B cells to the GC fate (141). Prior to GC formation, the up-regulation of Bcl-6 is also required for the maintenance of long-term contacts between  $T_{FH}$  and B cells in the interfollicular zone (147, 148). During the GC reaction, antigen presentation to T<sub>FH</sub> cells by GC B cells rather than BCR signaling seems to be the rate-limiting factor in the selection of GC B cells with high affinity BCRs (149). GC B cells that present MHC-peptide complexes to cognate T<sub>FH</sub> cells receive survival and proliferation signals through proteins expressed by T<sub>FH</sub> cells such as CD40L, IL-21, IL-4, and PD-1 (141). CD40L signals through CD40 expressed on B cells, promotes survival of GC B cells, and prevents GC B cells from differentiating to plasma cells (150-152). The absence of CD40 signaling results in termination of the GC reaction (153, 154). SAP is a signaling adaptor of SLAM family receptors. SAP is critical for the formation of sustained T<sub>FH</sub> cell /GC B cell conjugates, and is required for SLAM dependent IL-4 secretion by  $T_{FH}$  cells (155-157). SAP deficiency results in the loss of the GC reaction and defective B cell memory (157). IL-4 secreted by GC T<sub>FH</sub> cells prevents apoptosis of GC B cells by inducing Bcl-XL expression and enhancing glucose uptake in these cells (155, 158, 159). IL-21, another cytokine produced by T<sub>FH</sub> cells, supports GC B cell proliferation through induction of Bcl-6 (160, 161). In addition, cytokines secreted by  $T_{FH}$ cells also guide the class switching of B cells. For example: IL-4 promotes switching to IgG1 and IgE, whereas IFN- $\gamma$  favors the switching to IgG2a (162). T<sub>FH</sub> cells express high levels of the inhibitory receptor PD-1, while GC B cells express its ligands, PD-L1 and PD-L2. Deficiency in PD-1 or its ligands leads to defective GC formation and enhanced apoptosis of GC B cells (163).

There has been debate over whether  $T_{FH}$  cells are a distinct lineage separate from Th1, Th2, Th17, and regulatory T (Treg) cells. Early observations that SAP deficiency in CD4

T cells blocks T cell help in the GC without affecting LCMV-specific Th1 responses suggested that  $T_{FH}$  cells may be an independently regulated population (157). The discovery that Bcl-6 functions as a master regulator of  $T_{FH}$  cells established  $T_{FH}$  cells as a distinct CD4 T cell lineage (164-166). Bcl-6 and Blimp-1 are mutually antagonistic transcription factors (167). Expression of Bcl-6 or Blimp-1 determines whether an activated CD4 T cell becomes a T<sub>FH</sub> or non-T<sub>FH</sub> effector (164, 167, 168). Interestingly, Tbet, the master regulator of Th1 differentiation, was shown to physically associate with Bcl-6 and recruit Bcl-6 to its binding loci, which may contribute to determining whether an effector CD4 T cell becomes a T<sub>FH</sub> or Th1 cell (169). Although regulated by a distinct differentiation program, T<sub>FH</sub> cells can produce some cytokines that were once considered as hallmarks of other effector subsets, such as IFN- $\gamma$ , IL-4, and IL-17 (162, 170). T<sub>FH</sub> cells secrete less IFN-y than Th1 cells, probably as a result of lower T-bet expression (164). IL-4 was long considered a Th2 cytokine and a mediator of B cell help provided by CD4 T cells (171, 172). However, it is now known that GC T<sub>FH</sub> cells also produce IL-4 (155, 162). Moreover, blocking the Th2 response shows little effect on the GC reaction (141). Now, it is clear that during helminth infections, IL-4-producing CD4 T cells in lymph nodes are mostly  $T_{FH}$  cells, while peripheral IL-4<sup>+</sup> CD4 T cells are Th2 cells (162). While Th2 cells produce both IL-4 and IL-13,  $T_{FH}$  cells produce only IL-4 (173).

 $T_{FH}$  cell differentiation is a multi-step process. Although  $T_{FH}$  cells are often associated with B cell responses, early  $T_{FH}$  cell development is independent of B cells (174, 175). The induction of CXCR5 and Bcl-6 expression in  $T_{FH}$  cells occurs as early as day 2 post-infection prior to their movement into the T:B cell zone border (147, 174). The

instruction of early T<sub>FH</sub> cell development is instead provided by DCs (174, 175). DCs may signal through ICOSL-ICOS interaction or IL-6 to promote T<sub>FH</sub> cell differentiation (174, 176). There are two populations of effector CD4 T cells generated early after LCMV infection: Bcl-6<sup>+</sup>CXCR5<sup>+</sup>CD25<sup>-</sup>Blimp-1<sup>-</sup> T<sub>FH</sub> cells and Bcl-6<sup>-</sup>CXCR5<sup>-</sup>  $CD25^{+}Blimp-1^{+}$  non-T<sub>FH</sub> cells (174). Differences in the strength of IL-2 signaling and subsequently differences in STAT5 activity have been shown to contribute to the divergence of  $T_{FH}$  cells and non- $T_{FH}$  cells (177). After being primed by DCs,  $T_{FH}$  cells upregulate Bcl-6 and CXCR5, down-regulate CCR7, and migrate to T:B cell zone border (146, 174, 178, 179). Migration of  $T_{FH}$  cells to the T:B cell zone border is independent of B cells (148). After T<sub>FH</sub> cells are localized to the T:B cell zone border, their development becomes dependent on the interaction with B cells. T<sub>FH</sub> cells and cognate B cells form long-lived interactions at the border and then move to the follicle interior to initiate GC reactions (148). Two populations of  $T_{FH}$  cells can be observed during GC reactions:  $T_{FH}$ cells and GC  $T_{FH}$  cells (141). GC  $T_{FH}$  cells are found in GCs, while other  $T_{FH}$  cells are localized in B cell follicles (146, 155). Although both populations are CXCR5<sup>+</sup>PD- $1^{+}$ ICOS<sup>+</sup>Bcl-6<sup>+</sup>, the expression of CXCR5 and Bcl-6 is higher in GC T<sub>FH</sub> cells (146, 155). The transcriptional signatures of T<sub>FH</sub> cells and GC T<sub>FH</sub> cells are similar, but there are still genes that are differentially regulated between the two populations (155). For example, GC T<sub>FH</sub> cells express higher levels of SAP, which is required for GC T<sub>FH</sub> development (155). Moreover, partial loss of Bcl-6 function more severely impairs the ability of GC T<sub>FH</sub> cells to enter GCs than follicles, indicating that the dosage of Bcl-6 may contribute to the divergence of  $T_{FH}$  cells and GC  $T_{FH}$  cells (147). In addition, c-Maf induces expression of IL-4 and IL-21 by GC  $T_{\rm FH}$  cells, and deficiency of c-Maf impairs  $T_{\rm FH}$  cell

differentiation (141, 180, 181). After antigen clearance and the collapse of the GC, Bcl-6 expression in antigen-specific CD4 T cells is lost and GC  $T_{FH}$  cells also disappear (182). Interestingly, a CXCR5<sup>+</sup>CCR7<sup>+</sup>CD62L<sup>+</sup> population can persist independent of GCs and is therefore called follicular helper-like central memory cells (182). During recall responses, follicular helper-like central memory cells produce higher frequencies of  $T_{FH}$  cells and GC  $T_{FH}$  cells than their counterparts, Th1 memory cells (182, 183). It remains to be determined how the cell fate of follicular helper-like central memory cells (182, 183). It remains to be determined how the cell fate of follicular helper-like central memory cells is maintained in the absence of Bcl-6 expression and GCs. Interestingly, the T-bet and Bcl-6 genes contain active histone marks in both  $T_{FH}$  cells and non- $T_{FH}$  cells, indicating that both populations may be poised to differentiate into either lineage (184). Other factors, such as DNA methylation or additional transcription factors, may play a role in maintaining  $T_{FH}$ cell fates after the primary GC reaction.





After LCMV infection, naïve CD4 T cells are programmed into either  $T_{FH}$  (Bcl-6<sup>+</sup>CXCR5<sup>+</sup>) or Th1 (Bcl-6<sup>-</sup>CXCR5<sup>-</sup>) cells. ICOS signaling and Bcl-6 are essential for  $T_{FH}$ differentiation, while Blimp-1 and IL-2 signaling favor Th1 differentiation. In addition, our current study has shown that miR-17-92 preferentially expands Th1 cells.  $T_{FH}$  and Th1 cells diverge early after infection independent of B cells.  $T_{FH}$  cells later migrate to the T:B cell zone border to interact with cognate B cells.  $T_{FH}$  cells and activated B cells then migrate back to the B cell follicle to trigger the germinal center (GC) reaction. At this stage, a GC reaction is indispensible for  $T_{FH}$  cells.  $T_{FH}$  cells can further differentiate into GC  $T_{FH}$  cells. After the primary immune response, memory  $T_{FH}$  and Th1 cells are generated from the corresponding effectors.

# **Part IV: microRNA**

In 1993, Victor Ambros and colleagues found that small RNAs encoded by the *C*. *elegans* gene *lin-4* contain sequences complementary to regions in the 3' untranslated region (3'UTR) of the lin-14 mRNA (185). This pioneering work and numerous followup studies identified microRNAs (miRNAs) as a family of ~22-nucleotide (nt) small single-stranded RNAs that play a critical role in the post-transcriptional regulation of gene expression in animals and plants (186, 187). miRNAs silence genes by recognizing the complementary sequences in the 3'UTR of target mRNAs and recruit a silencing protein complex, which blocks protein expression and promotes mRNA degradation (188). There are ~800 miRNAs identified in humans. Each miRNA can target hundreds of mRNAs, and the 3'UTR of one mRNA may contain binding sites for multiple miRNAs (189).

miRNAs are transcribed by RNA polymerase II. The primary transcript containing a miRNA is called a pri-miRNA. Some pri-miRNAs contain a single miRNA, while the others such as miR-17-92 are grouped into clusters and transcribed together (188). miRNAs fall into three groups based on their location within a gene: 1) miRNAs in the exons of non-coding transcripts, 2) miRNAs in the introns of non-coding transcripts, and 3) miRNAs in the introns of protein-coding transcripts (190). The stem-loop structure containing the miRNA on the primary transcript is recognized and cleaved by the Microprocessor complex, which is comprised of the nuclear RNase III Drosha and co-factor DGCR8 (191-195). The stem-loop generated by this process is called a pre-
miRNA. Pre-miRNAs are then exported to the cytosol through the nuclear pore complexes, which is mediated by exportin-5 (196, 197). Upon arriving in the cytosol, pre-miRNAs are processed by the cytoplasmic RNase III Dicer into ~22-nt doublestranded RNAs (198-202). Typically, one strand of the duplex remains, while the other strand is degraded. The remaining strand is incorporated into the miRNA-containing RNA-induced silencing complex (miRISC), which contains the Argonaute protein (190). miRISC is recruited to the 3'UTR of target mRNAs recognized by the miRNA. Seed regions of 6-8 nt long at the 5' end of miRNAs appear to be the major determinant of target recognition by miRNAs (203). A miRISC inhibits gene expression by reducing protein translation and/or promoting uncapping and deadenylation of target mRNAs (204, 205).

#### microRNAs in the immune system

Recent studies have demonstrated that miRNAs play important roles in the development of immune cells and in immune responses. The importance of miRNAs in immune cell development was first demonstrated by studies in which enzymes critical to miRNA biogenesis, such as *Dicer*, were conditionally knocked out in T or B cells. Inactivation of *Dicer* in double negative thymocytes causes a drastic reduction in thymocyte numbers as a result of increased apoptosis (206). When *Dicer* is removed in double positive thymocytes, CD8 T cell development in the periphery is blocked (207). Although the defect in the development of *Dicer* deficient CD4 T cells is milder, the effector differentiation of these cells is aberrant. *Dicer* deficiency also compromises the homeostasis and function of regulatory T cells (Tregs), which results in lethal inflammation (208). Experiments in Chapter 2 and a similar study from another group have demonstrated that loss of *Dicer* in mature CD8 T cells results in a defective CD8 T cell immune response and a failure to control pathogens (209, 210). Knocking out *Dicer* in B cells blocks B cell development partially due to increased apoptosis (211). These pioneering studies have demonstrated that miRNAs are indispensible for the development and function of the immune system.

Following the discovery that miRNA deficiency affects almost every compartment of the immune system, studies have focused on the identification of specific miRNAs involved in the differentiation and/or function of various immune cells. For example, the aberrant Th1 differentiation in Dicer deficient mice is mostly caused by the loss of miR-29, which suppresses the expression of T-bet, the master regulator of Th1 differentiation (212). miR-181a, which is highly expressed in thymocytes, augments TCR signaling by repressing the expression of multiple phosphatases, and thus influences T cell selection in the thymus (213). Besides T cell development, miR-181a also participates in NKT cell development. miR-181a deficient mice fail to develop NKT cells due to impaired PI3K signaling (214). miR-182, whose expression is induced by IL-2 following T cell activation, reduces the expression of the anti-proliferative protein FOXO1, and enhances the clonal expansion of effector CD4 T cells (215). miR-155 was first noted as one of several miRNAs induced by TLR signaling (216). As a positive regulator of TLR signaling, miR-155 activates AKT and IFN response genes by suppressing the expression of SOCS1 and SHIP1 (217, 218). Over-expression of miR-155 causes unchecked

proliferation of the myeloid compartment, which resembles chronic inflammation and some hematopoietic malignancies (216). It was later found that miR-155 is also upregulated in activated B and T cells (203). Gain- and loss-of-function approaches have demonstrated that miR-155 is indispensible for GC reactions, class switching, and antibody secretion (219, 220). miR-155 also promotes CD8 T cell immune responses by suppressing the anti-proliferative effect of type I interferon signaling (221). In addition, miR-155 enhances Treg cell proliferation stimulated by IL-2 through suppressing SOCS1, which inhibits IL-2 induced STAT5 activity (222). Another miRNA highly expressed by Treg cells, miR-146a, targets STAT1 and is indispensable for the suppressor function of Treg cells (223). In addition to its role in Treg cells, miR-146a also functions as a suppressor of effector T cell responses by acting as a negative feedback signal for NF- $\kappa$ B activity and repressing the expression of TRAF6 and IRAK1 (224). Like miR-155, miR-146a is also induced by TLR signaling (225). However, unlike miR-155, miR-146a dampens the innate immune response by suppressing NF- $\kappa$ B activity (226). Similar to miR-146a, miR-21 is up-regulated by TLR signaling, and suppresses NF- $\kappa$ B activity by targeting PDCD4, a pro-inflammatory protein (227). Thus, miR-21 promotes IL-10 production and represses IL-6 production of cells activated by LPS, resulting in the inhibition of the inflammatory response. miR-21 is also markedly induced after T cell activation and suppresses apoptosis of activated T cells (228). Besides miR-146a, miR-10a is also expressed in Treg cells. It is induced by TGF- $\beta$  and retinoic acid and constrains Treg cells from developing into other helper cell lineages by targeting Bcl-6 (229). Various autoimmune diseases show unique miRNA signatures. For example, the expression of miR-326 positively correlates with the disease severity of multiple sclerosis. The mechanism seems to involve the ability of miR-326 to promote the generation of pathogenic Th17 cells by targeting Ets-1, which suppresses Th17 differentiation (230).

#### The miR-17-92 cluster

miR-17-92 is a cluster of six miRNAs (miR-17, miR-18a, miR-19a, miR-20a, miR-19b, and miR-92a) localized in an intron of the host gene known as *C13orf25* (231, 232). The sequence encoding this cluster is highly conserved across all vertebrates, while the exonic sequences of the host gene do not seem to be conserved. Therefore, it is speculated that the sole function of the host gene is to carry this miRNA cluster. The six mature miRNAs in the miR-17-92 cluster can be categorized into four families based on the sequences of their seed regions: the miR-17 family (miR-17 and miR-20), the miR-18 family (miR-18a), the miR-19 family (miR-19a and miR-19b), and the miR-92 family (miR-92a) (231). The six miRNAs encoded in the miR-17-92 cluster are transcribed together in a primary transcript and function independently after being processed into mature miRNAs. The cluster structure raises the possibility that different target transcripts may interact with a combination of several members in the cluster with different affinities. This would further increase the complexity of miRNA:mRNA interaction, and expand the dynamic range of miR-17-92-mediated silencing effects (233).

There are two paralogs of miR-17-92 in mammals as a result of genomic duplications: miR-106a-363 and miR-106b-25, each containing a cluster of miRNAs homologous to a subset of members of the miR-17-92 cluster. This implies that miRNAs from different clusters may have overlapping sets of target transcripts and that the existence of three homologous miRNA clusters may provide functional redundancy (234). Both miR-17-92 and miR-106b-25 are widely expressed across different cell types, while the expression of miR-106a-363 in the tissues tested so far is extremely low (234). Therefore, it is not surprising that *miR-106a-363* knockout mice do not have any developmental defect. However, knocking out *miR-106b-25* alone or in combination with *miR-106a-363* does not cause an overt defect (234). Only *miR-17-92* deficiency results in defective embryonic development, manifested by smaller embryo sizes compared to wildtype controls (234). *miR-17-92* knockout mice die shortly after birth due to defects in their lungs and hearts. Embryos deficient in both *miR-17-92* and *miR-106b-25* show more severe defects than *miR-17-92* deficient embryos and die at midgestation.

#### The miR-17-92 signaling network

The miR-17-92 cluster first attracted research interest as a potential oncogenic microRNA cluster. 13q31.3, the human genomic locus where miR-17-92 is located, is amplified in different hematopoietic malignancies (232). The minimal amplicon contains the region encoding miR-17-92. A correlation between tumorigenesis and miR-17-92 is further solidified by studies showing that miRNAs in this cluster are over-expressed in various tumors (235, 236). Furthermore, large-scale screenings for oncogenes through ectopic gene activation mediated by retroviral insertion have shown that the locus containing miR-17-92 is frequently inserted in several types of retrovirally-induced leukemias (237, 238). A causal relationship between miR-17-92 and oncogenesis is

provided by a study from the Hannon group (239). This group used a mouse model in which *c-Myc* expression is driven by the immunoglobulin heavy chain enhancer to study B cell lymphomagenesis. They have demonstrated that over-expression of the miR-17-92 cluster in this model accelerates tumor development, reduces apoptosis of tumor cells, and increases lymphoma invasion. Following this study, the oncogenic activity of miR-17-92 has been confirmed in various other cancer models (240-242).

E2F transcription factors are essential for the expression of the S phase specific genes and the progression from G1 to S phase (243). Studies have shown that E2F1 and E2F3 can directly bind to the promoter of miR-17-92 and transactivate this gene (244, 245) (Figure 1-3). This implies that the expression of miR-17-92 may have a periodic nature as cells progress through the cell cycle. p53 has also been shown to repress miR-17-92 expression (246), further suggesting that miR-17-92 is integrated into the regulatory network of cell cycle progression. In addition, oncogenes such as c-Myc and N-Myc directly transactivate miR-17-92 (243, 247). It is now known that there are additional regulatory mechanisms besides transcriptional regulation that control miR-17-92 expression. For example, VEGF selectively increases the expression of miR-17, miR-18 and miR-20 in this cluster (248). Moreover, RNA-binding protein hnRNP A1 has been shown to be required for the generation of miR-18a but not other members of miR-17-92 (249). These findings indicate that miRNAs within the miR-17-92 cluster can be differentially expressed due to post-transcriptional mechanisms and that miR-17-92 may function differently in different cell types and under different physiological conditions.

miR-17-92 represses the expression of several tumor suppressor genes. Multiple miRNAs in the miR-17-92 cluster target the transcript of the pro-apoptotic gene *Bim*, which may contribute to the repression of c-Myc induced apoptosis by miR-17-92 (234, 239). The repression of Bim by miR-17-92 may also play a role in TGF- $\beta$  resistance in cancer (250). In addition to supporting the survival of cancer cells, miR-17-92 also increases their proliferation. miR-17 and miR-20a promote cell cycle progression by reducing cellular levels of CDKN1A (p21), an important inhibitor of the G1-S transition (250, 251). Through this mechanism, miR-17-92 helps cells bypass the cell cycle arrest caused by DNA damage or TGF- $\beta$  signaling. Another prominent target of miR-17-92 is PTEN (252). Multiple members of this cluster recognize the 3'UTR of *Pten*, and inhibit PTEN-mediated apoptosis of cancer cells (242, 252). miR-17-92 also enhances the angiogenic effect of c-Myc through targeting TSP-1 and CTGF (241).

#### miR-17-92 in the immune system

Ablation of *Dicer* causes a marked reduction in the number of pre-B cells in mice, as a result of increased apoptosis (211). A further analysis has shown that transcripts with a 3'UTR containing the binding sites for miRNAs of the miR-17-92 cluster are up-regulated in *Dicer* deficient pro-B cells, which indicates that the loss of miR-17-92 may cause the phenotype seen in *Dicer* knockout cells. Indeed, the development of pro-B cells to pre-B cells and more mature B cells is defective in *miR-17-92* deficient mice due to the marked increase in apoptosis of pro-B cells (234). This is caused by the derepression of Bim as a result of *miR-17-92* deficiency. Another group engineered a transgenic mouse

strain that over-expresses miR-17-92 in T and B cells (253). They found that these transgenic mice died prematurely due to lymphoproliferative autoimmune disease. Lymphocytes in these mice show a predominately activated phenotype and display markedly increased proliferation and decreased activation-induced cell death. This phenotype can be partially explained by the dysregulation of Bim and PTEN: mice that are heterozygous for both *Bim* and *Pten* demonstrate a phenotype similar to that observed in transgenic mice that over-express miR-17-92 (253). In this dissertation, I have shown that miR-17-92 represses PTEN and PD-1 expression in T cells and promotes terminal differentiation of effector CD8 T cells and the Th1 response during LCMV infection.



#### Figure 1-3. The miR-17-92 pathway.

The miR-17-92 cluster encodes 6 mature miRNAs (miR-17, miR-18a, miR-19a, miR-20a, miR-19b, and miR-92a). Transcription of the cluster is initiated by c-Myc and by E2F family transcription factors. Members of the miR-17-92 cluster promote proliferation by repressing p21 and PTEN, and enhance cell survival by reducing BIM expression. miR-17-92 also represses E2F expression as a negative feedback mechanism. Moreover, miR-17-92 enhances angiogenesis by targeting TSP-1 and CTGF. Our current study has shown that in LCMV-specific effector CD8 T cells, miR-17-92 represses PTEN and PD1 levels and drives their terminal differentiation. miR-17-92 also enhances the Th1 response during viral infection.

#### **Part V: Significance**

T cells play an important role in protecting the host against various infections and cancers. Vaccines whose protection is mediated by memory T cells have been successfully developed (254). Understanding the mechanisms of memory T cell development may help in the development of future T cell-based vaccines or in improving the efficacy of current vaccines by leading to strategies for optimizing the quality of memory T cells. Moreover, understanding the differentiation status of antigenspecific T cells in patients with chronic infections or cancer is necessary for the design of strategies that can elicit effective T cell immune responses by therapeutic vaccination. Immunotherapies that employ the adoptive transfer of *in vitro* activated T cells or genetically engineered T cells have shown promising results in cancer treatment (255, 256). Chronic infection and cancer usually induce an immunosuppressive microenvironment that results in T cell dysfunction. Several immunotherapies that aim to improve T cell effector functions by blocking immunosuppressive signals through antibody treatment have proved to be successful in treating cancers and chronic infections (257-259). A better understanding of the positive and negative signals that regulate the effector functions of T cells will help to develop more effective immunotherapies for treatment of cancer and infectious diseases. Moreover, knowledge of the signals required for the differentiation of certain effector T cell lineages may help us to harness the immune system to confer better protection against pathogens. For example, a stronger T<sub>FH</sub> response may be beneficial for HIV vaccines or immunotherapies (260).

In the last decades, extensive effort has been spent to study the transcriptomes of different lineages of effector and memory T cells and understand how transcription factors regulate their differentiation. Less attention has been paid to the post-transcriptional mechanisms involved in T cell differentiation, especially in the context of antiviral immune responses. miRNAs are major players of post-transcriptional regulation. As discussed in the previous sections of this chapter, miRNAs have been shown to regulate the differentiation of various immune cells. However, how the differentiation of virus-specific effector and memory T cells is regulated by miRNAs still demands more comprehensive studies. In chapter 2 and 3, I will describe how the miR-17-92 cluster regulates the virus-specific CD4- and CD8-T cell immune responses. Knowledge obtained from these studies will not only help us understand the basic molecular mechanisms of antiviral immune responses but also have significant clinical implications. For example, miRNA mimics that ectopically introduce miRNA activity and miRNA

# Chapter 2: Temporal expression of microRNA cluster miR-17-92 regulates effector and memory CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cell differentiation

Reprinted with permission from Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences.

**Author contributions**: Tuoqi Wu and Rafi Ahmed designed research; Tuoqi Wu and Andreas Wieland performed research; Tuoqi Wu, Koichi Araki, and Carl W. Davis contributed new reagents/analytic tools; Tuoqi Wu, Lilin Ye, and Rafi Ahmed analyzed data; and Tuoqi Wu, J. Scott Hale, and Rafi Ahmed wrote the paper.

#### Abstract

MicroRNAs are important regulators of various developmental and physiological processes. However, their roles in the CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cell response are not well understood. Using an acute viral infection model, we show that microRNAs of the miR-17-92 cluster are strongly induced after T-cell activation, down-regulated after clonal expansion, and further silenced during memory development. miR-17-92 promotes cell-cycle progression of effector CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells, and its expression is critical to the rapid expansion of these cells. However, excessive miR-17-92 expression enhances mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) signaling and strongly skews the differentiation toward short-lived terminal effector cells. Failure to down-regulate miR-17-92 leads to a gradual loss of memory cells and defective central memory cell development. Therefore, our results reveal a temporal expression pattern of miR-17-92 by antigen-specific CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells during viral infection, the precise control of which is critical to the effector expansion and memory differentiation of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells.

## Introduction

CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells play a pivotal role in the control of numerous intracellular infections and malignancies. Upon antigen encounter, a program triggers the few antigen-specific naïve precursor cells to undergo extensive proliferation and differentiate into effector cells, which are able to produce cytokines and cytolytic proteins (13, 50, 263). In an acute

infection, antigen clearance is followed by a contraction phase during which the majority of effector CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells undergo apoptosis. However, a small fraction of effector cells manage to survive through this phase and gradually differentiate into memory cells, which are capable of long-term self-renewal and rapid response to antigen reencounter (50, 263).

It is now well established in several different infection models that effector CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells comprise a heterogeneous population consisting of at least two subsets: (i) CD127(IL- $7R\alpha$ )<sup>high</sup> killer cell lectin-like receptor G1 (KLRG1)<sup>low</sup> memory precursor cells, which are more likely to survive the contraction phase and differentiate into memory cells and (*ii*) CD127<sup>low</sup>KLRG1<sup>high</sup> terminal effectors, which are short-lived, more terminally differentiated, and lack the capacity for antigen-independent homeostatic proliferation (57-59). Additional features such as high expression of CD27 as well as rapid reexpression of CD62L can also be used to distinguish memory precursors from terminal effectors (50, 59). Memory cells are also considered to be heterogeneous, consisting of central memory T cells ( $T_{CM}$  cells) and effector memory T cells ( $T_{EM}$  cells) (103). Central memory T cells, which express higher levels of lymph node homing receptors (e.g., CD62L and CCR7) and have better homeostatic turnover, gradually dominate in the lymphoid organs, whereas effector memory T cells preferentially reside in the peripheral organs (264). High expression of CD27, secretion of IL-2 upon restimulation, and greater proliferation potential upon antigen reencounter are also hallmarks of central memory T cells.

T-cell differentiation is regulated by an orchestration of T-cell receptor (TCR), costimulatory, and cytokine signals and is further stabilized by lineage-specific transcription factors in response to these signals (13, 50, 265). It was recently shown that microRNA (miRNA) is also a major regulator of the T-cell immune response (203). miRNAs are small noncoding RNAs consisting of ~22 nt that bind to the 3' UTR of the target mRNA and suppress the expression of the encoded protein by blocking translation as well as promoting degradation of the transcript (188). Experiments using mice deficient in enzymes critical to miRNA biogenesis have demonstrated an indispensable role of miRNAs in T-cell development (207). A recent study has shown that Dicer, an enzyme involved in miRNA synthesis, is indispensable for CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cell responses (210). However, less is known about the specific miRNAs regulating effector and memory CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cell differentiation in the context of viral infection.

In this study, we profiled the miRNA expression of naïve, effector, and memory CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells by using the mouse model of lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus (LCMV) infection and demonstrated that multiple miRNAs in the miR-17-92 cluster and its paralogs are highly expressed in proliferating effector cells. We then showed that miR-17-92 is critical to maintain a proliferative and terminally differentiated effector state and that down-regulation of the cluster after viral clearance is necessary for CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells to transit into the quiescent memory phenotype.

#### **Results**

miRNAs Are Crucial for CD8<sup>+</sup> Effector T-Cell Expansion During Acute Viral **Infection.** We used Dicer conditional knockout mice to examine the role of miRNAs in regulating the effector CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cell response to an acute viral infection. To avoid defective thymic T-cell development caused by Dicer deficiency, we crossed mice bearing floxed Dicer alleles (Dicer loxP/loxP) to a transgenic strain expressing Cre recombinase driven by a truncated human granzyme B promoter (GzB-cre) (54), which is only active among mature T cells activated by TCR signal. In this study, Dicer loxP/loxP;GzB-cre<sup>+</sup> (*Dicer<sup>-/-</sup>*) mice were compared with their littermate controls (*Dicer* loxP/loxP;GzB-cre<sup>-</sup> or *Dicer* loxP/wt;GzB-cre<sup>+</sup>). Although *Dicer<sup>-/-</sup>* mice had normal Tcell compartments before infection (Figure 2-S1A), they mounted a severely dampened CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cell response compared with littermate controls (Figure 2-S1B) on day 8 postinfection (p.i.) with LCMV Armstrong strain (Arm). The overall numbers of LCMVspecific CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells for the two main epitopes,  $D^{b}GP_{33,41}$  and  $D^{b}NP_{396,404}$ , were ~20-fold lower in the spleens of *Dicer<sup>-/-</sup>* mice than in those of the littermate controls, as determined by both tetramer staining (Figure 2-S1C) and intracellular IFN- $\gamma$  staining (Figure 2-S1D). Accordingly, the frequency and total number of CD44<sup>high</sup> effector CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells were also significantly reduced in the knockout mice (Figure 2-S1 E and F). Moreover, the defective expansion of *Dicer*<sup>-/-</sup> effector CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells was accompanied with impaired viral clearance (Figure 2-S1G). Therefore, our results in the LCMV infection model are consistent with the previous observation that Dicer is essential for CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cell responses during *Listeria monocytogenes* and vesicular stomatitis virus

# miR-17-92 Cluster and Its Paralogs Are Up-Regulated in Expanding Effector CD8<sup>+</sup> T Cells. We next sought to identify the miRNAs whose loss of function could account for the defective CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cell expansion observed in *Dicer<sup>-/-</sup>* mice by profiling miRNA expression in LCMV-specific CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells at different stages of the immune response. We used the P14 TCR transgenic system (TCR specific to D<sup>b</sup>GP<sub>33-41</sub>of LCMV) (5) and sorted naïve, day 5 effector, day 8 effector, and memory (day >60) P14 cells. Effector

CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells are rapidly proliferating on day 5 p.i., and their number reaches the peak on day 8 p.i., when proliferation largely stops (Figure 2-S2*A*). Therefore, miRNAs more highly expressed in day 5 effectors than in the other three populations are more likely to play a role in clonal expansion. Unsupervised hierarchical analysis successfully segregated the four groups representing four different stages of LCMV-specific CD8<sup>+</sup> Tcell differentiation (Figure 2-S2*B*). A one-way ANOVA analysis identified 160 miRNAs that were differentially regulated among the four populations (Dataset S1). miRNAs that were upregulated in day 5 effectors by more than twofold (P < 0.05) relative to naïve cells are shown in Figure 2-S2*C*. Remarkably, multiple miRNAs in the miR-17-92 cluster and its paralogs, namely miR-106a-363 and miR-106b-25, were up-regulated on day 5 p.i. but down-regulated during the differentiation from effector to memory T cells. We identified 10 miRNAs up-regulated (fold change  $\ge 2$ ; P < 0.05) in day 5 effectors relative to all three other populations (Figure 2-1*A*). Strikingly, six of those miRNAs belong to the miR-17-92 or miR-106a-363 cluster, suggesting a potential role of these miRNAs in the expansion phase (Figure 2-1*B*). The expression kinetics of individual members in the miR-17-92 cluster were confirmed by quantitative RT-PCR (QRT-PCR) (Figure 2-1*C*).

miR-17-92 Deficiency Impairs Effector CD8+ T-Cell Proliferation. The observation that expression of miRNAs in the miR-17-92 cluster positively correlates with the proliferation of effector CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells prompted us to speculate that miR-17-92 may promote CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cell expansion during the immune response. We bred miR-17-92 loxP/loxP mutants (234) to GzB-cre transgenic mice to generate miR-17-92 loxP/loxP;GzB-cre (*miR-17-92<sup>-/-</sup>*) mice. Although a previous study showed that conventional miR-17-92 knockout mice had normal T-cell development (234), we still confirmed in our system that the miR-17-92<sup>-/-</sup> mice showed no obvious defect in the Tcell compartment (Figure 2-S3A). We infected  $miR-17-92^{-/-}$  mice and their littermate controls (miR-17-92 loxP/loxP or miR-17-92 loxP/loxP;GzB-cre) with LCMV Arm. The frequency and number of effector CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells were examined on day 8 p.i. As predicted, both D<sup>b</sup>GP<sub>33-41</sub>and D<sup>b</sup>NP<sub>396-404</sub> tetramer<sup>+</sup> CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cell frequencies in the spleens of *miR-17-* $92^{-/-}$  mice were lower than those of the littermate controls (Figure 2-S3B). The total numbers of D<sup>b</sup>GP<sub>33-41</sub>- or D<sup>b</sup>NP<sub>396-404</sub>-specific cells, determined by either tetramer staining or intracellular IFN-y staining after peptide stimulation, were three- to fourfold lower in  $miR-17-92^{-/-}$  mice than in the littermate controls (Figure 2-2 A and B). Also, fewer activated CD44<sup>high</sup> CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells were found in the knockout mice (Figure 2-S3 C and D).  $miR-17-92^{-/-}$  mice had slightly higher frequencies of CD127<sup>high</sup>KLRG1<sup>low</sup> (memory precursor) effector CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells, although not statistically significant, than their littermate controls on day 8 p.i. (Figure 2-S3 E and F). The trend toward higher

frequencies of CD127<sup>high</sup>KLRG1<sup>low</sup> LCMV-specific CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells was also observed in the knockout mice on day 91 p.i. (Figure 2-S3 *G* and *H*). The diminished expansion of effector CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells observed in the *miR-17-92<sup>-/-</sup>* mice is likely to be caused by impaired proliferation. After stimulated for 48 h with anti-CD3 and anti-CD28 antibodies in vitro, CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells from *miR-17-92* loxP/loxP;CD4-cre (CD4-cre *miR-17-92<sup>-/-</sup>*) mice proliferated less than those from their littermate controls (*miR-17-92* loxP/loxP or *miR-17-92* loxP/loxP;CD4-cre) (Figure 2-2*C*) despite similar expression of TCR, CD3 $\epsilon$ , and CD28 (Figure 2-S3*I*). Our results indicate that miR-17-92 is necessary for optimal proliferation of CD8<sup>+</sup> effector T cells.

**Overexpression of miR-17-92 Promotes Effector CD8<sup>+</sup> T-Cell Expansion.** To test whether miR-17-92 has an effect on cell-cycle progression of effector CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells, we overexpressed miR-17-92 in P14 CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells. P14 cells were infected by retrovirus packaged with MSCV-IRES-Thy1.1 (MIT) vector with or without a miR-17-92 insert. After infection, all P14 cells, both transduced (Thy1.1<sup>+</sup>) and nontransduced (Thy1.1<sup>-</sup>), were transferred into C57BL/6 recipients, which were subsequently infected with LCMV

(Figure 2-3*A*). This procedure allows us to determine the effect of a vector by directly comparing transduced to nontransduced cells within the same mouse. Thus, any environmental factors can be ruled out, and better sensitivity is achieved. BrdU was i.p. injected into mice on day 6 or 7 after LCMV infection; 6 h later, mice were killed, and cells were checked for BrdU incorporation. Although the transduction with MIT empty vector showed little effect on the BrdU<sup>+</sup> frequency, the transduction with miR-17-92-MIT

clearly increased BrdU incorporation in the P14 cells (Figure 2-3*B*). Therefore, increasing the expression of miR-17-92 promotes cell-cycle progression of effector CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells. To test whether miR-17-92 overexpression enhances clonal expansion, we transduced purified P14 CD8<sup>+</sup> cells with MSCV-Puro-IRES-GFP (MSCV-PIG) vector with or without a miR-17-92 insert, cultured the cells with IL-2 for 2–3 d, sorted for GFP<sup>+</sup>-transduced cells, and adoptively transferred the GFP<sup>+</sup> T cells to C57BL/6 recipients (Figure 2-S4 *B* and *C*). The chimeras were subsequently infected with LCMV and killed on day 5 p.i. As shown in Figure 2-S4 *D* and *E*, the P14 cells transduced with the miR-17-92 overexpression vector accumulated approximately threefold more on day 5 p.i. than the P14 cells transduced with the empty MSCV-PIG.

#### Overexpression of miR-17-92 Skews Effector CD8<sup>+</sup> T Cells to CD127 (IL-

**7Rα**)<sup>low</sup>**KLRG1**<sup>high</sup> **Terminal Effectors.** As described above, the expression of miRNAs in the miR-17-92 cluster peaks when the CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells are rapidly proliferating, decreases by day 8 p.i. when the proliferation nearly stops, and further decreases during memory development (Figure 2-1 *B* and *C*). Therefore, we reasoned that maintaining the high expression of miR-17-92 by overexpression might affect the differentiation of LCMV-specific effector and memory CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells. We first examined the impact of miR-17-92 overexpression on effector CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cell differentiation by comparing the day 8 P14 cells transduced with miR-17-92-MIT to the nontransduced P14 cells in the same mice as well as the empty MIT-transduced P14 cells. The nontransduced P14 cells in both the MIT and miR-17-92-MIT groups, as well as the empty MIT-transduced P14 cells, showed similar expression patterns of CD127 and KLRG1 (Figure 2-4*A* and Figure 2-S5 *A* and

*B*). In striking contrast, the P14 cells transduced with miR-17-92-MIT were almost exclusively CD127<sup>how</sup>KLRG1<sup>high</sup>, a pattern associated with short-lived terminal effector cells (57, 59). Moreover, miR-17-92-MIT–transduced P14 cells also expressed lower levels of CD62L (L-selectin), CD27, and Bcl2, but higher levels of granzyme B, all consistent with a more terminally differentiated effector phenotype (Figure 2-4*B* and Figure 2-S5 *C–E*). Interestingly, miR-17-92-MIT–transduced P14 cells also showed heightened expression of 2B4 (Figure 2-4*C* and Figure 2-S5*F*), which is highly expressed in exhausted CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells (266). In addition, consistent with a previous report that miR-19 directly targets TNF- $\alpha$  mRNA (267), the TNF- $\alpha$  production after restimulation by GP<sub>3341</sub>was lower with miR-17-92 overexpression (Figure 2-S5*G*).

We examined the mRNA profiles of miR-17-92-MIT–transduced and nontransduced P14 cells by microarray analysis. Student's *t* test identified 350 probes down-regulated by more than 1.5-fold (P < 0.05) and 546 probes up-regulated by more than 1.5-fold (P < 0.05) in the transduced P14 cells relative to the nontransduced P14 cells (Dataset S2). Consistent with our FACS data, II7r, Sell (CD62L), and Bcl2 were lower and Cd244 (2B4) was higher at the transcript level in the cells transduced with miR-17-92-MIT (Figure 2-4*D*). Notably, Tcf7, a transcription factor essential for central memory T-cell development (86), as well as Traf1 and serpina3g, which facilitate memory CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cell survival by suppressing Bim or cathepsin B, respectively (268, 269), were also down-regulated when miR-17-92 was overexpressed. To determine whether the overall gene expression pattern of miR-17-92–overexpressing cells resembles that of terminal effector cells, we compared our data with published microarray data of terminal effector cells and

memory precursors (57). Geneset enrichment analysis (GSEA) showed that the gene signature of CD127<sup>low</sup> effectors was overrepresented in the miR-17-92- MIT–transduced P14 cells whereas the gene signature of CD127<sup>high</sup> effectors was underrepresented in these cells (Figure 2-4*E* and Figure 2-S5*H*).

#### miR-17-92 Enhances Mammalian Target of Rapamycin (mTOR) Signaling in

Effector CD8<sup>+</sup> T Cells. Our previous work demonstrated that reducing mTOR signaling in effector CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells favors their differentiation into memory precursors and increases the generation of central memory T cells (49). Interestingly, our microarray data showed that the transcripts of multiple negative regulators of the PI3K-Akt-mTOR axis, namely phosphatase and tensin homolog (Pten), programmed cell death 1 (Pdcd1; PD1), B- and T-lymphocyte associated (Btla), and Fc fragment of IgG, low affinity IIb, receptor (Fcgr2b), were significantly lower in the miR-17-92-MIT-transduced P14 cells (Figure 2-5A). The results of Western blots and FACS confirmed that the protein levels of PTEN, PD1, and BTLA were lowered by miR-17-92 overexpression on day 4.5 p.i. (Figure 2-5 B and C), when mTOR signaling is high. Notably, the 3' UTR of Pten mRNA contains target sites for five of the six miRNAs in the cluster (miR-17, miR-19a, miR-19b, miR-20a, and miR-92a), suggesting that miR-17-92 can directly suppress PTEN expression by interacting with its mRNA (253, 270). To determine mTOR pathway activity in the P14 cells, we stained for the phosphorylated ribosome protein S6 (Ser235/236) on day 4.5 p.i. As shown in Figure 2-5D, miR-17-92 overexpression increased the phosphorylation of S6, indicating heightened mTOR signaling. Therefore, miR-17-92 relieves the suppression on the PI3K-Akt-mTOR axis and enhances mTOR activity. Strengthened

mTOR signaling by miR-17-92 overexpression may explain the absence of memory precursor cells and indicates a potential defect in memory differentiation.

# Down-Regulation of miR-17-92 Is Necessary for Optimal Memory CD8<sup>+</sup> T-Cell Development. Normally, during the CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cell response to acute LCMV infection, the proportions of CD127<sup>high</sup> and CD62L<sup>high</sup> cells gradually increase after day 8 during the contraction and memory development. Meanwhile, the expression of miR-17-92 decreases to a level similar to that in naïve T cells (Figure 2-1 B and C). However, when ectopically overexpressing miR-17-92, the reexpression of CD127 and CD62L in the P14 cells was strongly delayed, suggesting a defective memory differentiation program (Figure 2-6 A and B). As a result, although the frequency of the empty MIT-transduced cells within the donor P14 cell pool was largely unchanged over time, the miR-17-92-MIT-transduced P14 cells were outcompeted by the nontransduced cells in the same mice (Figure 2-6C). The remaining miR-17-92-MIT-transduced cells displayed a phenotype closer to what seen in effector T cells or effector memory T cells: The majority of the cells were CD127<sup>low</sup>KLRG1<sup>high</sup> with limited expression of CD62L and high levels of granzyme B (Figure 2-6 D–F and Figure 2-S6 A–E). The impaired central memory T-cell development was further supported by the observation that the miR-17-92-MIT-transduced memory P14 cells expressed lower CD27 and Bcl2 and produced less IL-2 upon restimulation than the control P14 cells did (Figure 2-6 G-I and Figure 2-S6 *F*–*H*).

### Discussion

In this study, we determined the miRNA profiles of LCMV specific CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells during and after an acute viral infection and demonstrated that a group of miRNAs, predominantly members of the miR-17-92 cluster or its paralogs, are more expressed in rapidly proliferating effectors than in naïve, memory, or nonproliferating effector cells. The miR-17-92 cluster encodes precursors for six miRNAs (miR-17, miR-18a, miR-19a, miR-20a, miR-19b, and miR-92a) and has two paralogs (miR-106b-25 and miR-106a-363) generated by ancient genomic duplication (231). miR-17-92 is frequently involved in genomic translocation and amplification and is overexpressed in various hematopoietic malignancies and solid tumors (231). Studies on CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells showed that overexpressing the miR-17-92 cluster overrides the need for costimulatory signals (253) and that several miRNAs in the cluster can enhance proliferation and inhibit activationinduced cell death of T-helper cells after in vitro antigen stimulation (212, 253, 271). Accordingly, using the in vivo LCMV acute infection model, we showed that knocking out miR-17-92 with GzB-cre reduced the number of LCMV-specific CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells and thus demonstrated that the loss of miR-17-92 at least partially accounts for the phenotype observed in Dicer knockout mice. In addition to the loss-of-function experiments, we found that overexpressing miR-17-92 promotes the expansion of effector cells. Altogether, our data reveal a proproliferative role of miR-17-92 in effector CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells. Although the effector CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cell response to LCMV infection is largely independent of CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cell help (272), it is worth pointing out that GzB-cre can also induce recombination in effector CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells that express granzyme B and potentially delete

miR-17-92 in this subset of CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells (14). Whether this process has any effect on the differentiation of memory CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells needs to be determined in future studies.

Our data demonstrated that miR-17-92 expression is downregulated when clonal expansion approaches the end and further reduced to levels seen in naïve cells during the contraction phase. Given the prosurvival role of miR-17-92 in malignancies as well as primary lymphocytes in the autoimmune model (252, 253), one might have predicted that maintaining high levels of miR-17-92 would make effector CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells less vulnerable to apoptosis and favor the accumulation of memory cells. In sharp contrast, instead of surviving better, the P14 cells ectopically expressing miR-17-92 contracted more than the control P14 cells did. Memory development was also impaired, manifested by the loss of markers usually associated with memory or central memory cells. Phenotypic analysis of miR-17-92-overexpressing effector cells provides a logical link between the enhanced clonal expansion and increased contraction of these cells. Our data demonstrated that the enhanced cell-cycle progression driven by miR-17-92 overexpression is accompanied by a strong tendency toward terminal effector differentiation. In fact, the miR-17-92overexpressing P14 cells on day 8 p.i. were almost exclusively CD127<sup>low</sup>KLRG1<sup>high</sup>. The expression pattern of other markers such as CD62L and CD27 as well as the global transcription signature assessed by GSEA further support the idea that these cells resemble short-lived terminal effectors. However, knocking out miR-17-92 only slightly increased the frequencies of CD127<sup>high</sup>KLRG1<sup>low</sup> LCMV-specific CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells at effector and memory time points. One likely explanation of the lesser impact on CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cell differentiation caused by loss of function than gain of function of miR-17-92 is that the

miR-106a-363 and miR-106b-25 may compensate for the loss of miR-17-92, given that the two share extensive targets with miR-17-92. In addition, the reduced CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cell response in  $miR-17-92^{-/-}$  mice may result in delayed antigen clearance or prolonged proinflammatory cytokine stimulation, which may impair the generation of memory precursor cells.

Interestingly, previous studies in our laboratory showed that extending antigen stimulation leads to more proliferation toward the tail end of clonal expansion, drives effectors toward terminal differentiation, and impedes the conversion from effector memory cells to central memory cells (59), which closely resembles our observation in miR-17-92–overexpressing CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells. Therefore, miR-17-92 may be an intracellular signaling component that promotes proliferation and effector differentiation in response to antigen stimulation. In support of this hypothesis, NF-**x**B, a transcription factor downstream of TCR, was shown to bind to the human miR-17-92 promoter (273). Additional transcription factors such as STAT3 and E2Fs are also involved in the transcriptional regulation of miR-17-92 in human cell lines (244, 274), indicating that cytokine signals and proliferation itself may also regulate miR-17-92 expression.

In conclusion, we showed that miRNA expression patterns undergo dramatic changes in the course of a CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cell response, and we identified the high expression of miR-17-92 cluster and its paralogs as a miRNA signature of proliferating effectors. We then dissected the role of miR-17-92 in clonal expansion and effector/memory differentiation. Our results may provide useful insights for the development of vaccines and therapies that target to enhance CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cell effector function or maximize memory cell formation by modulating miR-17-92.

## **Materials and Methods**

Standard procedures and methods such as mouse handling, plaque assay, in vitro T-cell activation, lymphocyte isolation, flow cytometry, retroviral transduction, BrdU labeling, RNA isolation, microarray analysis, QRT-PCR, and statistical analysis are described in SI Materials and Methods.

### Acknowledgements

We thank A. Ventura for providing the MSCV-PIG and MSCV-PIG-miR-17-92 vectors and J. Jacob for providing GzB-cre transgenic mice. This work was supported by National Institutes of Health Grant AI030048 (to R.A.), Grant AI080192 (to R.A.), and Training Grant T32AI074492 (to J.S.H.).

## **Supporting Information**

#### **SI Materials and Methods**

**Mice, Infection, and Plaque Assays.** Six- to eight-week-old C57BL/6 mice were purchased from The Jackson Laboratory. Thy1.1<sup>+</sup> or Thy1.1<sup>-</sup> CD45.1<sup>+</sup> P14 TCR transgenic mice were on the C57BL/6 background and maintained in the laboratory as described previously (58). *Dicer* flox/flox and *miR-17-92* flox/flox mutant mice were purchased from The Jackson Laboratory (234, 275). GzB-cre transgenic mice were a kind gift from Joshy Jacob (Emory Vaccine Center). CD4-cre transgenic mice were purchased from Taconic (276). For acute infection, mice were i.p. injected with 2 ×10<sup>5</sup> pfu of LCMV Arm. Plaque assays were used to determine viral titers (264). All animal experiments were approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee of Emory University.

**In Vitro T-Cell Stimulation.** Splenic T cells were purified by MACS magnetic beads (Miltenyi Biotec), labeled with carboxyfluorescein succinimidyl ester (CFSE), plated at 10<sup>5</sup> cells per well in the 96-well plate, and stimulated with plate-bound anti-CD3 and soluble anti-CD28 (BD Biosciences).

**Lymphocyte Isolation and Flow Cytometry.** Splenocytes and peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMC) were isolated as described previously (104). MHC class I tetramer and intracellular cytokine staining were performed as previously described

(264). Live cells were determined by LIVE/DEAD Fixable Near-IR Dead Cell Stain Kit (Invitrogen). For phospho-S6 staining, splenocytes were fixed with BD Lyse/Fix Buffer (BD Biosciences) immediately after isolation, permeabilized with BD Phosflow Perm/Wash Buffer I (BD Biosciences), and stained with anti–phospho-S6 antibody (Cell Signaling Technology). Samples were analyzed on a BD FACSCanto II flow cytometer (BD Biosciences).

**Retroviral Transduction.** The MSCV-Puro-IRES-GFP (MSCVPIG) empty vector and MSCV-PIG with miR-17-92 (252) were gifts from Andrea Ventura (Memorial Sloan-Kettering Cancer Center, New York, NY). For transduction with MSCV-PIG, Thy1.1<sup>+</sup>

P14 mice were i.v. injected with  $2 \times 10^6$  pfu of lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus (LCMV) Armstrong strain (Arm). CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells were purified from P14 splenocytes at 24 h postinfection (p.i.), and infected by retrovirus packaged with either MSCV-PIG or MSCV-PIG inserted with miR-17-92. The cells were then cultured with IL-2 for 2–3 d and sorted for GFP<sup>+</sup> T cells. Then,  $2 \times 10^4$  GFP<sup>+</sup> T cells were transferred to each C57BL/6 recipient. The MSCV-IRES-Thy1.1 (MIT) plasmid (17442; Addgene) was kindly provided by Anjana Rao (La Jolla Institute for Allergy and Immunology, La Jolla, CA) (277). A genomic fragment containing miR-17-92 was cloned as previously described

(278) and inserted into the MIT vector. Transduction with the MIT vector was performed by first infecting CD45.1<sup>+</sup> Thy1.1<sup>-</sup> P14 mice i.v. with  $2 \times 10^6$  pfu of LCMV Arm. Splenocytes were collected 24 h later, infected with retrovirus packaged with MIT or miR-17-92-MIT vector, and immediately transferred into C57BL/6 recipients at 10<sup>5</sup> P14 **In Vivo BrdU Incorporation.** Mice were injected with 1 mg of BrdU solution i.p. on day 6 p.i. or day 7 p.i. and killed 4 h (as in Figure 2-S2A) or 6 h (as in Figure 2-3B) later. The BrdU staining was performed with BrdU Flow Kit (BD Biosciences).

# RNA Isolation, Microarray Analysis, and Quantitative RT-PCR (QRT-PCR). For the microRNA (miRNA) microarray, each mouse was transferred with 10<sup>4</sup> P14 CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells and infected i.p. with LCMV Arm. Day 5 p.i., day 8 p.i., or memory (day 60-70 p.i.) P14 CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells were sorted on the basis of the expression of Thy1.1 congenic marker. Naïve P14 CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells were directly sorted from naïve P14 mice. Total RNA including the small RNA fraction was isolated with miRNeasy kit (Qiagen), then labeled and hybridized to Mouse miRNA Microarray (Agilent Technologies). The data analysis was performed with Gene-Spring GX 11.5 (Agilent Technologies) according to the manufacturer's manual. The raw data were normalized by 90th percentile shift, baselinetransformed, and filtered on the basis of flag. For the mRNA microarray, retroviral transduction with the miR-17-92-MIT vector was performed as described above. Splenocytes were collected on day 8 p.i. Transduced (CD45.1<sup>+</sup> CD8<sup>+</sup> Thy1.1<sup>+</sup>) and nontransduced (CD45.1<sup>+</sup> CD8<sup>+</sup> Thy1.1<sup>-</sup>) P14 cells were sorted on the basis of the surface markers. RNA was isolated with RNeasy kit (Qiagen), labeled, and hybridized to mouse 430.2 microarray (Affymetrix). Data analysis was performed with GenePattern (Broad Institute). The raw data were normalized by the robust multichip averaging method.

Gene-set enrichment analysis (GSEA) was performed as previously described (279). The microarray data of CD127<sup>high</sup> memory precursors and CD127<sup>low</sup> terminal effectors were obtained from a previous study (57), the Gene Expression Omnibus (GEO) accession no. of which is GSE8678. The genes up-regulated by greater than or equal to twofold (P < 0.05) in the CD127<sup>high</sup> or CD127<sup>low</sup> effectors relative to CD127<sup>low</sup> or CD127<sup>high</sup> effectors were selected into the gene set representing the gene signature of the CD127<sup>high</sup> or CD127<sup>low</sup> effectors. miRNA QRT-PCR was performed with TaqMan MicroRNA Reverse Transcription Kit, TaqMan MicroRNA Assays, and TaqMan Universal PCR Master Mix (Applied Biosystems) according to the manufacturer's instructions.

Statistical Analysis. All data analysis was performed with Prism 5.



# Figure 2-1. miRNAs in the miR-17-92 cluster and its paralogs are up-regulated in the proliferating effector CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells.

(*A*) Venn diagram of genes up-regulated by more than twofold (P < 0.05) in the day 5 effector P14 CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells relative to the naïve (red), day 8 effector (green), or memory P14 (blue) cells. (*B*) Heat map of the expression of miRNAs that were up-regulated more than twofold (P < 0.05) in the day 5 effector P14 CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells relative to naïve, day 8 effector, and memory P14 cells. miRNAs belonging to the miR-17-92 or miR-106a-363 cluster are in bold. (*C*) QRT-PCR analysis of the expression of individual members in the miR-17-92 cluster in naïve, day 5 p.i., day 8 p.i., and memory P14 cells. Bars represent the fold changes relative to naïve. Sno-142 was used as the loading control.





 $miR-17-92^{-/-}$  mice and littermate controls were infected with LCMV Arm and killed on day 8 p.i. (A and B) Numbers of tetramer<sup>+</sup> cells per spleen (A) and numbers of IFN- $\gamma^+$ cells per spleen after 5-h stimulation with GP<sub>33-41</sub> or NP<sub>396-404</sub> (B) were determined. Results are representative of at least three independent experiments with at least five mice per group. Student's *t* test was used. \**P* < 0.05, \*\**P* < 0.01. (*C*) Carboxyfluorescein succinimidyl ester (CFSE) dilution of purified CD4-cre *miR-17-92<sup>-/-</sup>* and WT CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells after culture with plate-bound anti-CD3 and soluble anti-CD28 for 48 h. Results are representative of at least two experiments with  $n \ge 6$ .



Figure 2- 3. Overexpression of miR-17-92 promotes cell-cycle progression of effector CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells.

(*A*) Splenocytes from Thy1.1<sup>-</sup> P14 mice were transduced with MIT or miR-17-92-MIT and transferred to C57BL/6 mice, which were subsequently infected with LCMV Arm and pulse-labeled with BrdU on day 6 or 7 p.i. (*B Left*) Gating of transduced (Thy1.1<sup>+</sup>; red) and nontransduced (Thy1.1<sup>-</sup>; blue) P14 cells. (*Right*) Frequencies of BrdU<sup>+</sup> cells

within transduced and nontransduced P14 T cells in the spleens of each group (MIT or miR-17-92-MIT) on days 6 and 7 p.i. Each line represents data from one individual mouse. Results are representative of at least two experiments with  $n \ge 3$ . Paired Student's *t* test was used. \**P* < 0.05, \*\**P* < 0.01, \*\*\**P* < 0.001.



# Figure 2- 4. Overexpressing miR-17-92 compromises the differentiation of memory precursor effector CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells.

Chimeras transferred with MIT- or miR-17-92-MIT–transduced P14 cells were generated and infected as described in Figure 2-3. Phenotypic analysis of transduced (Thy1.1<sup>+</sup>) or nontransduced (Thy1.1<sup>-</sup>) P14 cells in the spleens on day 8 p.i. was performed. (*A*) Representative plots and statistics of CD127 and KLRG1 expression on transduced (red) and nontransduced (blue) P14 CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells from each group (MIT or miR-17-92-MIT). Paired Student's *t* test was performed. Each line represents the frequencies of CD127<sup>high</sup>KLRG1<sup>low</sup> cells in the transduced and nontransduced P14 from one individual mouse. (*B* and *C*) The same statistical analysis was performed on the expression of granzyme B, and 2B4. Experiments were repeated at least three times with  $n \ge 3$ . (*D*) Relative gene expression values of II7r (CD127), Sell (CD62L), Tcf7, Traf1, Bcl2,
serpina3g, and Cd244 (2B4) in the miR-17-92-MIT–transduced (Thy1.1<sup>+</sup>; red) or nontransduced (Thy1.1<sup>-</sup>; blue) P14 cells. Student's *t* test was used. (*E*) Gene signature of CD127<sup>low</sup> effector CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells is overrepresented in miR-17-92-MIT–transduced P14 on day 8 p.i., as determined by GSEA. \**P* < 0.05, \*\**P* < 0.01, \*\*\**P* < 0.001.





(*A*) Relative expression values of Pten, Pdcd1 (PD1), Btla, and Fcgr2b in miR-17-92-MIT-transduced and nontransduced P14 cells on day 8 p.i., as determined by microarray. (*B* and *C*) Protein levels of PTEN (*B*) as well as PD1 and BTLA (*C*) on day 4.5 p.i. were measured by Western blotting or FACS, respectively.  $\beta$ -Actin was used as loading control for Western blots. (*D*) Representative histogram of S6 phosphorylation in MITor miR-17-92-MIT-transduced P14 cells on day 4.5 p.i. (*Left*) and statistical analysis of the effect of MIT or miR-17-92-MIT transduction on S6 phosphorylation (*Right*). The results shown, except the microarray data, were representative of at least two independent experiments with  $n \ge 4$ . Paired *t* test (*C* and *D*) and unpaired *t* test (*A*) were used. \**P* < 0.05, \*\**P* < 0.01, \*\*\**P* < 0.001.





(*A*–*C*) Frequencies of CD127<sup>high</sup> (*A*) and CD62L<sup>high</sup> (*B*) cells within transduced P14 cells as well as the portion of transduced cell (Thy1.1<sup>+</sup>) within donor P14 cells in the peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMC) of each group (MIT or miR-17-92-MIT) (*C*) were tracked longitudinally starting from day 8 p.i. (*D*–*I*) Phenotypic analysis of transduced (Thy1.1<sup>+</sup>) or nontransduced (Thy1.1<sup>-</sup>) P14 cells in the spleens on day 66 p.i. was performed. Experiments were repeated at least three times with  $n \ge 3$ . Unpaired *t* test (*A*–*C*) and paired *t* test (*D*–*I*) were used. \**P* < 0.05, \*\**P* < 0.01, \*\*\**P* < 0.001.



Figure 2-S 1. Dicer deficiency impairs effector CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cell response.

(*A*) Percentages of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells and CD44<sup>high</sup> cells within the CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cell population in the PBMC of naïve *Dicer<sup>-/-</sup>* mice or littermate controls. *Dicer<sup>-/-</sup>* mice and littermate controls were infected with LCMV Arm and killed on day 8 p.i. (*B*) Representative plots of D<sup>b</sup>GP<sub>33-41</sub> tetramer<sup>+</sup> and D<sup>b</sup>NP<sub>396-404</sub> tetramer<sup>+</sup> CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells in the spleens of *Dicer<sup>-/-</sup>* mice or littermate controls on day 8 p.i. (percentages of tetramer<sup>+</sup> cells indicated; gated on live splenocytes). (*C*) Numbers of tetramer<sup>+</sup> cells per spleen. (*D*) Numbers of IFN- $\gamma^+$  cells per spleen after 5-h stimulation with GP<sub>33-41</sub> or NP<sub>396-404</sub>. (*E*) Representative plots of CD44<sup>high</sup> CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells in the spleens (percentages of CD44<sup>high</sup> CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells indicated; gated on live splenocytes). (*F*) Number of CD44<sup>high</sup> CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells per spleen. (*G*) Splenic viral load. Results are representative of at least three independent experiments with at least three mice per group. Student's *t* test was used. \**P* < 0.05; \*\**P* < 0.01; N.S., *P* > 0.05.



Figure 2-S 2. miRNAs up-regulated in day 5 effectors relative to naïve P14 CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells.

(*A*) Mice were transferred with 10<sup>4</sup> P14 CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells and infected with LCMV Arm. On day 5 or day 8 p.i., the mice were injected with 1 mg of BrdU i.p. and killed 4 h later. For

each time point, the frequency of P14 CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells (Thy1.1<sup>+</sup>) is shown in *Upper* (percentage of P14 cells indicated; gated on live splenocytes) and histograms of BrdU staining in P14 cells (line) and CD44<sup>low</sup> naïve CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells (shaded) are shown in *Lower* (percentages of BrdU<sup>+</sup> P14 cells indicated). (*B*) Unsupervised hierarchical clustering of naïve, day 5 p.i., day 8 p.i., and memory P14 CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells with the miRNAs present in all of the samples from at least one of the four populations. Colors represent the fold change in expression compared with the mean of all samples for each probe. (*C*) Heat map of the expression at all time points of the miRNAs that were up-regulated more than twofold (*P* < 0.05) in day 5 effector P14 CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells relative to naïve P14 cells. Those miRNAs belonging to the miR-17-92, miR-106a-363, or miR-106b-25 clusters are in bold.



### Figure 2-S 3. Characterization of the LCMV-specific CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cell response in *miR-17-92<sup>-/-</sup>* mice.

(*A*) Frequencies of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells and CD44<sup>high</sup> cells within the CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cell population in the PBMC of naïve *miR-17-92<sup>-/-</sup>* mice or littermate controls. (*B*) Frequencies of D<sup>b</sup>GP<sub>33-41</sub> tetramer<sup>+</sup> and D<sup>b</sup>NP<sub>396-404</sub> tetramer<sup>+</sup> CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells in the spleens of *miR-17-92<sup>-/-</sup>* mice or littermate controls on day 8 p.i. (gated on live splenocytes). (*C*) Representative plots of CD44<sup>high</sup> CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells in the spleens (percentages of CD44<sup>high</sup> CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells indicated; gated on live splenocytes). (*D*) Number of CD44<sup>high</sup> CD8<sup>+</sup> cells per spleen. (*E* and *F*) Frequencies of CD127<sup>high</sup> killer cell lectin-like receptor G1 (KLRG1)<sup>low</sup> cells in D<sup>b</sup>GP<sub>33-41</sub> tetramer<sup>+</sup> CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells (*E*) and D<sup>b</sup>NP<sub>396-404</sub> tetramer<sup>+</sup> CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells (*F*) in *miR-17-92<sup>-/-</sup>* mice or littermate controls on day 8 p.i. (*G* and *H*) Frequencies of CD62L<sup>high</sup> or CD127<sup>high</sup>KLRG1<sup>low</sup> cells in D<sup>b</sup>GP<sub>33-41</sub> tetramer<sup>+</sup> CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells (*G*) and D<sup>b</sup>NP<sub>396-404</sub> tetramer<sup>+</sup> CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells (H) in *miR-17-92<sup>-/-</sup>* mice or littermate controls on day 91 p.i. (*I*) Expression of T-cell receptor  $\beta$  (TCR $\beta$ ), CD3 $\epsilon$ , and CD28 on naïve CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells from CD4-cre *miR-17-92<sup>-/-</sup>* or control mice. Student's *t* test was used. \**P* < 0.05; N.S., *P* > 0.05.





(*A*) QRT-PCR analysis of the individual miRNAs of miR-17-92 in miR-17-92-MIT– transduced (red) and nontransduced (blue) P14 cells on day 8 p.i. The data are shown as the fold change in expression relative to the nontransduced cells. Sno-142 was used as the loading control. (*B–E*) Thy1.1<sup>+</sup> P14 CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells were purified, transduced by MSCV-PIG with or without miR-17-92 insert, expanded in culture supplemented with IL-2, and sorted on the basis of GFP expression. Each C57BL/6 mouse was transferred with 20,000 GFP<sup>+</sup> cells and infected with LCMV Arm. Mice were killed on day 5 p.i. (*B*) Experimental procedure of the transduction. (*C*) Frequencies of GFP<sup>+</sup> cells in the P14 cells before and after sorting. (*D*) Frequencies of empty vector (MSCV-PIG) or overexpression vector (miR-17-92)–transduced Thy1.1<sup>+</sup> donor P14 cells in the spleens (gated on live splenocytes). (*E*) Numbers of Thy1.1<sup>+</sup> P14 cells per spleen in each group. Results are representative of at least two experiments with more than four mice per group. Student's *t* test was used. \**P* < 0.05.



# Figure 2-S 5. Changes in phenotypic markers on day 8 p.i. induced by miR-17-92 overexpression.

(*A* and *B*) (*Left*) Representative histograms of CD127 or KLRG1 expression on P14 cells transduced with MIT (shaded) or miR-17-92-MIT (line). Percentages of CD127<sup>high</sup> or

KLRG1<sup>low</sup> cells in P14 cells transduced with MIT (gray) or miR-17-92-MIT (italic) are indicated. (Right) Statistical analysis of CD127<sup>high</sup> or KLRG1<sup>low</sup> frequencies in the transduced (red) and nontransduced (blue) P14 cells. (C) Representative plots of CD62L expression on the MIT- or miR-17-92-MIT-transduced P14 cells (percentages of CD62L<sup>high</sup> cells in MIT- or miR-17-92-MIT-transduced P14 cells are indicated). Statistical analysis of CD62L<sup>high</sup> frequencies in the transduced (red) and nontransduced (blue) P14 cells. (D) Representative histograms of CD27 expression on MIT- or miR-17-92-MIT-transduced P14 cells (percentages of CD27<sup>high</sup> cells in MIT- or miR-17-92-MITtransduced P14 cells are indicated). Statistical analysis of CD27<sup>high</sup> frequencies in the transduced (red) and nontransduced (blue) P14 cells. (E) Statistical analysis of Bcl2 expression in the transduced (red) and nontransduced (blue) P14 cells. (F) Representative histograms of 2B4 expression in naïve CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells (gray) or P14 cells transduced with MIT (blue) or miR-17-92-MIT (red). Mean fluorescence intensity (MFI) is indicated. (G) Representative histograms of TNF- $\alpha$  production in MIT- or miR-17-92-MIT-transduced P14 cells after 5-h restimulation with GP<sub>33-41</sub> (MFI indicated) and statistical analysis of the TNF- $\alpha$  MFI of the transduced cells and nontransduced P14 cells of each group are shown. Experiments were repeated at least three times with  $n \ge 3$ . Paired t test was used. \*P < 0.05, \*\*P < 0.01, \*\*\*P < 0.001. (H) Gene signature of CD127<sup>high</sup> effectors is underrepresented in miR-17-92-MIT-transduced P14 on day 8 p.i., as determined by GSEA.



# Figure 2-S 6. Changes in phenotypic markers on day 66 p.i. induced by miR-17-92 overexpression.

(A) Representative plots of CD127 and KLRG1 expression on MIT or miR-17-92-MIT-

transduced P14 cells. (*B* and *C*) (*Left*) Representative histograms of CD127 or KLRG1 expression on P14 cells transduced with MIT (shaded) or miR-17-92-MIT (line). Percentages of CD127<sup>high</sup> or KLRG1<sup>low</sup> cells in P14 cells transduced with MIT (gray) or miR-17-92-MIT (italic) are indicated. (*Right*) Statistical analysis of CD127<sup>high</sup> or KLRG1<sup>low</sup> frequencies in the transduced (red) and nontransduced (blue) P14 cells. (*D*) Representative plots of CD62L expression on MIT or miR-17-92-MIT–transduced P14 cells (the frequencies of CD62L<sup>high</sup> cells are indicated). (*E*–*G*) Representative histograms of granzyme B, CD27, or Bcl2 expression on MIT- or miR-17-92-MIT–transduced P14 cells. (*H*) Representative plots of IL-2 and IFN- $\gamma$  production in MIT- or miR-17-92-MIT–transduced P14 cells after 5-h restimulation with GP<sub>33-41</sub> (frequencies of IFN- $\gamma^{+}$ IL-2<sup>+</sup> cells are indicated). Experiments were repeated at least three times with  $n \ge 3$ . Paired *t* test was used. \**P* < 0.05, \*\**P* < 0.01, \*\*\**P* < 0.001.

**Dataset S1.** The list of miRNAs in the Agilent miRNA microarray that were identified as differentially expressed within the four time points (naïve, day 5 p.i., day 8 p.i., and memory) by one-way ANOVA

http://www.pnas.org/content/suppl/2012/06/03/1207327109.DCSupplemental/sd01.xls

**Dataset S2.** The list of genes in the Affymetrix mouse 430 microarray that were differentially expressed in the miR-17-92-MIT-transduced vs. nontransduced P14 cells by  $\geq 1.5$ -fold (P < 0.05) identified by Student's *t* test

http://www.pnas.org/content/suppl/2012/06/03/1207327109.DCSupplemental/sd02.xls

## Chapter 3: miR-17-92 regulates CD4 T cell differentiation

## during antiviral immune responses

#### Abstract

The miR-17-92 cluster plays an important role in virus-specific effector and memory CD8 T cell differentiation. However, how this cluster regulates CD4 T cell differentiation during viral infection is less clear. In this study, we show that effective antiviral CD4 T cell response requires miR-17-92. The lack of miR-17-92 compromises CD4 T cell clonal expansion and their ability to provide help to B cells. Moreover, miR-17-92 is particularly important to the development of virus-specific IFN- $\gamma^+$  CD4 T cells. miR-17-92 over-expression enhances the CD4 T cell response and the generation of IFN- $\gamma^+$  CD4 T cells. In addition, miR-17-92 elevates mTOR signaling in effector CD4 T cells and preferentially expands Th1 cells. Unlike our previous observation in CD8 T cells, miR-17-92 over-expressing CD4 T cells did not show an overt defect in memory cell development. In summary, our results demonstrate miR-17-92 as a critical regulator of CD4 T cell antiviral immune responses.

#### Introduction

Upon infection, antigen-specific naïve CD4 T cells recognize cognate antigens presented by professional antigen presenting cells (APCs), and differentiate into effector CD4 T cells. Effector CD4 T cells instruct the immune system to combat pathogens efficiently by providing other immune cells with signals via cytokines and direct engagement of cell surface molecules. CD4 T cells can differentiate into distinct effector subsets, such as T helper 1 (Th1), Th2, Th17, and induced regulatory T cells under different priming conditions. Each subset is controlled by a unique master regulator transcription factor, and secretes a distinct group of cytokines, which are often the hallmark of this subset. For example, Th1 cells, whose differentiation is controlled by T-bet, secrete the signature cytokine IFN-γ, which boosts the activity of CD8 effectors and macrophages, and facilitates isotype switching of immunoglobulin to IgG2a (280, 281). A fraction of effector CD4 T cells survive and differentiate into memory cells after antigen clearance, while the others undergo apoptosis (53, 282). Memory CD4 T cells maintain a stable memory pool through long-term self-renewal, and can mount a strong recall response upon re-exposure to their cognate antigen. Interestingly, accumulating evidence supports the idea that different subsets of effector helper cells may give rise to distinct memory CD4 T cells that retain the characteristics of their progenitors (283-286).

A major role of CD4 T cells is to provide help to B cells (141). B cell helper activity is provided by a subset of effector CD4 T cells, known as follicular helper T cells ( $T_{FH}$ cells), which express the B cell follicle homing chemokine receptor CXCR5 and high levels of ICOS and PD-1 (141-144). The germinal center (GC) reaction is critical to affinity maturation, class switching, and generation of long-term humoral immunity.  $T_{FH}$ cells are indispensible for the initiation and maintenance of GCs (141). Only GC B cells that are able to present antigen to their cognate  $T_{FH}$  cells can receive survival and proliferation signals conveyed by proteins expressed by  $T_{FH}$  cells, such as CD40L, IL-21, and IL-4 (141). In addition, cytokines expressed by  $T_{FH}$  cells also influence the class switching of activated B cells. Bcl-6 is the master regulator of  $T_{FH}$  differentiation, while Blimp-1 enforces non- $T_{FH}$  differentiation (164-166). Induction of Bcl-6 and repression of Blimp-1 occur as early as day 3 post-infection in  $T_{FH}$  cells, which precedes GC formation and depends on dendritic cells rather than B cells (147, 174). Signaling induced by ICOS-ICOSL interaction is indispensible for Bcl-6 expression (174). On the other hand, IL-2 signals through STAT5 to induce Blimp-1 expression, and thus promotes the polarization to Th1 instead of  $T_{FH}$  during viral infection (177).

While transcriptional regulation of CD4 T cell differentiation is well documented, how the CD4 T cell response is regulated at the post-transcriptional level is less clear. MicroRNAs (miRNAs) are a family of small non-coding RNAs of ~22 nucleotides, which play a major role in post-transcriptional regulation of gene expression (186). Binding of the complementary sequences at the 3' UTR of target transcripts by seed regions of miRNAs appears to be critical for miRNA-mediated silencing of target mRNAs (203). Such silencing may involve blockade of mRNA translation and/or degradation of target mRNAs (204, 205). Early studies on Dicer knockout mice have suggested that miRNAs are required for B and T cell development (206, 207, 211). More recently, miR-29, miR-126, miR-326, and miR-146a have been shown to regulate Th1, Th2, Th17, and Treg differentiation respectively (212, 223, 230, 287). Our group recently demonstrated that the oncogenic miRNA miR-17-92 cluster regulates CD8 T cell differentiation (209). miR-17-92 was also shown to promote CD4 proliferation and Th1 polarization upon *in vitro* stimulation or tumor challenge (271). However, the role of this cluster in CD4 T cell response during viral infection is still unclear.

In this study, we have demonstrated that miR-17-92 is indispensible for CD4 T cell clonal expansion during viral infection and that miR-17-92 promotes Th1 differentiation and IFN-γ production of virus-specific effector CD4 T cells.

#### **Materials and methods**

#### Mice and infection

SMARTA mice with transgenic TCR specific to the  $GP_{66.77}$  epitope of lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus (LCMV) were bred in the lab and were congenically marked as CD45.1<sup>+</sup> (288). C57BL/6 (CD45.1<sup>-</sup>) mice purchased from Jackson Laboratory were used as recipients. Mice with miR-17-92 null conditional allele and mice with miR-17-92 transgene conditional allele were also purchased from Jackson Laboratory and were bred to a CD4-cre transgenic strain (Taconic) (234, 253, 276). For acute infection, mice were injected intraperitoneally (i.p.) with 2×10<sup>5</sup> PFU of LCMV Armstrong. Animal experiments were performed under Emory University IACUC protocols.

#### In vitro T cell stimulation

Splenic CD4 T cells were purified by magnetic beads (Miltenyi Biotec), and labeled with carboxyfluorescein succinimidyl ester (CFSE). Labeled cells were plated at a density of 10<sup>5</sup> cells per well in 96-well plates. Cells were stimulated for 48 hours with plate-bound anti-CD3 and soluble anti-CD28 antibodies (BD Biosciences).

#### **Flow cytometry**

To label GP<sub>66-77</sub>-specific CD4 T cells, splenocytes were incubated with 2ug/mL IA<sup>b</sup>GP66-77 tetramer in RPMI medium supplemented with 10% FBS at 37 °C for 2 hours. IA<sup>b</sup>GP66-77 tetramer was generated at NIH Tetramer Core Facility (Emory University). CXCR5 staining was performed using a three-step staining protocol as previously described (164). Phosphorylated-S6 was stained by with anti-phospho-S6 antibodies (Cell Signaling Technology) as described in our previous study (209). Cell sorting was performed on FACSAria<sup>™</sup> II (BD Biosciences). Flow cytometry data were acquired on FACSCanto<sup>™</sup> II (BD Biosciences) and analyzed using FlowJo (Threestar, Inc.).

#### **ELISA and ELISPOT assays**

LCMV-specific antibody titers were measured by ELISA. Briefly, lysate of BHK-21 cells infected with LCMV-clone 13 was sonicated and coated to 96-well polysorp plates 48 hours before assay (NUNC, Rochester, NY). Diluted sera were incubated and later detected by HRP-conjugated goat anti-mouse immunoglobulin (SouthernBiotech). O-Phenylenediamine dihydrochloride (OPD) was used as substrate in the reaction. Absorbance was read at 490 nm.

LCMV-specific IgG secreting cells were detected via ELISPOT. Sonicated BHK-21 cells infected by LCMV-clone 13 were coated on plates 48 hours before assay. Splenocytes were cultured on plates for 8 hours and removed. LCMV-specific IgG secreted by antibody secreting cells (ASC) was first detected by biotinylated goat-anti-mouse IgG (Caltag Laboratories) followed by HRP-conjugated avidin-D (Vector Laboratories inc.).

#### **Retroviral transduction**

MSCV-PGK-GFP vector was inserted with miR-17-92 as previously described (209). SMARTA CD4 T cells simulated by GP61-80 peptides for 18 hours were purified, and incubated with packaged retrovirus with MSCV construct with or without miR-17-92 insert. Cells were cultured in complete medium supplemented with 10ng/mL IL-2 for 2-3 days, and sorted for the GFP<sup>+</sup> subset. 2×10<sup>4</sup> GFP<sup>+</sup> SMARTA T cells were adoptively transferred into each C57BL/6 recipient.

#### **Statistical analysis**

Data were analyzed on Prism 5. Student's t-test was performed. \*p<0.05, \*\* p<0.01, \*\*\*p<0.001.

#### Results

## miR-17-92 knockout reduces CD4 T cell response and alters effector CD4 differentiation

To determine whether miR-17-92 regulates the CD4 T cell response, we bred *miR-17-92* loxP/loxP to CD4-cre, which deletes loxP flanked genes efficiently in T cells (276). Knockout mice (*miR-17-92* loxP/loxP; CD4-cre) and their littermate controls (*miR-17-92* loxP/loxP) were infected with the Armstrong strain of lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus (LCMV Arm). Splenocytes from both groups were analyzed on day 8 post-infection (p.i.). Numbers of LCMV-specific CD4 T cells in knockout mice were strikingly reduced compared to those in littermate controls, as manifested by a ~10 fold reduction in CD4 T cells bound to IA<sup>b</sup>GP66-77 tetramer and a ~16 fold reduction in CD4 T cells producing IFN- $\gamma$  in response to GP<sub>61-80</sub> peptides (Figure 3-1*A* and *B*). miR-17-92 seems to be critical for the differentiation of IFN- $\gamma$ -producing effector CD4 T cells, as the ratios between IFN- $\gamma^+$  cells and tetramer<sup>+</sup> cells for the same MHCII-restricted epitope were lower in the knockout mice than in the controls (Figure 3-1*C*). In addition, LCMV-specific CD4 effector cells from knockout mice produce less IFN- $\gamma$  and TNF- $\alpha$  on a per cell basis than their counterparts from controls (Figure 3-1*D* and *E*). Therefore, mir-17-92 deficiency leads to defective CD4 T cell clonal expansion as well as impaired differentiation into IFN- $\gamma$ -producing cells. The diminished clonal expansion seen in miR-17-92 deficient CD4 T cells is likely a result of compromised proliferative capacity, as knockout cells showed less CFSE dilution than their wild-type counterparts after stimulation with anti-CD3 and anti-CD28 antibodies for 48 hrs (Figure 3-1*F*).

An important role of effector CD4 T cells during viral infection is to provide necessary signals to help B cells. Therefore, we speculated that the B cell response to LCMV might be compromised in T cell-specific miR-17-92 deficient mice as a result of a dampened CD4 T cell response. Indeed, LCMV-specific IgG titer was significantly reduced in the knockout mice on day 8 p.i. as a result of less LCMV-specific IgG secreting plasma cells (Figure 3-2*A* and *B*). Moreover, knockout mice had ~ 6 times less germinal center B cells than controls (Figure 3-2*C*).

Follicular helper T cell ( $T_{FH}$  cells), which can be distinguished by their expression of CXCR5, are the subset of effector CD4 T cells critical to the B cell response (141). To determine whether the defective B cell response is caused by altered T<sub>FH</sub> cell differentiation, we analyzed CXCR5 expression on LCMV-specific CD4 T cells. As shown in Figure 3-3A, neither the frequency of  $CXCR5^+$  cells nor the protein expression level of CXCR5 seemed to decrease after deletion of miR-17-92, indicating that miR-17-92 deficiency does not selectively impact the  $T_{FH}$  subset. This may indicate that the reduced B cell response could be caused merely by a general reduction in the LCMVspecific CD4 T cell response. PD-1 expression was significantly higher in the miR-17-92-/- CD4 T cells, which may suggest persistence of antigen (Figure 3-3A). Ly6C, T-bet, granzyme B expression has been shown to be associated with a Th1 phenotypes (289). We found a severe reduction in the frequency of Ly6C<sup>high</sup> cells and a moderate reduction in T-bet expression in the miR-17-92 knockout cells, which may suggest impaired Th1 differentiation in these cells (Figure 3-3B and C). However, knockout cells expressed granzyme B at a level comparable to wild-type cells (Figure 3-3D). A previous study identify Bcl-6 as a target repressed by T-bet (290). Accordingly, we observed that a higher expression of Bcl-6 coincided with lower T-bet expression in miR-17-92 deficient effector CD4 cells (Figure 3-3E). In summary, while loss of miR-17-92 does not preferentially compromise the T<sub>FH</sub> cells, it alters effector CD4 T cell differentiation during viral infection.

#### Memory CD4 differentiation is influenced by miR-17-92 deficiency

To investigate how miR-17-92 knockout impacts CD4 memory differentiation, we sacrificed knockout and control mice on day 108 p.i.. There were ~4 fold less IA<sup>b</sup>GP66-77 tetramer<sup>+</sup> CD4 T cells and ~7 fold less IFN- $\gamma^+$  CD4 T cells after GP<sub>61-80</sub> peptide stimulation in the knockout mice than in their littermate controls (Figure 3-4A and B). Similar to our observation on day 8 p.i., the ratios between IFN- $\gamma^+$  cells and tetramer<sup>+</sup> cells for the same epitope were lower in the knockout mice than in the control mice, which confirms that loss of miR-17-92 seems to preferentially undermine the generation of IFN- $\gamma^+$  cells (Figure 3-4C). Moreover, production of IFN- $\gamma$  was much reduced in miR-17-92 knockout memory CD4 T cells, suggesting that miR-17-92 is important for the functionality of virus-specific CD4 T cells (Figure 3-4D). Our recent study has shown that LCMV-specific memory CD4 T cells can be segregated into three populations: Ly6C<sup>high</sup>CXCR5<sup>-</sup> memory Th1 cells, Ly6C<sup>+</sup>CXCR5<sup>+</sup> memory T<sub>FH</sub> cells and Ly6C<sup>-</sup> CXCR5<sup>+</sup> memory T<sub>FH</sub> cells (291). miR-17-92 deficient CD4 memory cells did not seem to form a distinct Ly6C<sup>high</sup>CXCR5<sup>-</sup> or Ly6C<sup>+</sup>CXCR5<sup>+</sup> population (Figure 3-5A). This may be explained by a potential defect in the generation of the  $Ly6C^+$  population, because Ly6C expression was significantly reduced while CXCR5 expression was mostly undisturbed in miR-17-92 deficient memory CD4 T cells (Figure 3-5B and C). While the B cell response was compromised at the effector time point caused by defective CD4 T cell response, serum LCMV-specific IgG titers in knockout mice eventually reached similar levels as control mice at the memory phase (Figure 3-5D).

# miR-17-92 over-expression promotes the generation of IFN- $\gamma^{\star}$ and Th1 effector CD4 T cells

Our data demonstrate that miR-17-92 deficiency greatly compromises CD4 clonal expansion and seems to preferentially affect the generation of IFN- $\gamma^+$  effector CD4 T cells. Therefore, we sought to determine whether increasing miR-17-92 expression can enhance CD4 response and generate more IFN- $\gamma^+$  effectors. We utilized a previously described conditional over-expression strain that carries a CAG promoter and the human miR-17-92 cluster whose expression is blocked by a loxP-flanked STOP cassette inserted between the promoter and the cluster (253). The transgenic strain was bred to CD4-cre so that miR-17-92 is over-expressed only in T cells. Cre<sup>+</sup> mice that contain two copies of the miR-17-92 transgene (TG) are designated as TG/TG, and their cre<sup>-</sup> littermates were used as controls.

TG/TG mice and their littermate controls were infected with LCMV Arm and analyzed on day 10 p.i.. TG/TG contained more IA<sup>b</sup>GP66-77 tetramer labeled CD4 T cells in the spleens than controls (Figure 3-6*A*). TG/TG mice also had ~3 fold higher numbers of IFN- $\gamma^+$  CD4 cells after GP<sub>61-80</sub> re-stimulation than controls (Figure 3-6*B* and *C*). Interestingly, the ratios between IFN- $\gamma^+$  and tetramer<sup>+</sup> CD4 T cells specific for the same epitope in TG/TG mice were ~1.5, while the ratios in control mice were ~1 (Figure 3-6*D*). This indicates that there is a population of LCMV-specific CD4 T cells that cannot be detected by tetramer but can produce IFN- $\gamma$  after re-stimulation with cognate antigen. TG/TG LCMV-specific CD4 effectors seemed to produce slightly more IFN- $\gamma$  on a per cell basis than their counterparts in control mice (Figure 3-6*E*), while the production of TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-2 were lower in TG/TG effectors compared to control cells (Figure 3-6*F* and *G*).

Next, we went on to investigate whether the balance between Th1 and  $T_{\rm FH}\,cell$ differentiation is affected by miR-17-92 over-expression. Interestingly, the frequencies of  $T_{\rm FH}$  cells within LCMV-specific effector CD4 T cells were significantly lower in TG/TG mice than those in control mice (Figure 3-7A). However, the total numbers of LCMVspecific T<sub>FH</sub> cells in TG/TG mice were no less than those in controls, which rules out a potential defect in  $T_{FH}$  cell development (Figure 3-7*B*). The decrease in  $T_{FH}$  cell frequency seemed to be solely caused by an enhanced Th1 response (Figure 3-7B). Accordingly, the numbers of germinal center B cells were comparable between the two groups (Figure 3-7C). Similar to our observation in effector CD8 T cells (209), miR-17-92 over-expression reduced PD-1 expression on effector CD4 T cells (Figure 3-7D). Interestingly, we found a striking increase in surface Ly6C levels in miR-17-92 over-expressing effector CD4 T cells (Figure 3-7*E*), which is consistent with our observation that loss of miR-17-92 causes the loss of Ly6C<sup>+</sup> effector CD4 T cell subset. Moreover, TG/TG effector CD4 T cells expressed lower levels of Bcl-6 than control cells (Figure 3-7F). Therefore, miR-17-92 over-expression in virus-specific effector CD4 T cells promotes the generation of Th1 cells.

#### miR-17-92 over-expression affects CD4 memory differentiation

In our previous studies, we showed that miR-17-92 over-expression impairs memory CD8 T cell differentiation (209). Therefore, we sought to determine whether miR-17-92 over-expression has the same effect on memory CD4 T cell differentiation. TG/TG and control mice were sacrificed on day 115 p.i., and numbers of LCMV-specific memory CD4 T cells were determined by tetramer staining and IFN-y staining after cognate peptide re-stimulation. Interestingly, there were similar or even slightly more LCMVspecific memory CD4 T cells in TG/TG mice as compared to the controls, indicating that miR-17-92 over-expression does not compromise the generation of memory CD4 T cells (Figure 3-8A and B). However, the MFI of tetramer was lower in LCMV-specific TG/TG memory CD4 T cells than that in the control cells, which may suggest that higher miR-17-92 expression selects memory CD4 T cells with lower avidity (Figure 3-8C). Consistent with our observation in the effector phase, the ratios between IFN- $\gamma^+$  cells and tetramer<sup>+</sup> cells for the same LCMV epitope in TG/TG mice were significantly higher than the ratios in control mice (Figure 3-8D). TG/TG memory CD4 T cells produced less TNF- $\alpha$  upon re-stimulation, while their production of IFN- $\gamma$  was comparable to or even slightly higher than that of controls (Figure 3-8E and F). While expressing a similar level of CXCR5 as control cells, TG/TG cells had significantly higher Ly6C expression than control cells (Figure 3-9A-C). Accordingly, there were more Ly6C<sup>+</sup>CXCR5<sup>+</sup> memory  $T_{FH}$ cells in TG/TG mice.

#### miR-17-92 enhances mTOR signaling in effector CD4 T cells

As documented in our previous study, miR-17-92 potentiates mTOR activity in effector CD8 T cells (209). To test whether miR-17-92 has the same effect on effector CD4 T cells, we used the MSCV-PGK-GFP retroviral system to over-express this cluster in SMARTA transgenic CD4 T cells that are specific for the GP<sub>61-80</sub> epitope of LCMV (288), and used phosphorylation of ribosomal protein S6 at Ser235/236 as a readout of mTOR activity. As shown in Figure 3-10, SMARTA cells over-expressing miR-17-92 had more phosphorylated ribosome protein S6 than SMARTA cells transduced with empty vector, indicating that miR-17-92 indeed enhances mTOR signaling in effector CD4 T cells.

#### Discussion

In this study, we used both loss-of-function and gain-of-function approaches to demonstrate the critical role of miR-17-92 in regulating the CD4 T cell response to viral infection. We showed that miR-17-92 is necessary for CD4 T cell proliferation and is indispensible for CD4 T cell clonal expansion during acute LCMV infection. miR-17-92 seemed to be particularly important for IFN- $\gamma$  expression and the generation of the IFN- $\gamma^+$  subset of virus-specific CD4 T cells. Moreover, miR-17-92 also regulates effector and memory CD4 T cell differentiation. Specifically, miR-17-92 favors the generation of Th1 effector cells and Ly6C<sup>+</sup> memory CD4 T cells. However, unlike our previous observation in CD8 T cells, miR-17-92 over-expression did not compromise memory CD4 T cell development.

miR-17-92 is frequently over-expressed in tumor cells, and possesses oncogenic activity (231). Over-expression of this cluster in T and B cells results in the development of lymphoproliferative disease and autoimmunity in mice (253). Further studies showed that miR-17-92 drives CD4 T cell proliferation in vitro and CD8 T cell proliferation in response to viral infection (209, 212, 271). However, the role of this cluster in virusspecific CD4 T cell response was still unclear. This study demonstrates that miR-17-92 is indispensible for the antiviral immune response mediated by CD4 T cells. While knocking out miR-17-92 in T cells resulted in diminished CD4 expansion, overexpression of the cluster increased the magnitude of the CD4 T cell response. The humoral immune response to viral infection depends on T cell help. As the effector CD4 response was compromised when knocking out miR-17-92 specifically in T cells, the germinal center reaction and virus-specific IgG production at the effector phase were also reduced. However, the virus-specific IgG levels were indistinguishable between knockout mice and controls at the memory phase, indicating that the remaining effector CD4 T cells in the knockout were sufficient to support the efficient generation of long-lived plasma cells.

Our previous study showed that miR-17-92 reduces PTEN protein levels and enhances PI3K/mTOR signaling in virus-specific effector CD8 T cells (209). Consistently, phosphorylation of ribosomal protein S6, an indicator of mTOR activity, was significantly elevated upon miR-17-92 over-expression in effector CD4 T cells. Upon activation, T cells switch from catabolism to anabolism, a process tightly regulated by mTOR, in order to meet the robust metabolic demands resulting from clonal expansion

and effector functions (292). It is possible that miR-17-92 drives the CD4 T cell response by maintaining a metabolic signature associated with effector T cells through promoting mTOR signaling strength.

Besides supporting the B cell response, virus-specific effector CD4 T cells also produce cytokines, such as IFN- $\gamma$ , to modulate the antiviral immune response. Interestingly, there was a greater decrease in IFN-y-producing CD4 T cells than tetramer bound CD4 T cells after knocking out miR-17-92. Correspondingly, miR-17-92 over-expression preferentially promoted the generation of IFN- $\gamma^+$  CD4 effectors. These results suggest that differentiation of IFN-y-producing CD4 effectors is more sensitive to the level of miR-17-92. This may be explained by the fact that IFN- $\gamma$  production by T cells is enhanced by PI3K signaling (293), which can be elevated by miR-17-92 over-expression. Although control mice for both loss-of-function and gain-of-function experiments showed a ratio between IFN- $\gamma^+$  and tetramer<sup>+</sup> CD4 T cells of ~1, it should be noticed that not all antigen-specific CD4 T cells produce IFN- $\gamma$  after stimulation with cognate antigen, while not all IFN- $\gamma$ -producing T cells have enough TCR avidity to be labeled with tetramer (294). The lower than 1 ratio between IFN- $\gamma^+$  and tetramer<sup>+</sup> CD4 T cells seen in miR-17-92-/- CD4 T cells may indicate that CD4 T cells deficient for miR-17-92 need higher TCR signaling to pass the threshold required for cytokine production. On the other hand, the fact that there were more IFN- $\gamma^{+}$  than tetramer<sup>+</sup> CD4 T cells in TG/TG CD4 T cells may suggest that more CD4 T cells with low avidity to their antigen were enabled to produce IFN- $\gamma$  by miR-17-92 over-expression.

miR-17-92 not only regulates virus-specific CD4 T cell expansion but also modulates their differentiation. Two primary effector CD4 subsets are generated after viral infection: T<sub>FH</sub> and Th1 cells. The two can be effectively distinguished by their expression of CXCR5, a chemokine receptor necessary for migration to B cell follicles, along with other markers such as SLAM, PD-1, ICOS, and Ly6C (164, 291). The transcriptional repressor Bcl-6 is essential for  $T_{FH}$  differentiation (164). Interestingly, one study showed that Bcl-6 suppresses the expression of a wide range of microRNAs including miR-17-92, and that miR-17-92 over-expression reduces CXCR5 expression in mouse B cells (166). The authors therefore concluded that miR-17-92 inhibits  $T_{FH}$  differentiation by suppressing CXCR5 expression. Although we did find a consistent decrease in the frequency of CXCR5<sup>+</sup> virus-specific CD4 T cells when over-expressing miR-17-92, this decrease was the result of an increase in Th1 response, which accounted for most of the increase in total virus-specific effector CD4 T cells after miR-17-92 over-expression. The numbers of  $T_{FH}$  cells in miR-17-92 TG/TG mice were no less than those in control mice. Therefore, we conclude that although essential for T cell expansion, miR-17-92 does not disrupt T<sub>FH</sub> differentiation.

Ly6C<sup>+</sup> CD4 T cells express markers associated with Th1 cells and were shown to be associated with terminal differentiation of effector CD4 T cells (289). Interestingly, we found a loss of the Ly6C<sup>+</sup> subset when knocking out miR-17-92 and an increase in this subset when over-expressing miR-17-92. Moreover, our previous study on the role of miR-17-92 in CD8 T cell differentiation clearly demonstrated that miR-17-92 promotes terminal differentiation of virus-specific CD8 T cells. It is possible that miR-17-92 also drives virus-specific CD4 T cells into terminal differentiation. However, unlike CD8 T cells, CD4 T cells over-expressing miR-17-92 generated a memory pool similar to, if not larger than, the wildtype memory CD4 population, which indicates that miR-17-92 over-expressing CD4 T cells are not more terminally differentiated than their wildtype counterparts. The changes in the frequencies of the Ly6C<sup>+</sup> subset in miR-17-92 knockout and over-expression mice may be explained by corresponding changes in virus-specific CD4 T cell differentiation. Moreover, the Ly6C<sup>+</sup> subset contains not just Th1 cells, and Ly6C<sup>-</sup> CD4 T cells are not necessarily T<sub>FH</sub> cells (291). More comprehensive studies in the future regarding the nature of Ly6C<sup>+</sup> and Ly6C<sup>-</sup> effector and memory CD4 T cells are needed.



Figure 3-1. miR-17-92 deficiency compromises CD4 T cell immune response.

(*A*) Representative plots (percentages of tetramer<sup>+</sup> cells indicated; gated on CD4 T cells) and numbers of IA<sup>b</sup>GP66-77 tetramer<sup>+</sup> CD4 T cells in the spleens of *miR-17-92-/-* mice and littermate controls on day 8 p.i.. (*B*) Representative plots (percentages of IFN- $\gamma^+$  cells indicated; gated on CD4 T cells) and numbers of IFN- $\gamma^+$  CD4 T cells in the spleen after 5h stimulation with GP<sub>61-80</sub> peptide. (*C*) The ratio between numbers of IFN- $\gamma^+$  CD4 T cells in response to GP<sub>61-80</sub> peptide stimulation and IA<sup>b</sup>GP66-77 tetramer<sup>+</sup> CD4 T cells in the spleen. (*D*) and (*E*) Expression of IFN- $\gamma$  and TNF- $\alpha$  as measured by mean fluorescence intensity (MFI) in IFN- $\gamma^+$  CD4 T cells after GP<sub>61-80</sub> peptide stimulation. (*F*) Naïve CD4 T cells were purified, labeled with carboxyfluorescein succinimidyl ester (CFSE), and stimulated with plate bound anti-CD3 and soluble anti-CD28 for 48 hours. The extent of cell divisions was measured by CFSE dilution.



Figure 3-2. Defective B cell response in miR-17-92-/- mice.

(*A*) LCMV-specific IgG titers on day 8 p.i. in the sera of *miR-17-92-/-* mice and littermate controls were determined by ELISA. (*B*) Numbers of LCMV-specific IgG antibody secreting cells (ASCs) in the spleen. (*C*) Representative plots (percentages of germinal center B cells indicated; gated on total B cells) and number of germinal center B cells in the spleens.



Figure 3- 3. Effector CD4 T cell differentiation is altered by miR-17-92 deficiency.

(*A*) Representative plots of  $T_{FH}$  staining (percentages of CXCR5<sup>+</sup> cells indicated; gated on tetramer<sup>+</sup> CD4 T cells) and expressions of CXCR5 and PD-1 on tetramer<sup>+</sup> CD4 T cells. (*B*) Representative plots of Ly6C staining (percentages of Ly6C<sup>-</sup> cells indicated; gated on tetramer<sup>+</sup> CD4 T cells) and expression of Ly6C on tetramer<sup>+</sup> CD4 T cells. (*C-E*) Expressions of T-bet, granzyme B, and Bcl-6 in tetramer<sup>+</sup> CD4 T cells.


Figure 3- 4. Less memory CD4 T cells are generated in *miR-17-92-/-* mice after infection.

(*A*) Representative plots (percentages of tetramer<sup>+</sup> cells indicated; gated on CD4 T cells) and numbers of IA<sup>b</sup>GP66-77 tetramer<sup>+</sup> CD4 T cells in the spleens of knockout mice and littermate controls on day 108 p.i.. (*B*) Representative plots (percentages of IFN- $\gamma^+$  cells indicated; gated on CD4 T cells) and numbers of IFN- $\gamma^+$  CD4 T cells in the spleen after GP<sub>61-80</sub> peptide stimulation. (*C*) The ratio between numbers of IFN- $\gamma$ -producing CD4 T cells and IA<sup>b</sup>GP66-77 tetramer<sup>+</sup> CD4 T cells in the spleen. (*D*) MFI of IFN- $\gamma$  in IFN- $\gamma^+$  CD4 T cells.



**Figure 3- 5. Differentiation of memory CD4 T cell subsets in miR-17-92-/- mice.** (*A*) Representative plots of memory CD4 subsets (percentage of each subset indicated; gated on tetramer<sup>+</sup> CD4 T cells). (*B*) and (*C*) Expressions of CXCR5 and Ly6C on tetramer<sup>+</sup> CD4 T cells. (*D*) LCMV-specific IgG titers in the sera on day 108 p.i. as determined by ELISA.



Figure 3- 6. miR-17-92 over-expression enhances CD4 T cell response to viral infection.

(*A*) Representative plots (percentages of tetramer<sup>+</sup> cells indicated; gated on CD4 T cells) and numbers of IA<sup>b</sup>GP66-77 tetramer<sup>+</sup> CD4 T cells in the spleens of TG/TG mice and littermate controls on day 10 p.i.. (*B*) Representative plots (gated on CD4 T cells) of IFN- $\gamma$  and TNF- $\alpha$  staining and numbers of IFN- $\gamma^+$  CD4 T cells in the spleen after GP<sub>61-80</sub> peptide stimulation. (*C*) Representative plots (gated on CD4 T cells) of IFN- $\gamma$  and IL-2 staining after peptide stimulation. (*D*) The ratio between IFN- $\gamma^+$  and IA<sup>b</sup>GP66-77 tetramer<sup>+</sup> CD4 T cells in the spleen. (*E-G*) MFIs of IFN- $\gamma$ , TNF- $\alpha$ , and IL-2 in IFN- $\gamma^+$ CD4 T cells.



Figure 3-7. miR-17-92 favors the generation of Th1 effector cells.

(*A*) Representative plots of  $T_{FH}$  staining (percentages of  $T_{FH}$  cells indicated; gated on tetramer<sup>+</sup> CD4 T cells) and frequencies of  $T_{FH}$  cells within tetramer<sup>+</sup> CD4 T cells. (*B*) Numbers of tetramer<sup>+</sup> Th1 and  $T_{FH}$  CD4 T cells. (*C*) Numbers of germinal center B cells. (D-E) Expression of PD-1, Ly6C, and Bcl-6 as measured by MFIs.



Figure 3- 8. miR-17-92 over-expression does not compromise memory CD4 T cell formation.

(*A*) Representative plots (gated on CD4 T cells) and numbers of IA<sup>b</sup>GP66-77 tetramer<sup>+</sup> CD4 T cells in the spleens of knockout mice and littermate controls on day 115 p.i.. (*B*) Representative plots (gated on CD4 T cells) and numbers of IFN- $\gamma^+$  CD4 T cells in the spleen after peptide stimulation. (*C*) Tetramer fluorescence intensity of tetramer<sup>+</sup> CD4 T cells. (*D*) Ratio between IFN- $\gamma^+$  and IA<sup>b</sup>GP66-77 tetramer<sup>+</sup> CD4 T cells. (*E*) and (*F*) MFIs of IFN- $\gamma$  and TNF- $\alpha$  in IFN- $\gamma^+$  CD4 T cells.



Figure 3-9. miR-17-92 influences memory CD4 T cell differentiation.

(*A*) Representative plots of memory CD4 subsets (gated on tetramer<sup>+</sup> CD4 T cells). (*B*) and (*C*) Surface expression of CXCR5 and Ly6C.



Figure 3- 10. miR-17-92 enhances mTOR signaling.

(*A*) Representative histogram of phosphorylated S6 (pS6) staining (numbers indicate the MFIs). Solid lines represent SMARTA cells in each group (MSCV: empty vector transduced; MSCV-miR-17-92: miR-17-92 over-expression construct transduced), and shades represent naïve cells in the same samples. Statistics of pS6 staining MFIs are shown on the right.

## **Chapter 4: Conclusion and Future Directions**

Non-coding RNAs (ncRNAs) are RNAs that do not encode proteins. ncRNAs have been known since the discovery of transport RNAs (tRNAs) and ribosomal RNAs (rRNAs). However, it was not until recently that ncRNAs were shown to regulate gene expression. Since Victor Ambros identified the first miRNA, lin-4, in *Caenorhabditis elegans* in 1993, the regulatory role of ncRNAs has attracted great interest (185). Based on the size of ncRNAs, they can be categorized into two groups: long ncRNAs and small ncRNAs. Long ncRNAs regulate various cellular processes such as chromatin modification, transcriptional regulation, inhibition of miRNA function, and imprinting (295). Small ncRNAs include miRNAs, piwi-interacting RNAs (piRNAs), small-interfering RNAs (siRNAs), small nucleolar RNAs (snoRNAs), etc. (296). The importance of miRNAs in the immune system was first demonstrated by experiments using mice deficient in enzymes critical to miRNA biogenesis (206, 211). Since then, research has focused on understanding the roles of specific miRNAs in the differentiation and function of different immune cell lineages (219, 223). However, the miRNA signatures of T cells responding to viral infections and the specific miRNAs that regulate this process are less clear. In this dissertation, I seek to address the role of miRNAs in the T-cell antiviral immune response.

In Chapter 2, I have demonstrated how miRNAs regulate the CD8 T cell immune response using LCMV acute infection in mice as a model system. First, *Dicer*, a gene encoding an enzyme essential to miRNA biogenesis, was knocked out using Granzyme B-cre. The effector CD8 T cell response was severely compromised in *Dicer* conditional knockout mice due to a cell-autonomous defect (54). In order to identify specific miRNAs that are critical to the effector CD8 T cell response, we profiled miRNA expression in naïve, day 5 and day 8 effectors, as well as memory CD8 T cells. Members of the miR-17-92 cluster and its paralogs were among the most up-regulated miRNAs in proliferating effector CD8 T cells. Interestingly, miR-155, which was later shown by other groups as an important regulator of the CD8 T cell response (221), was also found to be induced after naïve CD8 T cells differentiate into effectors. To examine the role of miR-17-92 in the CD8 T cell response, we conditionally knocked out miR-17-92 in effector CD8 T cells and found that the number of LCMV-specific effector CD8 T cells was reduced by  $\sim 3$  fold. To test whether the two paralogs of miR-17-92 (miR-106a-363) and miR-106b-25) act redundantly, future experiments with triple knockouts of all three clusters seem warranted. In addition to a reduced effector response, knockout mice seemed to generate a slightly higher proportion of memory precursor effector CD8 T cells, at least among those cells specific for the D<sup>b</sup>NP<sub>396-404</sub> epitope. In addition, we used in vitro and in vivo experiments to prove that miR-17-92 drives the clonal expansion of effector CD8 T cells by enhancing T cell proliferation. The importance of miR-17-92 for T cell clonal expansion is also supported by the findings from other groups (212, 271).

It has long been speculated that effector and memory CD8 T cell differentiation is influenced by the magnitude of the primary response. To test whether excessive amounts of miR-17-92 have an impact on CD8 T cell differentiation in addition to clonal expansion, we over-expressed miR-17-92 in LCMV-specific T cells and found that

almost all miR-17-92 over-expressing effector CD8 T cells underwent terminal differentiation. This conclusion was furthered supported by Gene Set Enrichment Analysis, which revealed that the transcriptome of miR-17-92 over-expressing effectors resembled that of terminally differentiated effector cells. Moreover, miR-17-92 overexpressing cells could not generate a stable memory population and failed to develop into central memory cells, which also suggests that excessive miR-17-92 skews virus-specific CD8 T cells towards terminal differentiation. miR-17-92 was the first miRNA cluster shown to function as an oncogene (239). Multiple members of this cluster repress tumor suppressors such as PTEN, BIM, and p21, and promote oncogenesis (233). We did observe a drastic increase in mTOR signaling, which correlated with a decrease in PTEN expression, when over-expressing miR-17-92 in effector CD8 T cells, although downregulation of BIM was not observed. However, virus-specific CD8 T cells overexpressing miR-17-92 did not possess unchecked proliferative and survival capacity as tumor cells, but instead had compromised fitness when transitioning into quiescent memory cells. This suggests that additional checkpoints must exist in effector CD8 T cells to prevent malignancy. For example, the mice used in the experiments demonstrating that miR-17-92 over-expression facilitates the survival of malignant T cells or B cells had additional mutations in oncogenes, such as Myc and Notch (242, 252). In addition, over-expressing miR-17-92 in immature lymphocytes may allow self-reactive lymphocytes to pass thymic selection and to be constitutively stimulated by their cognate antigens when they develop into mature lymphocytes, which may facilitate oncogenesis (253). Besides the fact that additional factors are required for miR-17-92 to transform lymphocytes, it is also worth noting that while aerobic glycolysis is prominent among

cancer cells, this metabolism pattern is only found in effector T cells. Metabolic changes such as returning to the oxidation of glucose and fatty acids are required for effector CD8 T cells to survive the contraction phase and develop into memory T cells (45). The increased contraction observed in miR-17-92 over-expressing CD8 T cells may be explained by the failure of this metabolic transition due to excessive mTOR activity. Therefore, future studies to investigate the mechanisms that prevent rapidly proliferating effector T cells from undergoing oncogenesis seem warranted. In addition to PTEN, we also found that SOCS3, a suppressor of cytokine signaling, was down-regulated by miR-17-92. SOCS3 expression is induced by STAT3 in response to IL10 or IL21 signaling and is critical to CD8 T cell memory development (82). It will be interesting to further elucidate additional downstream targets of miR-17-92 in effector CD8 T cells.

In Chapter 3, the importance of miR-17-92 in the CD4 T cell antiviral immune response was examined. Similar to CD8 T cells, CD4 T cells expanded significantly less following infection in the absence of miR-17-92. The B cell response was also reduced as a result of inadequate CD4 T cell help. Interestingly, loss of miR-17-92 seemed to have a stronger impact on IFN- $\gamma^+$  CD4 T cells, as the ratio between IFN- $\gamma^+$  and tetramer<sup>+</sup> CD4 T cells was lower in knockout mice than controls. Consistently, miR-17-92 over-expression enhanced the CD4 T cell response, and preferentially expanded IFN- $\gamma^+$  CD4 T cells. Moreover, the ratio between CXCR5<sup>+</sup> T<sub>FH</sub> and CXCR5<sup>-</sup> Th1 cells decreased in miR-17-92 over-expressing effector CD4 T cells, as a result of a disproportionate increase in the Th1 response rather than a compromised T<sub>FH</sub> cell response. Interestingly, memory CD4 T cell population appeared to be stable in mice that over-express miR-17-92 in T cells. Since differences in the generation of CD4 and CD8 memory T cells have long been documented (297), it would be interesting to further dissect the molecular mechanisms that cause such differences. In addition, we observed that the Ly6C<sup>+</sup> LCMV-specific CD4 T cell population was reduced when knocking out miR-17-92 and increased when overexpressing miR-17-92. It would require future studies to illustrate the nature of Ly6C<sup>+</sup> effector and memory CD4 T cells and how they are related to antiviral immune responses.

Extensive effort has been made to elucidate the transcriptional mechanisms that regulate the differentiation of different CD4 T cell lineages (171). Transcription factors have been identified as master regulators of different CD4 T cell subsets (e.g. Foxp3 for Treg cells). However, whether master regulator miRNAs exist for each CD4 T cell lineage remains elusive. miRNA flow cytometry or miRNA reporter transgenic mice may serve as useful tools for immunologists to further dissect how translational regulation participates in CD4 T cell lineage commitment (298). Since many miRNAs have been shown to be involved in cell proliferation (299), it would be interesting to examine how the expression of a particular miRNA involved in cell proliferation changes at different phases of the cell cycle. Another challenge in the field is to identify the downstream targets of miRNAs. One miRNA can have hundreds of targets predicted by algorithms (296). These targets need to be verified by experiments such as luciferase reporter assays performed on cell lines (300). Whether a miRNA can suppress the expression of a certain gene depends not only on the existence of the binding site in the 3'UTR of the target transcript, but also on the context of that particular 3'UTR (i.e. the existence of other regulatory elements

including binding sites for other miRNAs). It is obvious that primary immune cells have different expression patterns of translational regulators than cell lines. A miRNA may silence a transcript in a certain subset of immune cells but not other immune cells or cell lines. Therefore, methods such as High-throughput sequencing of RNA isolated by crosslinking immunoprecipitation (HITS-CLIP) performed on primary cells of interest may be more valuable for the identification of direct interactions between miRNAs and target transcripts (301). HITS-CLIP can also identify other machineries that may cooperate with miRNAs in regulating the translation of target transcripts.

In summary, this dissertation has demonstrated that miRNAs are important regulators of the antiviral immune response mediated by T cells. The differentiation of virus-specific effector and memory T cells can be modulated by changing the levels of specific miRNAs, such as miR-17-92. The expression of miR-17-92 is tightly regulated during an antiviral immune response to achieve effective control of viral infection and minimize the chance of autoimmunity or even malignancy. The knowledge obtained from this study and future work on the miR-17-92 signaling network in T cells will not only help us to understand the molecular mechanisms of effector and memory T cell development but also shed light on how the balance between oncogenes and tumor suppressors in somatic cells is shifted during oncogenesis. In addition, this study has also demonstrated the potential to develop more effective vaccination and therapeutic strategies by harnessing miRNA activities.

## **BIBLIOGRAPHY**

- Salvato, M., E. Shimomaye, and M. B. Oldstone. 1989. The primary structure of the lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus L gene encodes a putative RNA polymerase. *Virology* 169: 377-384.
- Burns, J. W., and M. J. Buchmeier. 1991. Protein-protein interactions in lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus. *Virology* 183: 620-629.
- Lee, K. J., M. Perez, D. D. Pinschewer, and J. C. de la Torre. 2002. Identification of the lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus (LCMV) proteins required to rescue LCMV RNA analogs into LCMV-like particles. *J Virol* 76: 6393-6397.
- Borrow, P., and M. B. Oldstone. 1992. Characterization of lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus-binding protein(s): a candidate cellular receptor for the virus. *J Virol* 66: 7270-7281.
- Childs, J. E., G. E. Glass, G. W. Korch, T. G. Ksiazek, and J. W. Leduc. 1992.
   Lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus infection and house mouse (Mus musculus) distribution in urban Baltimore. *Am J Trop Med Hyg* 47: 27-34.
- Buchmeier, M. J., R. M. Welsh, F. J. Dutko, and M. B. Oldstone. 1980. The virology and immunobiology of lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus infection. *Adv Immunol* 30: 275-331.
- Ahmed, R., and M. B. Oldstone. 1988. Organ-specific selection of viral variants during chronic infection. *J Exp Med* 167: 1719-1724.
- Ahmed, R., A. Salmi, L. D. Butler, J. M. Chiller, and M. B. Oldstone. 1984.
   Selection of genetic variants of lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus in spleens of

persistently infected mice. Role in suppression of cytotoxic T lymphocyte response and viral persistence. *J Exp Med* 160: 521-540.

- Sullivan, B. M., S. F. Emonet, M. J. Welch, A. M. Lee, K. P. Campbell, J. C. de la Torre, and M. B. Oldstone. 2011. Point mutation in the glycoprotein of lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus is necessary for receptor binding, dendritic cell infection, and long-term persistence. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 108: 2969-2974.
- Salvato, M., E. Shimomaye, P. Southern, and M. B. Oldstone. 1988. Viruslymphocyte interactions. IV. Molecular characterization of LCMV Armstrong (CTL+) small genomic segment and that of its variant, Clone 13 (CTL-). *Virology* 164: 517-522.
- Butz, E. A., and M. J. Bevan. 1998. Massive expansion of antigen-specific CD8+
   T cells during an acute virus infection. *Immunity* 8: 167-175.
- Murali-Krishna, K., J. D. Altman, M. Suresh, D. J. Sourdive, A. J. Zajac, J. D.
   Miller, J. Slansky, and R. Ahmed. 1998. Counting antigen-specific CD8 T cells: a reevaluation of bystander activation during viral infection. *Immunity* 8: 177-187.
- Williams, M. A., and M. J. Bevan. 2007. Effector and memory CTL differentiation. *Annu Rev Immunol* 25: 171-192.
- von Andrian, U. H., and T. R. Mempel. 2003. Homing and cellular traffic in lymph nodes. *Nat Rev Immunol* 3: 867-878.
- 15. Probst, H. C., and M. van den Broek. 2005. Priming of CTLs by lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus depends on dendritic cells. *J Immunol* 174: 3920-3924.

- Sallusto, F., P. Schaerli, P. Loetscher, C. Schaniel, D. Lenig, C. R. Mackay, S. Qin, and A. Lanzavecchia. 1998. Rapid and coordinated switch in chemokine receptor expression during dendritic cell maturation. *Eur J Immunol* 28: 2760-2769.
- Miller, M. J., S. H. Wei, M. D. Cahalan, and I. Parker. 2003. Autonomous T cell trafficking examined in vivo with intravital two-photon microscopy. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 100: 2604-2609.
- Bousso, P., and E. Robey. 2003. Dynamics of CD8+ T cell priming by dendritic cells in intact lymph nodes. *Nat Immunol* 4: 579-585.
- Mempel, T. R., S. E. Henrickson, and U. H. Von Andrian. 2004. T-cell priming by dendritic cells in lymph nodes occurs in three distinct phases. *Nature* 427: 154-159.
- 20. Murphy, K., P. Travers, M. Walport, and C. Janeway. 2008. *Janeway's immunobiology*. Garland Science, New York.
- Dustin, M. L., and E. O. Long. 2010. Cytotoxic immunological synapses. *Immunol Rev* 235: 24-34.
- Pipkin, M. E., J. A. Sacks, F. Cruz-Guilloty, M. G. Lichtenheld, M. J. Bevan, and A. Rao. 2010. Interleukin-2 and inflammation induce distinct transcriptional programs that promote the differentiation of effector cytolytic T cells. *Immunity* 32: 79-90.
- Zhang, N., and M. J. Bevan. 2011. CD8(+) T cells: foot soldiers of the immune system. *Immunity* 35: 161-168.

- 24. van Stipdonk, M. J., E. E. Lemmens, and S. P. Schoenberger. 2001. Naive CTLs require a single brief period of antigenic stimulation for clonal expansion and differentiation. *Nat Immunol* 2: 423-429.
- van Stipdonk, M. J., G. Hardenberg, M. S. Bijker, E. E. Lemmens, N. M. Droin,
  D. R. Green, and S. P. Schoenberger. 2003. Dynamic programming of CD8+ T
  lymphocyte responses. *Nat Immunol* 4: 361-365.
- Kaech, S. M., and R. Ahmed. 2001. Memory CD8+ T cell differentiation: initial antigen encounter triggers a developmental program in naive cells. *Nat Immunol* 2: 415-422.
- Mercado, R., S. Vijh, S. E. Allen, K. Kerksiek, I. M. Pilip, and E. G. Pamer. 2000.
   Early programming of T cell populations responding to bacterial infection. *J Immunol* 165: 6833-6839.
- Prlic, M., G. Hernandez-Hoyos, and M. J. Bevan. 2006. Duration of the initial TCR stimulus controls the magnitude but not functionality of the CD8+ T cell response. *J Exp Med* 203: 2135-2143.
- Zehn, D., S. Y. Lee, and M. J. Bevan. 2009. Complete but curtailed T-cell response to very low-affinity antigen. *Nature* 458: 211-214.
- 30. Hall, J. G., and B. Morris. 1965. The immediate effect of antigens on the cell output of a lymph node. *Br J Exp Pathol* 46: 450-454.
- Matloubian, M., C. G. Lo, G. Cinamon, M. J. Lesneski, Y. Xu, V. Brinkmann, M. L. Allende, R. L. Proia, and J. G. Cyster. 2004. Lymphocyte egress from thymus and peripheral lymphoid organs is dependent on S1P receptor 1. *Nature* 427: 355-360.

- 32. Korngold, R., K. J. Blank, and D. M. Murasko. 1983. Effect of interferon on thoracic duct lymphocyte output: induction with either poly I:poly C or vaccinia virus. *J Immunol* 130: 2236-2240.
- 33. Shiow, L. R., D. B. Rosen, N. Brdickova, Y. Xu, J. An, L. L. Lanier, J. G. Cyster, and M. Matloubian. 2006. CD69 acts downstream of interferon-alpha/beta to inhibit S1P1 and lymphocyte egress from lymphoid organs. *Nature* 440: 540-544.
- Sinclair, L. V., D. Finlay, C. Feijoo, G. H. Cornish, A. Gray, A. Ager, K.
  Okkenhaug, T. J. Hagenbeek, H. Spits, and D. A. Cantrell. 2008.
  Phosphatidylinositol-3-OH kinase and nutrient-sensing mTOR pathways control T lymphocyte trafficking. *Nat Immunol* 9: 513-521.
- Liu, L., R. C. Fuhlbrigge, K. Karibian, T. Tian, and T. S. Kupper. 2006. Dynamic programming of CD8+ T cell trafficking after live viral immunization. *Immunity* 25: 511-520.
- 36. Hu, J. K., T. Kagari, J. M. Clingan, and M. Matloubian. 2011. Expression of chemokine receptor CXCR3 on T cells affects the balance between effector and memory CD8 T-cell generation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 108: E118-127.
- Nakanishi, Y., B. Lu, C. Gerard, and A. Iwasaki. 2009. CD8(+) T lymphocyte mobilization to virus-infected tissue requires CD4(+) T-cell help. *Nature* 462: 510-513.
- 38. Kang, S. S., J. Herz, J. V. Kim, D. Nayak, P. Stewart-Hutchinson, M. L. Dustin, and D. B. McGavern. 2011. Migration of cytotoxic lymphocytes in cell cycle permits local MHC I-dependent control of division at sites of viral infection. J Exp Med 208: 747-759.

- Bedoui, S., and T. Gebhardt. 2011. Interaction between dendritic cells and T cells during peripheral virus infections: a role for antigen presentation beyond lymphoid organs? *Curr Opin Immunol* 23: 124-130.
- 40. Michalek, R. D., and J. C. Rathmell. 2010. The metabolic life and times of a Tcell. *Immunol Rev* 236: 190-202.
- Wang, R., C. P. Dillon, L. Z. Shi, S. Milasta, R. Carter, D. Finkelstein, L. L. McCormick, P. Fitzgerald, H. Chi, J. Munger, and D. R. Green. 2011. The transcription factor Myc controls metabolic reprogramming upon T lymphocyte activation. *Immunity* 35: 871-882.
- 42. Grumont, R., P. Lock, M. Mollinari, F. M. Shannon, A. Moore, and S. Gerondakis.
  2004. The mitogen-induced increase in T cell size involves PKC and NFAT activation of Rel/NF-kappaB-dependent c-myc expression. *Immunity* 21: 19-30.
- van der Windt, G. J., B. Everts, C. H. Chang, J. D. Curtis, T. C. Freitas, E. Amiel,
  E. J. Pearce, and E. L. Pearce. 2012. Mitochondrial respiratory capacity is a
  critical regulator of CD8+ T cell memory development. *Immunity* 36: 68-78.
- Pearce, E. L., M. C. Walsh, P. J. Cejas, G. M. Harms, H. Shen, L. S. Wang, R. G. Jones, and Y. Choi. 2009. Enhancing CD8 T-cell memory by modulating fatty acid metabolism. *Nature* 460: 103-107.
- 45. Wang, R., and D. R. Green. 2012. Metabolic reprogramming and metabolic dependency in T cells. *Immunol Rev* 249: 14-26.
- 46. Carr, E. L., A. Kelman, G. S. Wu, R. Gopaul, E. Senkevitch, A. Aghvanyan, A. M. Turay, and K. A. Frauwirth. 2010. Glutamine uptake and metabolism are

coordinately regulated by ERK/MAPK during T lymphocyte activation. *J Immunol* 185: 1037-1044.

- 47. Marko, A. J., R. A. Miller, A. Kelman, and K. A. Frauwirth. 2010. Induction of glucose metabolism in stimulated T lymphocytes is regulated by mitogenactivated protein kinase signaling. *PLoS One* 5: e15425.
- 48. Rao, R. R., Q. Li, K. Odunsi, and P. A. Shrikant. 2010. The mTOR kinase determines effector versus memory CD8+ T cell fate by regulating the expression of transcription factors T-bet and Eomesodermin. *Immunity* 32: 67-78.
- Araki, K., A. P. Turner, V. O. Shaffer, S. Gangappa, S. A. Keller, M. F. Bachmann, C. P. Larsen, and R. Ahmed. 2009. mTOR regulates memory CD8 Tcell differentiation. *Nature* 460: 108-112.
- Kaech, S. M., and E. J. Wherry. 2007. Heterogeneity and cell-fate decisions in effector and memory CD8+ T cell differentiation during viral infection. *Immunity* 27: 393-405.
- 51. Gerlach, C., J. W. van Heijst, E. Swart, D. Sie, N. Armstrong, R. M. Kerkhoven,
  D. Zehn, M. J. Bevan, K. Schepers, and T. N. Schumacher. 2010. One naive T
  cell, multiple fates in CD8+ T cell differentiation. *J Exp Med* 207: 1235-1246.
- 52. Stemberger, C., K. M. Huster, M. Koffler, F. Anderl, M. Schiemann, H. Wagner, and D. H. Busch. 2007. A single naive CD8+ T cell precursor can develop into diverse effector and memory subsets. *Immunity* 27: 985-997.
- 53. Harrington, L. E., K. M. Janowski, J. R. Oliver, A. J. Zajac, and C. T. Weaver.
  2008. Memory CD4 T cells emerge from effector T-cell progenitors. *Nature* 452: 356-360.

- Jacob, J., and D. Baltimore. 1999. Modelling T-cell memory by genetic marking of memory T cells in vivo. *Nature* 399: 593-597.
- 55. Bannard, O., M. Kraman, and D. T. Fearon. 2009. Secondary replicative function of CD8+ T cells that had developed an effector phenotype. *Science* 323: 505-509.
- Wherry, E. J., and R. Ahmed. 2004. Memory CD8 T-cell differentiation during viral infection. *J Virol* 78: 5535-5545.
- 57. Joshi, N. S., W. Cui, A. Chandele, H. K. Lee, D. R. Urso, J. Hagman, L. Gapin, and S. M. Kaech. 2007. Inflammation directs memory precursor and short-lived effector CD8(+) T cell fates via the graded expression of T-bet transcription factor. *Immunity* 27: 281-295.
- Kaech, S. M., J. T. Tan, E. J. Wherry, B. T. Konieczny, C. D. Surh, and R.
   Ahmed. 2003. Selective expression of the interleukin 7 receptor identifies effector
   CD8 T cells that give rise to long-lived memory cells. *Nat Immunol* 4: 1191-1198.
- 59. Sarkar, S., V. Kalia, W. N. Haining, B. T. Konieczny, S. Subramaniam, and R. Ahmed. 2008. Functional and genomic profiling of effector CD8 T cell subsets with distinct memory fates. *J Exp Med* 205: 625-640.
- 60. Wilson, D. C., S. Matthews, and G. S. Yap. 2008. IL-12 signaling drives CD8+ T cell IFN-gamma production and differentiation of KLRG1+ effector subpopulations during Toxoplasma gondii Infection. *J Immunol* 180: 5935-5945.
- Huster, K. M., V. Busch, M. Schiemann, K. Linkemann, K. M. Kerksiek, H.
  Wagner, and D. H. Busch. 2004. Selective expression of IL-7 receptor on memory T cells identifies early CD40L-dependent generation of distinct CD8+ memory T cell subsets. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 101: 5610-5615.

- 62. Cui, W., and S. M. Kaech. 2010. Generation of effector CD8+ T cells and their conversion to memory T cells. *Immunol Rev* 236: 151-166.
- Kalia, V., S. Sarkar, S. Subramaniam, W. N. Haining, K. A. Smith, and R. Ahmed.
   2010. Prolonged interleukin-2Ralpha expression on virus-specific CD8+ T cells favors terminal-effector differentiation in vivo. *Immunity* 32: 91-103.
- 64. Chang, J. T., V. R. Palanivel, I. Kinjyo, F. Schambach, A. M. Intlekofer, A. Banerjee, S. A. Longworth, K. E. Vinup, P. Mrass, J. Oliaro, N. Killeen, J. S. Orange, S. M. Russell, W. Weninger, and S. L. Reiner. 2007. Asymmetric T lymphocyte division in the initiation of adaptive immune responses. *Science* 315: 1687-1691.
- Badovinac, V. P., K. A. Messingham, A. Jabbari, J. S. Haring, and J. T. Harty.
   2005. Accelerated CD8+ T-cell memory and prime-boost response after dendriticcell vaccination. *Nat Med* 11: 748-756.
- Marzo, A. L., K. D. Klonowski, A. Le Bon, P. Borrow, D. F. Tough, and L. Lefrancois. 2005. Initial T cell frequency dictates memory CD8+ T cell lineage commitment. *Nat Immunol* 6: 793-799.
- Mousavi, S. F., P. Soroosh, T. Takahashi, Y. Yoshikai, H. Shen, L. Lefrancois, J. Borst, K. Sugamura, and N. Ishii. 2008. OX40 costimulatory signals potentiate the memory commitment of effector CD8+ T cells. *J Immunol* 181: 5990-6001.
- Hendriks, J., L. A. Gravestein, K. Tesselaar, R. A. van Lier, T. N. Schumacher, and J. Borst. 2000. CD27 is required for generation and long-term maintenance of T cell immunity. *Nat Immunol* 1: 433-440.

- 69. Hendriks, J., Y. Xiao, J. W. Rossen, K. F. van der Sluijs, K. Sugamura, N. Ishii, and J. Borst. 2005. During viral infection of the respiratory tract, CD27, 4-1BB, and OX40 collectively determine formation of CD8+ memory T cells and their capacity for secondary expansion. *J Immunol* 175: 1665-1676.
- Pulle, G., M. Vidric, and T. H. Watts. 2006. IL-15-dependent induction of 4-1BB promotes antigen-independent CD8 memory T cell survival. *J Immunol* 176: 2739-2748.
- Rubinstein, M. P., N. A. Lind, J. F. Purton, P. Filippou, J. A. Best, P. A. McGhee,
  C. D. Surh, and A. W. Goldrath. 2008. IL-7 and IL-15 differentially regulate
  CD8+ T-cell subsets during contraction of the immune response. *Blood* 112:
  3704-3712.
- 72. Obar, J. J., M. J. Molloy, E. R. Jellison, T. A. Stoklasek, W. Zhang, E. J. Usherwood, and L. Lefrancois. 2010. CD4+ T cell regulation of CD25 expression controls development of short-lived effector CD8+ T cells in primary and secondary responses. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 107: 193-198.
- Badovinac, V. P., B. B. Porter, and J. T. Harty. 2004. CD8+ T cell contraction is controlled by early inflammation. *Nat Immunol* 5: 809-817.
- Sanjabi, S., M. M. Mosaheb, and R. A. Flavell. 2009. Opposing effects of TGFbeta and IL-15 cytokines control the number of short-lived effector CD8+ T cells. *Immunity* 31: 131-144.
- Macintyre, A. N., D. Finlay, G. Preston, L. V. Sinclair, C. M. Waugh, P. Tamas,
   C. Feijoo, K. Okkenhaug, and D. A. Cantrell. 2011. Protein kinase B controls

transcriptional programs that direct cytotoxic T cell fate but is dispensable for T cell metabolism. *Immunity* 34: 224-236.

- 76. Hand, T. W., W. Cui, Y. W. Jung, E. Sefik, N. S. Joshi, A. Chandele, Y. Liu, and S. M. Kaech. 2010. Differential effects of STAT5 and PI3K/AKT signaling on effector and memory CD8 T-cell survival. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 107: 16601-16606.
- 77. Malek, T. R., and I. Castro. 2010. Interleukin-2 receptor signaling: at the interface between tolerance and immunity. *Immunity* 33: 153-165.
- 78. Kallies, A., A. Xin, G. T. Belz, and S. L. Nutt. 2009. Blimp-1 transcription factor is required for the differentiation of effector CD8(+) T cells and memory responses. *Immunity* 31: 283-295.
- 79. Rutishauser, R. L., G. A. Martins, S. Kalachikov, A. Chandele, I. A. Parish, E. Meffre, J. Jacob, K. Calame, and S. M. Kaech. 2009. Transcriptional repressor Blimp-1 promotes CD8(+) T cell terminal differentiation and represses the acquisition of central memory T cell properties. *Immunity* 31: 296-308.
- Martins, G., and K. Calame. 2008. Regulation and functions of Blimp-1 in T and B lymphocytes. *Annu Rev Immunol* 26: 133-169.
- Ichii, H., A. Sakamoto, M. Hatano, S. Okada, H. Toyama, S. Taki, M. Arima, Y. Kuroda, and T. Tokuhisa. 2002. Role for Bcl-6 in the generation and maintenance of memory CD8+ T cells. *Nat Immunol* 3: 558-563.
- Cui, W., Y. Liu, J. S. Weinstein, J. Craft, and S. M. Kaech. 2011. An interleukin-21-interleukin-10-STAT3 pathway is critical for functional maturation of memory CD8+ T cells. *Immunity* 35: 792-805.

- Banerjee, A., S. M. Gordon, A. M. Intlekofer, M. A. Paley, E. C. Mooney, T. Lindsten, E. J. Wherry, and S. L. Reiner. 2010. Cutting edge: The transcription factor eomesodermin enables CD8+ T cells to compete for the memory cell niche. *J Immunol* 185: 4988-4992.
- 84. Gattinoni, L., Y. Ji, and N. P. Restifo. 2010. Wnt/beta-catenin signaling in T-cell immunity and cancer immunotherapy. *Clin Cancer Res* 16: 4695-4701.
- 85. Gattinoni, L., X. S. Zhong, D. C. Palmer, Y. Ji, C. S. Hinrichs, Z. Yu, C.
  Wrzesinski, A. Boni, L. Cassard, L. M. Garvin, C. M. Paulos, P. Muranski, and N.
  P. Restifo. 2009. Wnt signaling arrests effector T cell differentiation and generates CD8+ memory stem cells. *Nat Med* 15: 808-813.
- 86. Zhou, X., S. Yu, D. M. Zhao, J. T. Harty, V. P. Badovinac, and H. H. Xue. 2010.
  Differentiation and persistence of memory CD8(+) T cells depend on T cell factor
  1. *Immunity* 33: 229-240.
- Quong, M. W., W. J. Romanow, and C. Murre. 2002. E protein function in lymphocyte development. *Annu Rev Immunol* 20: 301-322.
- Lazorchak, A., M. E. Jones, and Y. Zhuang. 2005. New insights into E-protein function in lymphocyte development. *Trends Immunol* 26: 334-338.
- Cannarile, M. A., N. A. Lind, R. Rivera, A. D. Sheridan, K. A. Camfield, B. B.
   Wu, K. P. Cheung, Z. Ding, and A. W. Goldrath. 2006. Transcriptional regulator
   Id2 mediates CD8+ T cell immunity. *Nat Immunol* 7: 1317-1325.
- Yang, C. Y., J. A. Best, J. Knell, E. Yang, A. D. Sheridan, A. K. Jesionek, H. S.
   Li, R. R. Rivera, K. C. Lind, L. M. D'Cruz, S. S. Watowich, C. Murre, and A. W.

Goldrath. 2011. The transcriptional regulators Id2 and Id3 control the formation of distinct memory CD8+ T cell subsets. *Nat Immunol* 12: 1221-1229.

- 91. Ji, Y., Z. Pos, M. Rao, C. A. Klebanoff, Z. Yu, M. Sukumar, R. N. Reger, D. C.
  Palmer, Z. A. Borman, P. Muranski, E. Wang, D. S. Schrump, F. M. Marincola, N.
  P. Restifo, and L. Gattinoni. 2011. Repression of the DNA-binding inhibitor Id3
  by Blimp-1 limits the formation of memory CD8+ T cells. *Nat Immunol* 12: 1230-1237.
- 92. Choo, D. K., K. Murali-Krishna, R. Anita, and R. Ahmed. 2010. Homeostatic turnover of virus-specific memory CD8 T cells occurs stochastically and is independent of CD4 T cell help. *J Immunol* 185: 3436-3444.
- 93. Becker, T. C., E. J. Wherry, D. Boone, K. Murali-Krishna, R. Antia, A. Ma, and R. Ahmed. 2002. Interleukin 15 is required for proliferative renewal of virus-specific memory CD8 T cells. *J Exp Med* 195: 1541-1548.
- 94. Mortier, E., R. Advincula, L. Kim, S. Chmura, J. Barrera, B. Reizis, B. A. Malynn, and A. Ma. 2009. Macrophage- and dendritic-cell-derived interleukin-15 receptor alpha supports homeostasis of distinct CD8+ T cell subsets. *Immunity* 31: 811-822.
- 95. Mazo, I. B., M. Honczarenko, H. Leung, L. L. Cavanagh, R. Bonasio, W.
  Weninger, K. Engelke, L. Xia, R. P. McEver, P. A. Koni, L. E. Silberstein, and U.
  H. von Andrian. 2005. Bone marrow is a major reservoir and site of recruitment for central memory CD8+ T cells. *Immunity* 22: 259-270.

- Kaech, S. M., E. J. Wherry, and R. Ahmed. 2002. Effector and memory T-cell differentiation: implications for vaccine development. *Nat Rev Immunol* 2: 251-262.
- 97. Agarwal, S., and A. Rao. 1998. Modulation of chromatin structure regulates cytokine gene expression during T cell differentiation. *Immunity* 9: 765-775.
- DiSpirito, J. R., and H. Shen. 2010. Quick to remember, slow to forget: rapid recall responses of memory CD8+ T cells. *Cell Res* 20: 13-23.
- 99. Slifka, M. K., and J. L. Whitton. 2001. Functional avidity maturation of CD8(+) T cells without selection of higher affinity TCR. *Nat Immunol* 2: 711-717.
- 100. Berg, R. E., E. Crossley, S. Murray, and J. Forman. 2003. Memory CD8+ T cells provide innate immune protection against Listeria monocytogenes in the absence of cognate antigen. *J Exp Med* 198: 1583-1593.
- 101. Moser, B., and P. Loetscher. 2001. Lymphocyte traffic control by chemokines.*Nat Immunol* 2: 123-128.
- 102. Sung, J. H., H. Zhang, E. A. Moseman, D. Alvarez, M. Iannacone, S. E. Henrickson, J. C. de la Torre, J. R. Groom, A. D. Luster, and U. H. von Andrian.
  2012. Chemokine guidance of central memory T cells is critical for antiviral recall responses in lymph nodes. *Cell* 150: 1249-1263.
- 103. Sallusto, F., D. Lenig, R. Forster, M. Lipp, and A. Lanzavecchia. 1999. Two subsets of memory T lymphocytes with distinct homing potentials and effector functions. *Nature* 401: 708-712.

- Masopust, D., V. Vezys, A. L. Marzo, and L. Lefrancois. 2001. Preferential localization of effector memory cells in nonlymphoid tissue. *Science* 291: 2413-2417.
- Sheridan, B. S., and L. Lefrancois. 2011. Regional and mucosal memory T cells. *Nat Immunol* 12: 485-491.
- Lefrancois, L., and L. Puddington. 2006. Intestinal and pulmonary mucosal T cells: local heroes fight to maintain the status quo. *Annu Rev Immunol* 24: 681-704.
- Lefrancois, L. 2006. Development, trafficking, and function of memory T-cell subsets. *Immunol Rev* 211: 93-103.
- Woodland, D. L., and J. E. Kohlmeier. 2009. Migration, maintenance and recall of memory T cells in peripheral tissues. *Nat Rev Immunol* 9: 153-161.
- Sallusto, F., and A. Lanzavecchia. 2001. Exploring pathways for memory T cell generation. *J Clin Invest* 108: 805-806.
- Lefrancois, L., and A. L. Marzo. 2006. The descent of memory T-cell subsets. *Nat Rev Immunol* 6: 618-623.
- Baron, V., C. Bouneaud, A. Cumano, A. Lim, T. P. Arstila, P. Kourilsky, L.
  Ferradini, and C. Pannetier. 2003. The repertoires of circulating human CD8(+)
  central and effector memory T cell subsets are largely distinct. *Immunity* 18: 193-204.
- 112. Bouneaud, C., Z. Garcia, P. Kourilsky, and C. Pannetier. 2005. Lineage relationships, homeostasis, and recall capacities of central- and effector-memory CD8 T cells in vivo. J Exp Med 201: 579-590.

- 113. Zaph, C., K. A. Rook, M. Goldschmidt, M. Mohrs, P. Scott, and D. Artis. 2006.
   Persistence and function of central and effector memory CD4+ T cells following infection with a gastrointestinal helminth. *J Immunol* 177: 511-518.
- 114. Marzo, A. L., H. Yagita, and L. Lefrancois. 2007. Cutting edge: migration to nonlymphoid tissues results in functional conversion of central to effector memory CD8 T cells. *J Immunol* 179: 36-40.
- 115. Kohlmeier, J. E., S. C. Miller, and D. L. Woodland. 2007. Cutting edge: Antigen is not required for the activation and maintenance of virus-specific memory CD8+
   T cells in the lung airways. *J Immunol* 178: 4721-4725.
- 116. Klonowski, K. D., K. J. Williams, A. L. Marzo, D. A. Blair, E. G. Lingenheld, and L. Lefrancois. 2004. Dynamics of blood-borne CD8 memory T cell migration in vivo. *Immunity* 20: 551-562.
- Masopust, D., D. Choo, V. Vezys, E. J. Wherry, J. Duraiswamy, R. Akondy, J. Wang, K. A. Casey, D. L. Barber, K. S. Kawamura, K. A. Fraser, R. J. Webby, V. Brinkmann, E. C. Butcher, K. A. Newell, and R. Ahmed. 2010. Dynamic T cell migration program provides resident memory within intestinal epithelium. *J Exp Med* 207: 553-564.
- 118. Poussier, P., P. Edouard, C. Lee, M. Binnie, and M. Julius. 1992. Thymusindependent development and negative selection of T cells expressing T cell receptor alpha/beta in the intestinal epithelium: evidence for distinct circulation patterns of gut- and thymus-derived T lymphocytes. *J Exp Med* 176: 187-199.

- 119. Wakim, L. M., J. Waithman, N. van Rooijen, W. R. Heath, and F. R. Carbone.
  2008. Dendritic cell-induced memory T cell activation in nonlymphoid tissues. *Science* 319: 198-202.
- 120. Khanna, K. M., R. H. Bonneau, P. R. Kinchington, and R. L. Hendricks. 2003. Herpes simplex virus-specific memory CD8+ T cells are selectively activated and retained in latently infected sensory ganglia. *Immunity* 18: 593-603.
- 121. Sheridan, B. S., K. M. Khanna, G. M. Frank, and R. L. Hendricks. 2006. Latent virus influences the generation and maintenance of CD8+ T cell memory. *J Immunol* 177: 8356-8364.
- 122. Gebhardt, T., L. M. Wakim, L. Eidsmo, P. C. Reading, W. R. Heath, and F. R. Carbone. 2009. Memory T cells in nonlymphoid tissue that provide enhanced local immunity during infection with herpes simplex virus. *Nat Immunol* 10: 524-530.
- 123. Kim, S. K., D. S. Reed, W. R. Heath, F. Carbone, and L. Lefrancois. 1997.
  Activation and migration of CD8 T cells in the intestinal mucosa. *J Immunol* 159: 4295-4306.
- 124. Wakim, L. M., A. Woodward-Davis, and M. J. Bevan. 2010. Memory T cells persisting within the brain after local infection show functional adaptations to their tissue of residence. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 107: 17872-17879.
- 125. Wakim, L. M., A. Woodward-Davis, R. Liu, Y. Hu, J. Villadangos, G. Smyth, and M. J. Bevan. 2012. The molecular signature of tissue resident memory CD8 T cells isolated from the brain. *J Immunol* 189: 3462-3471.

- Jiang, X., R. A. Clark, L. Liu, A. J. Wagers, R. C. Fuhlbrigge, and T. S. Kupper.
  2012. Skin infection generates non-migratory memory CD8+ T(RM) cells
  providing global skin immunity. *Nature* 483: 227-231.
- 127. Mackay, L. K., A. T. Stock, J. Z. Ma, C. M. Jones, S. J. Kent, S. N. Mueller, W. R. Heath, F. R. Carbone, and T. Gebhardt. 2012. Long-lived epithelial immunity by tissue-resident memory T (TRM) cells in the absence of persisting local antigen presentation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 109: 7037-7042.
- 128. Batista, F. D., and N. E. Harwood. 2009. The who, how and where of antigen presentation to B cells. *Nat Rev Immunol* 9: 15-27.
- McHeyzer-Williams, M., S. Okitsu, N. Wang, and L. McHeyzer-Williams. 2012.
   Molecular programming of B cell memory. *Nat Rev Immunol* 12: 24-34.
- 130. Damdinsuren, B., Y. Zhang, A. Khalil, W. H. Wood, 3rd, K. G. Becker, M. J. Shlomchik, and R. Sen. 2010. Single round of antigen receptor signaling programs naive B cells to receive T cell help. *Immunity* 32: 355-366.
- Reif, K., E. H. Ekland, L. Ohl, H. Nakano, M. Lipp, R. Forster, and J. G. Cyster.
   2002. Balanced responsiveness to chemoattractants from adjacent zones determines B-cell position. *Nature* 416: 94-99.
- Hannedouche, S., J. Zhang, T. Yi, W. Shen, D. Nguyen, J. P. Pereira, D. Guerini,
  B. U. Baumgarten, S. Roggo, B. Wen, R. Knochenmuss, S. Noel, F. Gessier, L. M.
  Kelly, M. Vanek, S. Laurent, I. Preuss, C. Miault, I. Christen, R. Karuna, W. Li,
  D. I. Koo, T. Suply, C. Schmedt, E. C. Peters, R. Falchetto, A. Katopodis, C.
  Spanka, M. O. Roy, M. Detheux, Y. A. Chen, P. G. Schultz, C. Y. Cho, K.

Seuwen, J. G. Cyster, and A. W. Sailer. 2011. Oxysterols direct immune cell migration via EBI2. *Nature* 475: 524-527.

- 133. Liu, C., X. V. Yang, J. Wu, C. Kuei, N. S. Mani, L. Zhang, J. Yu, S. W. Sutton, N. Qin, H. Banie, L. Karlsson, S. Sun, and T. W. Lovenberg. 2011. Oxysterols direct B-cell migration through EBI2. *Nature* 475: 519-523.
- 134. Stavnezer, J., J. E. Guikema, and C. E. Schrader. 2008. Mechanism and regulation of class switch recombination. *Annu Rev Immunol* 26: 261-292.
- 135. Jacob, J., R. Kassir, and G. Kelsoe. 1991. In situ studies of the primary immune response to (4-hydroxy-3-nitrophenyl)acetyl. I. The architecture and dynamics of responding cell populations. *J Exp Med* 173: 1165-1175.
- Vinuesa, C. G., and J. G. Cyster. 2011. How T cells earn the follicular rite of passage. *Immunity* 35: 671-680.
- Allen, C. D., T. Okada, and J. G. Cyster. 2007. Germinal-center organization and cellular dynamics. *Immunity* 27: 190-202.
- Millikin, P. D. 1966. Anatomy of germinal centers in human lymphoid tissue.
   Arch Pathol 82: 499-505.
- Peled, J. U., F. L. Kuang, M. D. Iglesias-Ussel, S. Roa, S. L. Kalis, M. F.
  Goodman, and M. D. Scharff. 2008. The biochemistry of somatic hypermutation. *Annu Rev Immunol* 26: 481-511.
- 140. Allen, C. D., K. M. Ansel, C. Low, R. Lesley, H. Tamamura, N. Fujii, and J. G. Cyster. 2004. Germinal center dark and light zone organization is mediated by CXCR4 and CXCR5. *Nat Immunol* 5: 943-952.

- 141. Crotty, S. 2011. Follicular helper CD4 T cells (TFH). Annu Rev Immunol 29: 621-663.
- Schaerli, P., K. Willimann, A. B. Lang, M. Lipp, P. Loetscher, and B. Moser.
  2000. CXC chemokine receptor 5 expression defines follicular homing T cells with B cell helper function. *J Exp Med* 192: 1553-1562.
- 143. Kim, C. H., L. S. Rott, I. Clark-Lewis, D. J. Campbell, L. Wu, and E. C. Butcher.
  2001. Subspecialization of CXCR5+ T cells: B helper activity is focused in a germinal center-localized subset of CXCR5+ T cells. *J Exp Med* 193: 1373-1381.
- Breitfeld, D., L. Ohl, E. Kremmer, J. Ellwart, F. Sallusto, M. Lipp, and R. Forster.
  2000. Follicular B helper T cells express CXC chemokine receptor 5, localize to
  B cell follicles, and support immunoglobulin production. *J Exp Med* 192: 1545-1552.
- 145. Ansel, K. M., L. J. McHeyzer-Williams, V. N. Ngo, M. G. McHeyzer-Williams, and J. G. Cyster. 1999. In vivo-activated CD4 T cells upregulate CXC chemokine receptor 5 and reprogram their response to lymphoid chemokines. *J Exp Med* 190: 1123-1134.
- Haynes, N. M., C. D. Allen, R. Lesley, K. M. Ansel, N. Killeen, and J. G. Cyster.
  2007. Role of CXCR5 and CCR7 in follicular Th cell positioning and appearance of a programmed cell death gene-1high germinal center-associated subpopulation. *J Immunol* 179: 5099-5108.
- 147. Kitano, M., S. Moriyama, Y. Ando, M. Hikida, Y. Mori, T. Kurosaki, and T.
  Okada. 2011. Bcl6 protein expression shapes pre-germinal center B cell dynamics and follicular helper T cell heterogeneity. *Immunity* 34: 961-972.

- 148. Kerfoot, S. M., G. Yaari, J. R. Patel, K. L. Johnson, D. G. Gonzalez, S. H. Kleinstein, and A. M. Haberman. 2011. Germinal center B cell and T follicular helper cell development initiates in the interfollicular zone. *Immunity* 34: 947-960.
- 149. Victora, G. D., T. A. Schwickert, D. R. Fooksman, A. O. Kamphorst, M. Meyer-Hermann, M. L. Dustin, and M. C. Nussenzweig. 2010. Germinal center dynamics revealed by multiphoton microscopy with a photoactivatable fluorescent reporter. *Cell* 143: 592-605.
- 150. Choe, J., H. S. Kim, X. Zhang, R. J. Armitage, and Y. S. Choi. 1996. Cellular and molecular factors that regulate the differentiation and apoptosis of germinal center B cells. Anti-Ig down-regulates Fas expression of CD40 ligand-stimulated germinal center B cells and inhibits Fas-mediated apoptosis. *J Immunol* 157: 1006-1016.
- Arpin, C., J. Dechanet, C. Van Kooten, P. Merville, G. Grouard, F. Briere, J.
   Banchereau, and Y. J. Liu. 1995. Generation of memory B cells and plasma cells in vitro. *Science* 268: 720-722.
- 152. Randall, T. D., A. W. Heath, L. Santos-Argumedo, M. C. Howard, I. L. Weissman, and F. E. Lund. 1998. Arrest of B lymphocyte terminal differentiation by CD40 signaling: mechanism for lack of antibody-secreting cells in germinal centers. *Immunity* 8: 733-742.
- Foy, T. M., J. D. Laman, J. A. Ledbetter, A. Aruffo, E. Claassen, and R. J. Noelle.
   1994. gp39-CD40 interactions are essential for germinal center formation and the development of B cell memory. *J Exp Med* 180: 157-163.
- Han, S., K. Hathcock, B. Zheng, T. B. Kepler, R. Hodes, and G. Kelsoe. 1995.
   Cellular interaction in germinal centers. Roles of CD40 ligand and B7-2 in established germinal centers. *J Immunol* 155: 556-567.
- 155. Yusuf, I., R. Kageyama, L. Monticelli, R. J. Johnston, D. Ditoro, K. Hansen, B. Barnett, and S. Crotty. 2010. Germinal center T follicular helper cell IL-4 production is dependent on signaling lymphocytic activation molecule receptor (CD150). *J Immunol* 185: 190-202.
- Qi, H., J. L. Cannons, F. Klauschen, P. L. Schwartzberg, and R. N. Germain. 2008.
   SAP-controlled T-B cell interactions underlie germinal centre formation. *Nature* 455: 764-769.
- 157. Crotty, S., E. N. Kersh, J. Cannons, P. L. Schwartzberg, and R. Ahmed. 2003.
  SAP is required for generating long-term humoral immunity. *Nature* 421: 282-287.
- Wurster, A. L., V. L. Rodgers, M. F. White, T. L. Rothstein, and M. J. Grusby.
   2002. Interleukin-4-mediated protection of primary B cells from apoptosis
   through Stat6-dependent up-regulation of Bcl-xL. *J Biol Chem* 277: 27169-27175.
- 159. Dufort, F. J., B. F. Bleiman, M. R. Gumina, D. Blair, D. J. Wagner, M. F. Roberts, Y. Abu-Amer, and T. C. Chiles. 2007. Cutting edge: IL-4-mediated protection of primary B lymphocytes from apoptosis via Stat6-dependent regulation of glycolytic metabolism. *J Immunol* 179: 4953-4957.
- Linterman, M. A., L. Beaton, D. Yu, R. R. Ramiscal, M. Srivastava, J. J. Hogan, N. K. Verma, M. J. Smyth, R. J. Rigby, and C. G. Vinuesa. 2010. IL-21 acts

directly on B cells to regulate Bcl-6 expression and germinal center responses. *J Exp Med* 207: 353-363.

- 161. Zotos, D., J. M. Coquet, Y. Zhang, A. Light, K. D'Costa, A. Kallies, L. M. Corcoran, D. I. Godfrey, K. M. Toellner, M. J. Smyth, S. L. Nutt, and D. M. Tarlinton. 2010. IL-21 regulates germinal center B cell differentiation and proliferation through a B cell-intrinsic mechanism. *J Exp Med* 207: 365-378.
- Reinhardt, R. L., H. E. Liang, and R. M. Locksley. 2009. Cytokine-secreting follicular T cells shape the antibody repertoire. *Nat Immunol* 10: 385-393.
- 163. Good-Jacobson, K. L., C. G. Szumilas, L. Chen, A. H. Sharpe, M. M. Tomayko, and M. J. Shlomchik. 2010. PD-1 regulates germinal center B cell survival and the formation and affinity of long-lived plasma cells. *Nat Immunol* 11: 535-542.
- 164. Johnston, R. J., A. C. Poholek, D. DiToro, I. Yusuf, D. Eto, B. Barnett, A. L. Dent,
  J. Craft, and S. Crotty. 2009. Bcl6 and Blimp-1 are reciprocal and antagonistic
  regulators of T follicular helper cell differentiation. *Science* 325: 1006-1010.
- 165. Nurieva, R. I., Y. Chung, G. J. Martinez, X. O. Yang, S. Tanaka, T. D. Matskevitch, Y. H. Wang, and C. Dong. 2009. Bcl6 mediates the development of T follicular helper cells. *Science* 325: 1001-1005.
- Yu, D., S. Rao, L. M. Tsai, S. K. Lee, Y. He, E. L. Sutcliffe, M. Srivastava, M. Linterman, L. Zheng, N. Simpson, J. I. Ellyard, I. A. Parish, C. S. Ma, Q. J. Li, C. R. Parish, C. R. Mackay, and C. G. Vinuesa. 2009. The transcriptional repressor Bcl-6 directs T follicular helper cell lineage commitment. *Immunity* 31: 457-468.

- 167. Crotty, S., R. J. Johnston, and S. P. Schoenberger. 2010. Effectors and memories:
  Bcl-6 and Blimp-1 in T and B lymphocyte differentiation. *Nat Immunol* 11: 114-120.
- 168. Fazilleau, N., L. J. McHeyzer-Williams, H. Rosen, and M. G. McHeyzer-Williams. 2009. The function of follicular helper T cells is regulated by the strength of T cell antigen receptor binding. *Nat Immunol* 10: 375-384.
- 169. Oestreich, K. J., A. C. Huang, and A. S. Weinmann. 2011. The lineage-defining factors T-bet and Bcl-6 collaborate to regulate Th1 gene expression patterns. J
   *Exp Med* 208: 1001-1013.
- Hsu, H. C., P. Yang, J. Wang, Q. Wu, R. Myers, J. Chen, J. Yi, T. Guentert, A. Tousson, A. L. Stanus, T. V. Le, R. G. Lorenz, H. Xu, J. K. Kolls, R. H. Carter, D. D. Chaplin, R. W. Williams, and J. D. Mountz. 2008. Interleukin 17-producing T helper cells and interleukin 17 orchestrate autoreactive germinal center development in autoimmune BXD2 mice. *Nat Immunol* 9: 166-175.
- Zhu, J., H. Yamane, and W. E. Paul. 2010. Differentiation of effector CD4 T cell populations. *Annu Rev Immunol* 28: 445-489.
- Paul, W. E., and J. Ohara. 1987. B-cell stimulatory factor-1/interleukin 4. *Annu Rev Immunol* 5: 429-459.
- 173. Liang, H. E., R. L. Reinhardt, J. K. Bando, B. M. Sullivan, I. C. Ho, and R. M. Locksley. 2012. Divergent expression patterns of IL-4 and IL-13 define unique functions in allergic immunity. *Nat Immunol* 13: 58-66.
- 174. Choi, Y. S., R. Kageyama, D. Eto, T. C. Escobar, R. J. Johnston, L. Monticelli, C.Lao, and S. Crotty. 2011. ICOS receptor instructs T follicular helper cell versus

effector cell differentiation via induction of the transcriptional repressor Bcl6. *Immunity* 34: 932-946.

- 175. Deenick, E. K., A. Chan, C. S. Ma, D. Gatto, P. L. Schwartzberg, R. Brink, and S. G. Tangye. 2010. Follicular helper T cell differentiation requires continuous antigen presentation that is independent of unique B cell signaling. *Immunity* 33: 241-253.
- 176. Cucak, H., U. Yrlid, B. Reizis, U. Kalinke, and B. Johansson-Lindbom. 2009.
   Type I interferon signaling in dendritic cells stimulates the development of
   lymph-node-resident T follicular helper cells. *Immunity* 31: 491-501.
- Johnston, R. J., Y. S. Choi, J. A. Diamond, J. A. Yang, and S. Crotty. 2012.
  STAT5 is a potent negative regulator of TFH cell differentiation. *J Exp Med* 209: 243-250.
- Baumjohann, D., T. Okada, and K. M. Ansel. 2011. Cutting Edge: Distinct waves of BCL6 expression during T follicular helper cell development. *J Immunol* 187: 2089-2092.
- 179. Okada, T., M. J. Miller, I. Parker, M. F. Krummel, M. Neighbors, S. B. Hartley, A. O'Garra, M. D. Cahalan, and J. G. Cyster. 2005. Antigen-engaged B cells undergo chemotaxis toward the T zone and form motile conjugates with helper T cells. *PLoS Biol* 3: e150.
- 180. Bauquet, A. T., H. Jin, A. M. Paterson, M. Mitsdoerffer, I. C. Ho, A. H. Sharpe, and V. K. Kuchroo. 2009. The costimulatory molecule ICOS regulates the expression of c-Maf and IL-21 in the development of follicular T helper cells and TH-17 cells. *Nat Immunol* 10: 167-175.

- 181. Kim, J. I., I. C. Ho, M. J. Grusby, and L. H. Glimcher. 1999. The transcription factor c-Maf controls the production of interleukin-4 but not other Th2 cytokines. *Immunity* 10: 745-751.
- 182. Pepper, M., A. J. Pagan, B. Z. Igyarto, J. J. Taylor, and M. K. Jenkins. 2011. Opposing signals from the Bcl6 transcription factor and the interleukin-2 receptor generate T helper 1 central and effector memory cells. *Immunity* 35: 583-595.
- 183. Luthje, K., A. Kallies, Y. Shimohakamada, T. B. GT, A. Light, D. M. Tarlinton, and S. L. Nutt. 2012. The development and fate of follicular helper T cells defined by an IL-21 reporter mouse. *Nat Immunol* 13: 491-498.
- 184. Lu, K. T., Y. Kanno, J. L. Cannons, R. Handon, P. Bible, A. G. Elkahloun, S. M. Anderson, L. Wei, H. Sun, J. J. O'Shea, and P. L. Schwartzberg. 2011. Functional and epigenetic studies reveal multistep differentiation and plasticity of in vitro-generated and in vivo-derived follicular T helper cells. *Immunity* 35: 622-632.
- Lee, R. C., R. L. Feinbaum, and V. Ambros. 1993. The C. elegans heterochronic gene lin-4 encodes small RNAs with antisense complementarity to lin-14. *Cell* 75: 843-854.
- Bartel, D. P. 2009. MicroRNAs: target recognition and regulatory functions. *Cell* 136: 215-233.
- Carthew, R. W., and E. J. Sontheimer. 2009. Origins and Mechanisms of miRNAs and siRNAs. *Cell* 136: 642-655.
- 188. O'Connell, R. M., D. S. Rao, A. A. Chaudhuri, and D. Baltimore. 2010.
  Physiological and pathological roles for microRNAs in the immune system. *Nat Rev Immunol* 10: 111-122.

- Krol, J., I. Loedige, and W. Filipowicz. 2010. The widespread regulation of microRNA biogenesis, function and decay. *Nat Rev Genet* 11: 597-610.
- Kim, V. N. 2005. MicroRNA biogenesis: coordinated cropping and dicing. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* 6: 376-385.
- 191. Lee, Y., C. Ahn, J. Han, H. Choi, J. Kim, J. Yim, J. Lee, P. Provost, O. Radmark, S. Kim, and V. N. Kim. 2003. The nuclear RNase III Drosha initiates microRNA processing. *Nature* 425: 415-419.
- 192. Han, J., Y. Lee, K. H. Yeom, Y. K. Kim, H. Jin, and V. N. Kim. 2004. The Drosha-DGCR8 complex in primary microRNA processing. *Genes Dev* 18: 3016-3027.
- 193. Denli, A. M., B. B. Tops, R. H. Plasterk, R. F. Ketting, and G. J. Hannon. 2004.
  Processing of primary microRNAs by the Microprocessor complex. *Nature* 432: 231-235.
- 194. Gregory, R. I., K. P. Yan, G. Amuthan, T. Chendrimada, B. Doratotaj, N. Cooch, and R. Shiekhattar. 2004. The Microprocessor complex mediates the genesis of microRNAs. *Nature* 432: 235-240.
- 195. Landthaler, M., A. Yalcin, and T. Tuschl. 2004. The human DiGeorge syndrome critical region gene 8 and Its D. melanogaster homolog are required for miRNA biogenesis. *Curr Biol* 14: 2162-2167.
- Lund, E., S. Guttinger, A. Calado, J. E. Dahlberg, and U. Kutay. 2004. Nuclear export of microRNA precursors. *Science* 303: 95-98.

- 197. Yi, R., Y. Qin, I. G. Macara, and B. R. Cullen. 2003. Exportin-5 mediates the nuclear export of pre-microRNAs and short hairpin RNAs. *Genes Dev* 17: 3011-3016.
- Bernstein, E., A. A. Caudy, S. M. Hammond, and G. J. Hannon. 2001. Role for a bidentate ribonuclease in the initiation step of RNA interference. *Nature* 409: 363-366.
- 199. Grishok, A., A. E. Pasquinelli, D. Conte, N. Li, S. Parrish, I. Ha, D. L. Baillie, A. Fire, G. Ruvkun, and C. C. Mello. 2001. Genes and mechanisms related to RNA interference regulate expression of the small temporal RNAs that control C. elegans developmental timing. *Cell* 106: 23-34.
- 200. Hutvagner, G., J. McLachlan, A. E. Pasquinelli, E. Balint, T. Tuschl, and P. D. Zamore. 2001. A cellular function for the RNA-interference enzyme Dicer in the maturation of the let-7 small temporal RNA. *Science* 293: 834-838.
- 201. Ketting, R. F., S. E. Fischer, E. Bernstein, T. Sijen, G. J. Hannon, and R. H.
  Plasterk. 2001. Dicer functions in RNA interference and in synthesis of small
  RNA involved in developmental timing in C. elegans. *Genes Dev* 15: 2654-2659.
- 202. Knight, S. W., and B. L. Bass. 2001. A role for the RNase III enzyme DCR-1 in RNA interference and germ line development in Caenorhabditis elegans. *Science* 293: 2269-2271.
- Xiao, C., and K. Rajewsky. 2009. MicroRNA control in the immune system: basic principles. *Cell* 136: 26-36.
- 204. Chekulaeva, M., and W. Filipowicz. 2009. Mechanisms of miRNA-mediated post-transcriptional regulation in animal cells. *Curr Opin Cell Biol* 21: 452-460.

- 205. Filipowicz, W., S. N. Bhattacharyya, and N. Sonenberg. 2008. Mechanisms of post-transcriptional regulation by microRNAs: are the answers in sight? *Nat Rev Genet* 9: 102-114.
- 206. Cobb, B. S., T. B. Nesterova, E. Thompson, A. Hertweck, E. O'Connor, J. Godwin, C. B. Wilson, N. Brockdorff, A. G. Fisher, S. T. Smale, and M. Merkenschlager. 2005. T cell lineage choice and differentiation in the absence of the RNase III enzyme Dicer. *J Exp Med* 201: 1367-1373.
- 207. Muljo, S. A., K. M. Ansel, C. Kanellopoulou, D. M. Livingston, A. Rao, and K. Rajewsky. 2005. Aberrant T cell differentiation in the absence of Dicer. *J Exp Med* 202: 261-269.
- 208. Liston, A., L. F. Lu, D. O'Carroll, A. Tarakhovsky, and A. Y. Rudensky. 2008.
   Dicer-dependent microRNA pathway safeguards regulatory T cell function. *J Exp Med* 205: 1993-2004.
- Wu, T., A. Wieland, K. Araki, C. W. Davis, L. Ye, J. S. Hale, and R. Ahmed.
   2012. Temporal expression of microRNA cluster miR-17-92 regulates effector and memory CD8+ T-cell differentiation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 109: 9965-9970.
- Zhang, N., and M. J. Bevan. 2010. Dicer controls CD8+ T-cell activation, migration, and survival. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 107: 21629-21634.
- 211. Koralov, S. B., S. A. Muljo, G. R. Galler, A. Krek, T. Chakraborty, C.
  Kanellopoulou, K. Jensen, B. S. Cobb, M. Merkenschlager, N. Rajewsky, and K.
  Rajewsky. 2008. Dicer ablation affects antibody diversity and cell survival in the
  B lymphocyte lineage. *Cell* 132: 860-874.

- Steiner, D. F., M. F. Thomas, J. K. Hu, Z. Yang, J. E. Babiarz, C. D. Allen, M. Matloubian, R. Blelloch, and K. M. Ansel. 2011. MicroRNA-29 regulates T-box transcription factors and interferon-gamma production in helper T cells. *Immunity* 35: 169-181.
- 213. Li, Q. J., J. Chau, P. J. Ebert, G. Sylvester, H. Min, G. Liu, R. Braich, M. Manoharan, J. Soutschek, P. Skare, L. O. Klein, M. M. Davis, and C. Z. Chen.
  2007. miR-181a is an intrinsic modulator of T cell sensitivity and selection. *Cell* 129: 147-161.
- Henao-Mejia, J., A. Williams, L. A. Goff, M. Staron, P. Licona-Limon, S. M. Kaech, M. Nakayama, J. L. Rinn, and R. A. Flavell. 2013. The MicroRNA miR-181 Is a Critical Cellular Metabolic Rheostat Essential for NKT Cell Ontogenesis and Lymphocyte Development and Homeostasis. *Immunity* 38: 984-997.
- Stittrich, A. B., C. Haftmann, E. Sgouroudis, A. A. Kuhl, A. N. Hegazy, I. Panse, R. Riedel, M. Flossdorf, J. Dong, F. Fuhrmann, G. A. Heinz, Z. Fang, N. Li, U. Bissels, F. Hatam, A. Jahn, B. Hammoud, M. Matz, F. M. Schulze, R. Baumgrass, A. Bosio, H. J. Mollenkopf, J. Grun, A. Thiel, W. Chen, T. Hofer, C. Loddenkemper, M. Lohning, H. D. Chang, N. Rajewsky, A. Radbruch, and M. F. Mashreghi. 2010. The microRNA miR-182 is induced by IL-2 and promotes clonal expansion of activated helper T lymphocytes. *Nat Immunol* 11: 1057-1062.
- O'Connell, R. M., D. S. Rao, and D. Baltimore. 2012. microRNA regulation of inflammatory responses. *Annu Rev Immunol* 30: 295-312.
- 217. Androulidaki, A., D. Iliopoulos, A. Arranz, C. Doxaki, S. Schworer, V.Zacharioudaki, A. N. Margioris, P. N. Tsichlis, and C. Tsatsanis. 2009. The

kinase Akt1 controls macrophage response to lipopolysaccharide by regulating microRNAs. *Immunity* 31: 220-231.

- O'Connell, R. M., A. A. Chaudhuri, D. S. Rao, and D. Baltimore. 2009. Inositol phosphatase SHIP1 is a primary target of miR-155. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 106: 7113-7118.
- 219. Thai, T. H., D. P. Calado, S. Casola, K. M. Ansel, C. Xiao, Y. Xue, A. Murphy, D. Frendewey, D. Valenzuela, J. L. Kutok, M. Schmidt-Supprian, N. Rajewsky, G. Yancopoulos, A. Rao, and K. Rajewsky. 2007. Regulation of the germinal center response by microRNA-155. *Science* 316: 604-608.
- 220. Rodriguez, A., E. Vigorito, S. Clare, M. V. Warren, P. Couttet, D. R. Soond, S. van Dongen, R. J. Grocock, P. P. Das, E. A. Miska, D. Vetrie, K. Okkenhaug, A. J. Enright, G. Dougan, M. Turner, and A. Bradley. 2007. Requirement of bic/microRNA-155 for normal immune function. *Science* 316: 608-611.
- Gracias, D. T., E. Stelekati, J. L. Hope, A. C. Boesteanu, T. A. Doering, J. Norton,
  Y. M. Mueller, J. A. Fraietta, E. J. Wherry, M. Turner, and P. D. Katsikis. 2013.
  The microRNA miR-155 controls CD8(+) T cell responses by regulating
  interferon signaling. *Nat Immunol* 14: 593-602.
- 222. Lu, L. F., T. H. Thai, D. P. Calado, A. Chaudhry, M. Kubo, K. Tanaka, G. B. Loeb, H. Lee, A. Yoshimura, K. Rajewsky, and A. Y. Rudensky. 2009. Foxp3-dependent microRNA155 confers competitive fitness to regulatory T cells by targeting SOCS1 protein. *Immunity* 30: 80-91.

- 223. Lu, L. F., M. P. Boldin, A. Chaudhry, L. L. Lin, K. D. Taganov, T. Hanada, A. Yoshimura, D. Baltimore, and A. Y. Rudensky. 2010. Function of miR-146a in controlling Treg cell-mediated regulation of Th1 responses. *Cell* 142: 914-929.
- Yang, L., M. P. Boldin, Y. Yu, C. S. Liu, C. K. Ea, P. Ramakrishnan, K. D.
  Taganov, J. L. Zhao, and D. Baltimore. 2012. miR-146a controls the resolution of T cell responses in mice. *J Exp Med* 209: 1655-1670.
- 225. Taganov, K. D., M. P. Boldin, K. J. Chang, and D. Baltimore. 2006. NF-kappaBdependent induction of microRNA miR-146, an inhibitor targeted to signaling proteins of innate immune responses. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 103: 12481-12486.
- Zhao, J. L., D. S. Rao, M. P. Boldin, K. D. Taganov, R. M. O'Connell, and D. Baltimore. 2011. NF-kappaB dysregulation in microRNA-146a-deficient mice drives the development of myeloid malignancies. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 108: 9184-9189.
- 227. Sheedy, F. J., E. Palsson-McDermott, E. J. Hennessy, C. Martin, J. J. O'Leary, Q. Ruan, D. S. Johnson, Y. Chen, and L. A. O'Neill. 2010. Negative regulation of TLR4 via targeting of the proinflammatory tumor suppressor PDCD4 by the microRNA miR-21. *Nat Immunol* 11: 141-147.
- 228. Meisgen, F., N. Xu, T. Wei, P. C. Janson, S. Obad, O. Broom, N. Nagy, S. Kauppinen, L. Kemeny, M. Stahle, A. Pivarcsi, and E. Sonkoly. 2012. MiR-21 is up-regulated in psoriasis and suppresses T cell apoptosis. *Exp Dermatol* 21: 312-314.

- 229. Takahashi, H., T. Kanno, S. Nakayamada, K. Hirahara, G. Sciume, S. A. Muljo, S. Kuchen, R. Casellas, L. Wei, Y. Kanno, and J. J. O'Shea. 2012. TGF-beta and retinoic acid induce the microRNA miR-10a, which targets Bcl-6 and constrains the plasticity of helper T cells. *Nat Immunol* 13: 587-595.
- 230. Du, C., C. Liu, J. Kang, G. Zhao, Z. Ye, S. Huang, Z. Li, Z. Wu, and G. Pei. 2009. MicroRNA miR-326 regulates TH-17 differentiation and is associated with the pathogenesis of multiple sclerosis. *Nat Immunol* 10: 1252-1259.
- Mendell, J. T. 2008. miRiad roles for the miR-17-92 cluster in development and disease. *Cell* 133: 217-222.
- Ota, A., H. Tagawa, S. Karnan, S. Tsuzuki, A. Karpas, S. Kira, Y. Yoshida, and
  M. Seto. 2004. Identification and characterization of a novel gene, C13orf25, as a target for 13q31-q32 amplification in malignant lymphoma. *Cancer Res* 64: 3087-3095.
- 233. Olive, V., I. Jiang, and L. He. 2010. mir-17-92, a cluster of miRNAs in the midst of the cancer network. *Int J Biochem Cell Biol* 42: 1348-1354.
- 234. Ventura, A., A. G. Young, M. M. Winslow, L. Lintault, A. Meissner, S. J.
  Erkeland, J. Newman, R. T. Bronson, D. Crowley, J. R. Stone, R. Jaenisch, P. A.
  Sharp, and T. Jacks. 2008. Targeted deletion reveals essential and overlapping
  functions of the miR-17 through 92 family of miRNA clusters. *Cell* 132: 875-886.
- Volinia, S., G. A. Calin, C. G. Liu, S. Ambs, A. Cimmino, F. Petrocca, R. Visone,
  M. Iorio, C. Roldo, M. Ferracin, R. L. Prueitt, N. Yanaihara, G. Lanza, A. Scarpa,
  A. Vecchione, M. Negrini, C. C. Harris, and C. M. Croce. 2006. A microRNA

expression signature of human solid tumors defines cancer gene targets. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 103: 2257-2261.

- 236. Lu, J., G. Getz, E. A. Miska, E. Alvarez-Saavedra, J. Lamb, D. Peck, A. Sweet-Cordero, B. L. Ebert, R. H. Mak, A. A. Ferrando, J. R. Downing, T. Jacks, H. R. Horvitz, and T. R. Golub. 2005. MicroRNA expression profiles classify human cancers. *Nature* 435: 834-838.
- 237. Cui, J. W., Y. J. Li, A. Sarkar, J. Brown, Y. H. Tan, M. Premyslova, C. Michaud, N. Iscove, G. J. Wang, and Y. Ben-David. 2007. Retroviral insertional activation of the Fli-3 locus in erythroleukemias encoding a cluster of microRNAs that convert Epo-induced differentiation to proliferation. *Blood* 110: 2631-2640.
- 238. Wang, C. L., B. B. Wang, G. Bartha, L. Li, N. Channa, M. Klinger, N. Killeen, and M. Wabl. 2006. Activation of an oncogenic microRNA cistron by provirus integration. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 103: 18680-18684.
- 239. He, L., J. M. Thomson, M. T. Hemann, E. Hernando-Monge, D. Mu, S. Goodson,
  S. Powers, C. Cordon-Cardo, S. W. Lowe, G. J. Hannon, and S. M. Hammond.
  2005. A microRNA polycistron as a potential human oncogene. *Nature* 435: 828-833.
- 240. Hayashita, Y., H. Osada, Y. Tatematsu, H. Yamada, K. Yanagisawa, S. Tomida, Y. Yatabe, K. Kawahara, Y. Sekido, and T. Takahashi. 2005. A polycistronic microRNA cluster, miR-17-92, is overexpressed in human lung cancers and enhances cell proliferation. *Cancer Res* 65: 9628-9632.
- 241. Dews, M., A. Homayouni, D. Yu, D. Murphy, C. Sevignani, E. Wentzel, E. E.Furth, W. M. Lee, G. H. Enders, J. T. Mendell, and A. Thomas-Tikhonenko. 2006.

Augmentation of tumor angiogenesis by a Myc-activated microRNA cluster. *Nat Genet* 38: 1060-1065.

- Mavrakis, K. J., A. L. Wolfe, E. Oricchio, T. Palomero, K. de Keersmaecker, K. McJunkin, J. Zuber, T. James, A. A. Khan, C. S. Leslie, J. S. Parker, P. J. Paddison, W. Tam, A. Ferrando, and H. G. Wendel. 2010. Genome-wide RNA-mediated interference screen identifies miR-19 targets in Notch-induced T-cell acute lymphoblastic leukaemia. *Nat Cell Biol* 12: 372-379.
- O'Donnell, K. A., E. A. Wentzel, K. I. Zeller, C. V. Dang, and J. T. Mendell.
  2005. c-Myc-regulated microRNAs modulate E2F1 expression. *Nature* 435: 839-843.
- 244. Sylvestre, Y., V. De Guire, E. Querido, U. K. Mukhopadhyay, V. Bourdeau, F. Major, G. Ferbeyre, and P. Chartrand. 2007. An E2F/miR-20a autoregulatory feedback loop. *J Biol Chem* 282: 2135-2143.
- Woods, K., J. M. Thomson, and S. M. Hammond. 2007. Direct regulation of an oncogenic micro-RNA cluster by E2F transcription factors. *J Biol Chem* 282: 2130-2134.
- Yan, H. L., G. Xue, Q. Mei, Y. Z. Wang, F. X. Ding, M. F. Liu, M. H. Lu, Y. Tang, H. Y. Yu, and S. H. Sun. 2009. Repression of the miR-17-92 cluster by p53 has an important function in hypoxia-induced apoptosis. *EMBO J* 28: 2719-2732.
- 247. Schulte, J. H., S. Horn, T. Otto, B. Samans, L. C. Heukamp, U. C. Eilers, M. Krause, K. Astrahantseff, L. Klein-Hitpass, R. Buettner, A. Schramm, H. Christiansen, M. Eilers, A. Eggert, and B. Berwanger. 2008. MYCN regulates oncogenic MicroRNAs in neuroblastoma. *Int J Cancer* 122: 699-704.

- 248. Suarez, Y., C. Fernandez-Hernando, J. Yu, S. A. Gerber, K. D. Harrison, J. S. Pober, M. L. Iruela-Arispe, M. Merkenschlager, and W. C. Sessa. 2008. Dicerdependent endothelial microRNAs are necessary for postnatal angiogenesis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 105: 14082-14087.
- Guil, S., and J. F. Caceres. 2007. The multifunctional RNA-binding protein hnRNP A1 is required for processing of miR-18a. *Nat Struct Mol Biol* 14: 591-596.
- 250. Petrocca, F., R. Visone, M. R. Onelli, M. H. Shah, M. S. Nicoloso, I. de Martino,
  D. Iliopoulos, E. Pilozzi, C. G. Liu, M. Negrini, L. Cavazzini, S. Volinia, H.
  Alder, L. P. Ruco, G. Baldassarre, C. M. Croce, and A. Vecchione. 2008. E2F1regulated microRNAs impair TGFbeta-dependent cell-cycle arrest and apoptosis
  in gastric cancer. *Cancer Cell* 13: 272-286.
- 251. Ivanovska, I., A. S. Ball, R. L. Diaz, J. F. Magnus, M. Kibukawa, J. M. Schelter, S. V. Kobayashi, L. Lim, J. Burchard, A. L. Jackson, P. S. Linsley, and M. A. Cleary. 2008. MicroRNAs in the miR-106b family regulate p21/CDKN1A and promote cell cycle progression. *Mol Cell Biol* 28: 2167-2174.
- 252. Mu, P., Y. C. Han, D. Betel, E. Yao, M. Squatrito, P. Ogrodowski, E. de Stanchina, A. D'Andrea, C. Sander, and A. Ventura. 2009. Genetic dissection of the miR-17~92 cluster of microRNAs in Myc-induced B-cell lymphomas. *Genes Dev* 23: 2806-2811.
- 253. Xiao, C., L. Srinivasan, D. P. Calado, H. C. Patterson, B. Zhang, J. Wang, J. M. Henderson, J. L. Kutok, and K. Rajewsky. 2008. Lymphoproliferative disease and

autoimmunity in mice with increased miR-17-92 expression in lymphocytes. *Nat Immunol* 9: 405-414.

- Epstein, J. E., K. Tewari, K. E. Lyke, B. K. Sim, P. F. Billingsley, M. B. Laurens, A. Gunasekera, S. Chakravarty, E. R. James, M. Sedegah, A. Richman, S. Velmurugan, S. Reyes, M. Li, K. Tucker, A. Ahumada, A. J. Ruben, T. Li, R. Stafford, A. G. Eappen, C. Tamminga, J. W. Bennett, C. F. Ockenhouse, J. R. Murphy, J. Komisar, N. Thomas, M. Loyevsky, A. Birkett, C. V. Plowe, C. Loucq, R. Edelman, T. L. Richie, R. A. Seder, and S. L. Hoffman. 2011. Live attenuated malaria vaccine designed to protect through hepatic CD8(+) T cell immunity. *Science* 334: 475-480.
- 255. Porter, D. L., B. L. Levine, M. Kalos, A. Bagg, and C. H. June. 2011. Chimeric antigen receptor-modified T cells in chronic lymphoid leukemia. *N Engl J Med* 365: 725-733.
- 256. Rosenberg, S. A., N. P. Restifo, J. C. Yang, R. A. Morgan, and M. E. Dudley.
  2008. Adoptive cell transfer: a clinical path to effective cancer immunotherapy. *Nat Rev Cancer* 8: 299-308.
- 257. Phan, G. Q., J. C. Yang, R. M. Sherry, P. Hwu, S. L. Topalian, D. J. Schwartzentruber, N. P. Restifo, L. R. Haworth, C. A. Seipp, L. J. Freezer, K. E. Morton, S. A. Mavroukakis, P. H. Duray, S. M. Steinberg, J. P. Allison, T. A. Davis, and S. A. Rosenberg. 2003. Cancer regression and autoimmunity induced by cytotoxic T lymphocyte-associated antigen 4 blockade in patients with metastatic melanoma. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 100: 8372-8377.

- Weber, J. 2010. Immune checkpoint proteins: a new therapeutic paradigm for cancer--preclinical background: CTLA-4 and PD-1 blockade. *Semin Oncol* 37: 430-439.
- Gardiner, D., J. Lalezari, E. Lawitz, M. Dimicco, R. Ghalib, K. R. Reddy, K. M. Chang, M. Sulkowski, S. O. Marro, J. Anderson, B. He, V. Kansra, F. McPhee, M. Wind-Rotolo, D. Grasela, M. Selby, A. J. Korman, and I. Lowy. 2013. A Randomized, Double-Blind, Placebo-Controlled Assessment of BMS-936558, a Fully Human Monoclonal Antibody to Programmed Death-1 (PD-1), in Patients with Chronic Hepatitis C Virus Infection. *PLoS One* 8: e63818.
- Streeck, H., M. P. D'Souza, D. R. Littman, and S. Crotty. 2013. Harnessing
   CD4(+) T cell responses in HIV vaccine development. *Nat Med* 19: 143-149.
- Brown, B. D., and L. Naldini. 2009. Exploiting and antagonizing microRNA regulation for therapeutic and experimental applications. *Nat Rev Genet* 10: 578-585.
- 262. Bader, A. G. 2012. miR-34 a microRNA replacement therapy is headed to the clinic. *Front Genet* 3: 120.
- 263. Ahmed, R., and D. Gray. 1996. Immunological memory and protective immunity: understanding their relation. *Science* 272: 54-60.
- 264. Wherry, E. J., V. Teichgraber, T. C. Becker, D. Masopust, S. M. Kaech, R. Antia, U. H. von Andrian, and R. Ahmed. 2003. Lineage relationship and protective immunity of memory CD8 T cell subsets. *Nat Immunol* 4: 225-234.
- Zhou, L., M. M. Chong, and D. R. Littman. 2009. Plasticity of CD4+ T cell lineage differentiation. *Immunity* 30: 646-655.

- Blackburn, S. D., H. Shin, W. N. Haining, T. Zou, C. J. Workman, A. Polley, M. R. Betts, G. J. Freeman, D. A. Vignali, and E. J. Wherry. 2009. Coregulation of CD8+ T cell exhaustion by multiple inhibitory receptors during chronic viral infection. *Nat Immunol* 10: 29-37.
- 267. Liu, M., Z. Wang, S. Yang, W. Zhang, S. He, C. Hu, H. Zhu, L. Quan, J. Bai, and N. Xu. 2011. TNF-alpha is a novel target of miR-19a. *Int J Oncol* 38: 1013-1022.
- 268. Sabbagh, L., C. C. Srokowski, G. Pulle, L. M. Snell, B. J. Sedgmen, Y. Liu, E. N. Tsitsikov, and T. H. Watts. 2006. A critical role for TNF receptor-associated factor 1 and Bim down-regulation in CD8 memory T cell survival. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 103: 18703-18708.
- 269. Liu, N., T. Phillips, M. Zhang, Y. Wang, J. T. Opferman, R. Shah, and P. G. Ashton-Rickardt. 2004. Serine protease inhibitor 2A is a protective factor for memory T cell development. *Nat Immunol* 5: 919-926.
- Mavrakis, K. J., J. Van Der Meulen, A. L. Wolfe, X. Liu, E. Mets, T. Taghon, A. A. Khan, M. Setty, P. Rondou, P. Vandenberghe, E. Delabesse, Y. Benoit, N. B. Socci, C. S. Leslie, P. Van Vlierberghe, F. Speleman, and H. G. Wendel. 2011. A cooperative microRNA-tumor suppressor gene network in acute T-cell lymphoblastic leukemia (T-ALL). *Nat Genet* 43: 673-678.
- Jiang, S., C. Li, V. Olive, E. Lykken, F. Feng, J. Sevilla, Y. Wan, L. He, and Q. J. Li. 2011. Molecular dissection of the miR-17-92 cluster's critical dual roles in promoting Th1 responses and preventing inducible Treg differentiation. *Blood* 118: 5487-5497.

- Shedlock, D. J., and H. Shen. 2003. Requirement for CD4 T cell help in generating functional CD8 T cell memory. *Science* 300: 337-339.
- 273. Zhou, R., G. Hu, A. Y. Gong, and X. M. Chen. 2010. Binding of NF-kappaB p65 subunit to the promoter elements is involved in LPS-induced transactivation of miRNA genes in human biliary epithelial cells. *Nucleic Acids Res* 38: 3222-3232.
- 274. Brock, M., M. Trenkmann, R. E. Gay, B. A. Michel, S. Gay, M. Fischler, S. Ulrich, R. Speich, and L. C. Huber. 2009. Interleukin-6 modulates the expression of the bone morphogenic protein receptor type II through a novel STAT3-microRNA cluster 17/92 pathway. *Circ Res* 104: 1184-1191.
- 275. Harfe, B. D., M. T. McManus, J. H. Mansfield, E. Hornstein, and C. J. Tabin.
  2005. The RNaseIII enzyme Dicer is required for morphogenesis but not patterning of the vertebrate limb. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 102: 10898-10903.
- 276. Lee, P. P., D. R. Fitzpatrick, C. Beard, H. K. Jessup, S. Lehar, K. W. Makar, M. Perez-Melgosa, M. T. Sweetser, M. S. Schlissel, S. Nguyen, S. R. Cherry, J. H. Tsai, S. M. Tucker, W. M. Weaver, A. Kelso, R. Jaenisch, and C. B. Wilson. 2001. A critical role for Dnmt1 and DNA methylation in T cell development, function, and survival. *Immunity* 15: 763-774.
- Wu, Y., M. Borde, V. Heissmeyer, M. Feuerer, A. D. Lapan, J. C. Stroud, D. L.
  Bates, L. Guo, A. Han, S. F. Ziegler, D. Mathis, C. Benoist, L. Chen, and A. Rao.
  2006. FOXP3 controls regulatory T cell function through cooperation with NFAT. *Cell* 126: 375-387.
- 278. Lu, Y., J. M. Thomson, H. Y. Wong, S. M. Hammond, and B. L. Hogan. 2007.Transgenic over-expression of the microRNA miR-17-92 cluster promotes

proliferation and inhibits differentiation of lung epithelial progenitor cells. *Dev Biol* 310: 442-453.

- 279. Subramanian, A., P. Tamayo, V. K. Mootha, S. Mukherjee, B. L. Ebert, M. A. Gillette, A. Paulovich, S. L. Pomeroy, T. R. Golub, E. S. Lander, and J. P. Mesirov. 2005. Gene set enrichment analysis: a knowledge-based approach for interpreting genome-wide expression profiles. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 102: 15545-15550.
- 280. Schroder, K., P. J. Hertzog, T. Ravasi, and D. A. Hume. 2004. Interferon-gamma: an overview of signals, mechanisms and functions. *J Leukoc Biol* 75: 163-189.
- 281. Bossie, A., and E. S. Vitetta. 1991. IFN-gamma enhances secretion of IgG2a from IgG2a-committed LPS-stimulated murine B cells: implications for the role of IFN-gamma in class switching. *Cell Immunol* 135: 95-104.
- 282. Stockinger, B., C. Bourgeois, and G. Kassiotis. 2006. CD4+ memory T cells: functional differentiation and homeostasis. *Immunol Rev* 211: 39-48.
- 283. Marzo, A. L., V. Vezys, K. Williams, D. F. Tough, and L. Lefrancois. 2002. Tissue-level regulation of Th1 and Th2 primary and memory CD4 T cells in response to Listeria infection. *J Immunol* 168: 4504-4510.
- 284. Lindenstrom, T., J. Woodworth, J. Dietrich, C. Aagaard, P. Andersen, and E. M. Agger. 2012. Vaccine-induced th17 cells are maintained long-term postvaccination as a distinct and phenotypically stable memory subset. *Infect Immun* 80: 3533-3544.
- 285. Muranski, P., Z. A. Borman, S. P. Kerkar, C. A. Klebanoff, Y. Ji, L. Sanchez-Perez, M. Sukumar, R. N. Reger, Z. Yu, S. J. Kern, R. Roychoudhuri, G. A.

Ferreyra, W. Shen, S. K. Durum, L. Feigenbaum, D. C. Palmer, P. A. Antony, C.
C. Chan, A. Laurence, R. L. Danner, L. Gattinoni, and N. P. Restifo. 2011. Th17
cells are long lived and retain a stem cell-like molecular signature. *Immunity* 35: 972-985.

- Pepper, M., J. L. Linehan, A. J. Pagan, T. Zell, T. Dileepan, P. P. Cleary, and M. K. Jenkins. 2010. Different routes of bacterial infection induce long-lived TH1 memory cells and short-lived TH17 cells. *Nat Immunol* 11: 83-89.
- 287. Mattes, J., A. Collison, M. Plank, S. Phipps, and P. S. Foster. 2009. Antagonism of microRNA-126 suppresses the effector function of TH2 cells and the development of allergic airways disease. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 106: 18704-18709.
- 288. Oxenius, A., M. F. Bachmann, R. M. Zinkernagel, and H. Hengartner. 1998. Virus-specific MHC-class II-restricted TCR-transgenic mice: effects on humoral and cellular immune responses after viral infection. *Eur J Immunol* 28: 390-400.
- Marshall, H. D., A. Chandele, Y. W. Jung, H. Meng, A. C. Poholek, I. A. Parish,
  R. Rutishauser, W. Cui, S. H. Kleinstein, J. Craft, and S. M. Kaech. 2011.
  Differential expression of Ly6C and T-bet distinguish effector and memory Th1
  CD4(+) cell properties during viral infection. *Immunity* 35: 633-646.
- 290. Nakayamada, S., Y. Kanno, H. Takahashi, D. Jankovic, K. T. Lu, T. A. Johnson, H. W. Sun, G. Vahedi, O. Hakim, R. Handon, P. L. Schwartzberg, G. L. Hager, and J. J. O'Shea. 2011. Early Th1 cell differentiation is marked by a Tfh cell-like transition. *Immunity* 35: 919-931.

- Hale, J. S., B. Youngblood, D. R. Latner, A. U. Mohammed, L. Ye, R. S. Akondy, T. Wu, S. S. Iyer, and R. Ahmed. 2013. Distinct Memory CD4(+) T Cells with Commitment to T Follicular Helper- and T Helper 1-Cell Lineages Are Generated after Acute Viral Infection. *Immunity* 38: 805-817.
- 292. Powell, J. D., and G. M. Delgoffe. 2010. The mammalian target of rapamycin: linking T cell differentiation, function, and metabolism. *Immunity* 33: 301-311.
- 293. Soond, D. R., E. Bjorgo, K. Moltu, V. Q. Dale, D. T. Patton, K. M. Torgersen, F. Galleway, B. Twomey, J. Clark, J. S. Gaston, K. Tasken, P. Bunyard, and K. Okkenhaug. 2010. PI3K p110delta regulates T-cell cytokine production during primary and secondary immune responses in mice and humans. *Blood* 115: 2203-2213.
- 294. Sabatino, J. J., Jr., J. Huang, C. Zhu, and B. D. Evavold. 2011. High prevalence of low affinity peptide-MHC II tetramer-negative effectors during polyclonal CD4+ T cell responses. *J Exp Med* 208: 81-90.
- 295. Mercer, T. R., M. E. Dinger, and J. S. Mattick. 2009. Long non-coding RNAs: insights into functions. *Nat Rev Genet* 10: 155-159.
- 296. Pagani, M., G. Rossetti, I. Panzeri, P. de Candia, R. J. Bonnal, R. L. Rossi, J. Geginat, and S. Abrignani. 2013. Role of microRNAs and long-non-coding RNAs in CD4(+) T-cell differentiation. *Immunol Rev* 253: 82-96.
- 297. Seder, R. A., and R. Ahmed. 2003. Similarities and differences in CD4+ andCD8+ effector and memory T cell generation. *Nat Immunol* 4: 835-842.
- 298. Wu, M., M. Piccini, C. Y. Koh, K. S. Lam, and A. K. Singh. 2013. Single cell microRNA analysis using microfluidic flow cytometry. *PLoS One* 8: e55044.

- 299. Bueno, M. J., I. Perez de Castro, and M. Malumbres. 2008. Control of cell proliferation pathways by microRNAs. *Cell Cycle* 7: 3143-3148.
- 300. Thomson, D. W., C. P. Bracken, and G. J. Goodall. 2011. Experimental strategies for microRNA target identification. *Nucleic Acids Res* 39: 6845-6853.
- 301. Licatalosi, D. D., A. Mele, J. J. Fak, J. Ule, M. Kayikci, S. W. Chi, T. A. Clark, A. C. Schweitzer, J. E. Blume, X. Wang, J. C. Darnell, and R. B. Darnell. 2008.
  HITS-CLIP yields genome-wide insights into brain alternative RNA processing. *Nature* 456: 464-469.